


1 Lala Sohan Lé}, Banker and Ti‘éa,sx‘:rei*,‘
Hissar, son of Mul Chand, of Hissar,

39

Jai Ram Iiaé,, ‘son of ‘Ganes‘h “‘Das,;‘
Bhiwanidge aa. it

qf

N




134

e Sanctioned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Dehli Dz'zi,zkzbn-Q-con(ﬁld; |

CRIEFS AND FAMILIES OF NO:

‘ NQ'

99

100

101

102

' 1:)3

104
10
106

107

108

109

11
112
113
114

115

Name of District,

Names, residence and other particulars
of Darbaris,

REMARKS,

110

Rohtak

Ditto
Hissar
Dehli

Ditto

Ditto

Ditto
Gurgaon

Dehli

Ditto

Ditto
Gurgaon

Dehli

Rohtak

Dehli

Ditto

Ditto

s

Rasaldar Shahab Khan, son of Samand
Khan, of Kalasaur, age 62. ;

Shahzad Khan, late Rasaldar Bahadar,
son of Kamar-ud-din Khan, of Kala-
naur, age 84.

l A

Sardar Khan, son of Dindar Khan, of
Hissay, late Jamadar of 4th, Punjab
Cavalry, age 04.

Maulvi Latif Husain Khan, Head Arabic
Teacher, Government School, Dehli,
son of Hakim Mahomed Husain Khan,
Dehli, age 52,

Lala Mehr Chand, Contractor, son of

Lala Ishri Parshad, Dehli, age 47.

Lala Lal Singh, son of Lala Duli Singh,
Dehli;, age 63, ‘

Lala Kishan Singh, son of Lala Duli
Singh, Dehli, age 53. !
Khushwakat Rai, Zamindar and Banker,

son of Rampat, Rewari, age 01,
Rai Sheo Sahai Mal, son of Jai ‘Ram
Das, ot Dchli, ;
Mahomed Ikramulla  Khan, Fonorary

Extra Assistant Commissioner, son of
Bakhshi Inamulla Khan, age 34.

Rai Bahadar Chaudhri Raghnath Singh,
Honorary Magistrate of Najafgarb, and
President, Dehli District Board, son of

| Foujdar Baldeo Singh, of Mitraon.

Bihari Lal, Zamindar, Banker, President,
Rewari District Board, and Honorary

Magistrate, son of Deoki Nandan, of

Rewari, age 33.

Pandit Banke Rai, Sanskrit Teacher, Go-
verhment School, Dehli, son of Pandit
Basheshar Nath, ot Dehli, age 33.

Sewak Ram, Zaildar, Jat, son of Hat-
dial, of Mokhru, age 70.

Rai Bahadur Pandit Diwan Singh, of
Sonepat, retired  Deputy Collector,
Western Jumna Canal,

Maharaja Lal, son of Rai Bahadar
Jiwan Lal, ot Dehli.

Pandit’ Kishan Lal, Manager of the
Pataudi State,




J
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jAE 4NDHAJ€ .DI VIST ON DARBA RI’S

Samtzoned List of Divisional Darbaris of the ]nlana’ﬁar Dwmon

corrected up lo 1st November 1891

10

) ) Al

13

14

| Name of District,

Names, residence and other particulars
of Darbaris.

REMARKS,

Knn_gra
Di‘tto
Ditto
Ditto

Jélandhar
Ditto

Ludhiana
Ditto
Ditto

Kéngx'a
Ditto

Livozpur

Hushiarpur

‘ Kangra

Hushiarpur

Ditto

Raja Rughnath Singh, son of Raja Jai
Singh, of Goler, age 28,

Raja. Jai Chand, son of Raja Partab
Chand, of Lambagraon, age 28,

) Raja Jai Singh, son of Raja Bije Singh,

of Siba, age 53,

| Raja Narindar Chand, son of Raja Amfu'

Chand, of Nadaun, age 32

Sardar Par'ta'b Singh, ' son, of Sardar
Bikrama = bingh, ' Bahadur, ¢ s, 1.,
Ahluwalia,

K%nwar Suchet .‘am""l Ahluwalia, |

Honorary Asmstant Commissioner,
Jalandhar.

Shahzada Nadir, CLTIRG L Son of Shah
Shuja~ul-Mulk, age 61,

Shahzada Safdar Jang, soi:l of Shah
Shuja-ul Mulk, age 65,

Shahzada  Sultan  Jalaludin, son of
Shahzada Taimur, age 59,

Raja Ram Pal, son of Raja ' Narain Pal,
of Kutlehr, age 38 )

Raja Jaswant Singh, son of Raja er
bmgh, of Nurpur, age 48.

Nawad Ghuelam Kutu(mu’m Khan, son
of Nowab Nizamudin Khan, of Mam-
dot,

Mian Rugnath Singh, son of Mian Ram
Siogh, of Jaswan, age 37. ‘

Rai Dalip Singh, son of Rai Giyan Singh,
of Kulu, age 27.

Sodhi Ram Narain Singh, son of Sodhi
Erijindar Singh, of Anandpur, age 19,

Bedi Sujan Singh, son of Bedi Bikrama
Singh, of Una, age 46.

Tika Gajindar Singh to
sit behind the Raja.

Minor,




i

Sanctioned _Lé'u‘ of Dz'vi';z‘onal Darbarts of fﬁ‘i’é" Jalandhar Diyision—cont

No. | Name of District,

Names, residerice and other particulars
: of Darbaris, ;

REMARKS, |

Ladhiana

Ditto

! Ditto
Ditto
Ditto.
Firozpur ‘
Kangra
Ditto
‘Ditto
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto
Hushiarpur
Ludhiana

Jalandhar

“e

Wy

L

ane

et

Mahamahopadhiyaya Sardar  Sir Atar
Singh, x.c.1.5, of Bhadaur, age 58,

Sardar Uttam Singh, son of Sardar Fatteh
Singh, of Rampur Malaudh, age 47.

Sardar Badan Singh, son of Sardar Mit

Singh, of Malaudh, age 48,

| Mahomed Tahil‘; son of the late Shah-

zada Sultan Sikandar, age 45,

Sardar Balwant Singh, son of Sardar
Hakikat Singh, of Ber, age 24, |

Guru Bishan Singh, son of Guru Fatteh
Singh, of Guru.Har-Sahai, age 39.

Mian Jagrup Chand, son of Mian Kirat
Chand, of Lambagraon,

Mian Diljit Chand, son cf late Mian Ude
Chand, of Lambagraon, age 26,

Mian Pirthi Singh, son of Raja Siv Jodb-
bir Chand, x c.s.1,, of Nadaun, age 52.

Mian Gopal Pal, son of Raja Narain Pal,

of Kutlehr, age 36.

Mian Hari Singh, son of Raja Sir Jodhbir
Chand, x.¢.5.1,, of Nadaun, age 48.

Mian Sher Singh, son of Raja Sir Jodhbir
Chand, x.c.s.1,, of Nadaun, age 47.

Mian Suchet Singh, son of Raja Sir* Jodh-
bir Chand, x.c.5.1., of Nadaun, age 42.

Mian Tsri Singh, son of Raja Sir Jodhbir
Chand, k.c.s.1., of Nadaun, age 40.

Sodhi Ishar Singh, son of Sodhi Harnam
Singh, of Anandpur, age 35.

Sardar Sundar Singh, son of Sardar Mit
Singh, of Malaudh, age 45.

Sardar Harnam Singh, son of Sardar
Fatteh Singh, of Moron, age 29,

His Honour's ordef, dakd
25th March 1890,

Invitations = to

attend

Darbars should not be
sent to him till further

orders,




Mmzv'amze wwszozv DAR.??A RIS. .

anmonm' Lzsl o)" I)zmszomzl I)zzrbarzs of the Jalandﬁar Dwmon-—-contd

Nam L Diatﬁ ot | Names, resxdcnce and other particul:rs

MARKS,
of Darbaus i,

e | ‘K‘z‘mgr'a. | Raja Niamat-ullah Khan, son of Raja
il il ‘ Hamid-ullah Khan, of Rebluy, age 37.
Dia | Raja Brijraj Singh, son of Raja Umed
i Al Singh, Bhaddu, of Tilokpur, age 58,

: Ditto v | Raja Bal Bir Singh, son of Raja Alakh-
i | deo, Mankotia, of Kutlehr, age 42.

i I -Cclonel Surma Chand, son of Devi
‘ | Chand, of Dattarpur,

| Ditto il H Mian Dilawar Singh, son of Raja hgh
. | Singh, of Tilokpur, age 67.

Hushiarpur “‘,.. Mian Udham "\mgh son of Ra]a J.Agat
‘ e Chand,yiof Pirthipur, age 46,

; ,Kangrﬁf ey 'Klramat ullah Khan, son of 10 aja Hamlr’-
Gp : ullah Khan, Rajauri, of Rehlu, age 34.

40 ‘Hushiarpur | +sv | Rana Laihna Singh, son of Rana Meh-
i tab Chand, of Manaswal, age 52,

41 | Ditto v | Sardar  Bahadar  Bur Singh, son  of
‘ Jamadar Ruldu, of Mokerian, age 78

 Ditto s | Ral Hira Chand son of the late Rai
Rattan Chand, of Bhabaur, age 33.

Jalandhar ene | Sardar Mit Singh, son of Dosandha
i Singh, of Dhandowal, age 47,

a4 Ditto 1o | Bardar Partab Singh, son of Jhanda
Singh, of Dhandowal, age 68,

e 45 Ditto vs | Sardar Nihal Singh, son of Bhup Singh,
I ‘ of Kang, age 42. ‘

46 | Ditto . Bardar Narain Singh, son of Sardar
il Sundar Singh, of Dahlewla, age 17.

| 47 | Hushiarpur  ,,, | Sardar Dharm Singh, son of Sardar
| Deva Singh, of Bachuri, age 31,

48 1 Ditto +or | Sardar Jamiyat Singh, son of Sardar
AL | Partab Singh, of Ghorewaha, age 49.

49 | Ditto v | Sodhi Nihal Singh, Son of Sodhi Bishen
Singh, of Anandpur, age 56,

50 | Ludhiana o | Sardar  Mahtab Singh, son of Sardar
Sl ‘ Budh Singb, of Lidhran, age 43,




Sana’zonm’ List of Dwzszonal Darbaris of the Jalandhar Dwzszon-—-contd

¥

CH[EFS AN.D FAMIJ' IE.S‘ OF NOTE

‘ No.

Name of District.

Names, residence and othér particulars
of Darbaris.

REMARRS,

81
52
58
54
55
56

57

58
59
60
| 61
| 62
63
64
65
66

67

Ludhiana
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto

Ditto

Ditto
Hushiarpur
Ditto

Ditto

Ditto
Firozpur
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto

Ditto

LR

wen

e

e

aar

on

Sardar Harnam Singh, son of Sardar
Uttam Singh, of Lidhran, age 01,

Sardar Hari Singh, Subadar, son of

Sardar Uttam Singh, of Lidhran, age 57.

Sardar Albel Singh, Subadar, son of

Sardar Uttam Singh, of Lidhrau, age 62.

Sardar Sham  Singh, son of Sardar
Raja Singh, of Lidhran, age 50. |

Sardar Ganda Singh, son of Sardar
Daya Singh, of Dhiru Majra, age 45.

Sardar Yar Mahomed Khan: son of
Sardar Salih Mahomed Khan, age 35.

Sardar Nur Mahomed XKhan, son of
Sardar Hassan Khan, of Ludhiana,

age 42,

Faiz Talab Khan, son of Rao Imam
Bakhsh, of Raikot, age 41.

Sodhi Narindar Singh, son of Sodhi
Diwan Singh, of Anandpur, age 47.

Sodhi  Gajindar Singh, son of Sodhi
Diwan Singh, of Anandpur, age 44.

Sodhi Narindar Singh, Karaliwala, son
of Sodhi Ram Singh, of Anandpur,

age 49,

Sardar Bahadar Amin Chand, retired
Judicial Assistant, of Bijwara, age 64.

Bhai Zabarjang Singh, son of Bhai
Mihar Singh, of Jhumba, age 48,

Sodhi Ajit Singh, son of Sodhi Rajin.
dhar Singh, of Buttar, age 43.

Sodhi Dewa Singh, son of Sodhi Bhag-
wan Singl, of Dhilwan, age 50

Sodhi Harnam Singh, son of Sodhi
Khushal Singh, of Moga, age 34.

Sardar Partab Singh, son of Sardar
Khazan %ingh, of Rania, age 61,




lJALANDJfAJe DIVISION DARBA ms

.Sam‘(zama’ z;m qf J)zwszonaz Darbaris of the ]alczmlﬁ(zr J)wmonwcontd

Names, residence and other particulars

of Darbaris, REMARKS,

‘ ' No. | Name of District.

68 | Firozpur ++ | Sodhi Indar Singh, son of Sodhi Bhagat
: Singh, of Buttar, age 50.
69 | Ditto .| Dial Singh, son of Mahtah Singh, of
Rania, age jI.
i vo | Ditto «» | Sodhi Hukm  Singh, son of the late

'Sodhi Ram Singh, of Dhilwan, Extra
Assistant  Commissioner, now Vice-
President of the Council of Regency,
Bikaner State, age 47.

| 1 | Ludhiana .., | Sardar Harnam Singh, son of Sardar
| ‘ Bishan Singl, of Bheri, age 44.

"72 Ditto v | Sayad  Sharif Husain, son of Maulvi
Rajab Ali of Jagraon, age 60,

73 | Ditto . [ Narain Singh, son of Albel Singh, of
! Diwatival, age 68~Pensioned Subadar
Bahadur,

74 | Ditto s | Mutsaddi Khan, son of Bulaki Khan, of
Ludhiana, age 68— Pensioned Subadar,

75 | Ditto oo [ Nihal Singh, son of Jowahir Singh, of
il Jaspal  Bangar, age 73—Pensioned
Resaldar,

76 |  Ditto ‘ s | Devi  Chand, son of Duni Chand, of
y Jagraon, age 43,
7% | Kangra, «. | Hira Singh, son of Wazir Suchet Singh,
of Ladaurl, age 36,

w8 Ditto o | Chaudhari Malla Singh, son of Chaudhari
Sundar Singh, of Indaura, age 32, :

7o | Ditto v | Mian Shankar Singh, of Reh, successof
of Mian Kishan Singh, age 56,

80 | Ditto 'vei | Thakar Hari Chand, son of Wazir Tara
: Chand, of Lahoul, age 56.

81 Ditto ,‘.. Nono Dunj Shatan, son of Nono Tairzan
Gil, of Spitti, Honorary Mdglstrate,

age 58,

82 | Jalandhar vo | Sardar Nihal Singh, son of Kharak
Singh, of Shahkot., i

83 | Hushiarpur  ,,, | $ardar Manohar Singh, son of Sardar
Fatih Singh, of Pathralian, age 45,




| Jalandhar |

| Firozpur
Ditto

Ditto

Jélnhdﬁm

Sardar Narmdar .megh son. of Ram |

Smgh of Bammu Kalan, age 61.

Sardar Partab Smgh, son of Sm‘dar‘
Achal Smgh of Alawalpur |

_"Sardar Bhagwan Smgh son of Sardar:‘

Ajit Smgh, ot‘ Alawalpur. ,

“Wam Karm .:mgh 500 of Wazir‘

(:osaon, of Ber, age 43.

f[al Smg“h sou of Jog Ra_y, of Nagmta,

age 6o,

‘Sardar' Amar bmgh son ot' Sardar o

Mnhtab Singh, of Naugaza, age 46,

‘ ‘Sardar Amar Singh, son of Sardar‘*

Partab Singh, of Mokandpur, age 19.

Bawa Khem Das, son of bukhram Das,‘
of Kartarpur, age 66, |

‘Bawwa, Smgh sen of Sudh Singh, o[ i

Ram Smgh son | of Basant 8 “n‘gh,*of‘
.‘.»amnnna. nge 7:. i ‘

| Gurdit qmgh son of Blshan Singh of !

Apra.

| Lbewa S;ngh son of Chanda Smgb, pt’ o

Behram, age 71. o

Jamml Singh son. of Gurmukh Sixxgh, )

el Ihalla, age 68

S«rdar N:dhau Smgh sor
Ruldu, of Mokenan, ‘

| Rai Gopl Mal, son of Nagar Mnl Hin

orary Magistrate, age 50

Sodhi Khazan Singh, son of SodHi
Jagat Smgh of Buttar, age 55.

Sardar Amar Smgh son of ‘Bardar Dewa
Singh, of Manaswal, age 38

Atar Singh, son of Ratan Smgh of
Bolian age 50,







"

CHIEFS AND FAMILIES OF NOTE.

' Sanctioned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Peshawar Dz'm'sz'ogi,"

corrected up to 1s¢ November 1891,

10

11

12

13

| Name of District,

Names, residence and other particulars
of Darbatis,

REMARKS.

| Kohat

Ditto

Hazara
Ditto

Peshawar A

Ditto
Ditto

Hazara
Ditto
Ditto

Peshawar

Ditto

W

Ditto

Sardar Sultan Jan, c.ix, son of Shah-
zada Mahomed Jumhur, age 49,

Khan Bahadar Mahomed Zafar Khan,
Khattak, son of Nawab Sir Khawaja
Mahomcd Khan ' Bahadar, Khattak, of
Teri, 8,0.8.1,, age 47

Nawab Sir Mahomed Akram Khan of
Amb, x.c,8., son of Jahandar Khan,

a%e 45,

Raja Jahandad Khan, Khan Bahadar, of
Khanpur, son of Raja Haidar Bakh.,h
Khan, age 40.

Nawab Lieutenant-Colonel Sardar Ma.
homed Afzal Khan, Bahadar, c.s.1,
late  Rasaldar-Major, 11th Bengal
Cavalry, Aid-de-Camp to His Excels
lency the Viceroy, age 55,

Sardar Sultan Ibrahim Khan, Bahadar,
Extra Assistant Commissioner, son of
Sardar Adham Khan, age 51,

Arbab Mahomed Hussian Khan, son of
Nawab Mahomed Sarfaraz = Khan,
Mohmaund, of Landi Yarghajo, age 48,

Sultan Barkat Khan of Boj son of
Rahmat-ulla Khan, age 40,

Raja Firoz Khan, son of Raja Ali Gauhar
Khan of Khanpur, age 60,

Mahomed Hussain Kbhan, son of Saman-
dar Khan of Garhi Hahibulla, age 25.

Mahomed Abbass Khan, Wazirzada, son
of Nizam-ud-daula, Wazir of Shah
Shuja~-ul-Mulk, age 65.

Gardar Mahomed Akbar Khan, brother
of above, age 60,

Lieutenant-Colonel Mahomed Aslam
Khan, Wazirzada, Sardar Bahadar,
c.1.k, Commandant of Khaibar Rifles,
brother of above, age 48

Is Extra Assistant - Com.

missioner,

Ditto.,




| PESHAWAR DIVISION DARBARIS.

ty

| Sanctioned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Peshawar Division—contd,

4

16

17

18

19
20

21

R2

23

24
25
26

27

.15

Names, residence and other particulars

Name of District. R R REMARKS,
Peshawar v+ | Khan Bahadar Mahomed Ibrahim Khan,
late Assistant District Superintendent
of Police, son of Ghulam Khan of
Mardan, age 56.
Ditto 1o | Kazi Abdul 'Kadir Khan, son of Kazi
Fazal Kadir of Peshawar, age 52,
Kohat o |'/Alla’ Yar Khan, Mardu Khel, son of| Late Superintendent,
Ghulam Haidar Khan of Hangu, age | Kohat Salt Mine. Is
A the titular ' Khan of
Hangu,
Ditto v | Khanzada = Fatteh Mahomed Khan,
Khattak, of Nilab, son of Khan Bahadar
Jafar Khan of Manguyi, age 41.
Foreign territory | Sayad Mir Akbar Khan, son of Sayad | Nore.—In case of this

Peshawar
Hazara

Peshawar ki

Hazara

Peshawar

Hazara
Peshawar
Hazara

Peshawar = ..,

Mahmud Shah of Tirah, age 45.

Sayad Mahomed Amin  Jan, son of
Sayad Aya-ud-din of Marazai, age 48,

Abdul Rahman Khan, son of Abdullah
Khan of Phullara, age 37.

Mahomed Azam Khan, son of Mahomed
Sarbuland Khan, Mohmand, of Kotla
Mohsan Khan, age 35.

Sayad Mahomed Khan, son of Ali
Bahadar Khan of Dobran, age 5.

Amin-ulla Khan, son of Mahomed Us-
man Khan, Orakzai, of Bhanamari, age
30.

Sardar Azad Khan, son of Sardar Hassan
Alli of Manal, age 55.

Mahomed Khan, Sardar Bahadar, son of
Mahomed Hassan Khan, age 65,

Khan-i-Zaman Khan, son of Mir Zaman
Khan of Kalabat, age 52.

Khan Baba Khan, Khan Bahadar, son
of Sardar Bahadar Khanan Khan, age
40.

gentleman being absent
on occasion of a Darbar,
his brother No. 126
will occupy  his posi-
tion.

Extra Assistant Commis-
sioner,




| Sanctioned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Peshawar Division—contd,

No.

Name of District,

Names, residedce and other particulars
of Darbaris,

REMARKS,

28
U .

3

Peshawar

Ditto

| Ditto

Kohat

Peshawar

Ditto
Kohat
Ditto

Ditto
Ditto

Peshawar
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto

Ditto

aes

Arbab Fatteh Khan, son of Arbab
Jabangir Khan, Khalil, of Taihkalbala,

age 53

Frid Khan, son of Arbab Abdul Majid
Khan of Taihkalbala, age 27,

Muhabbat Khan, son of Kadar Khan of
Toru, age 53,

Sardar Nur Mahomed Khan, son of
Sardar Hassan Khan of Ludhiana, age
43.

Arbab Abdul Khalak Khan, son of
Arbab Shah Pasand Khan of Gulbela,
age 26,

Khéxwa‘ja Mahomed Khhn, son of Sarbu~
land Khan of Hoti, age 3.

Sardar Aziz, Barakzai, son of Sultan
Mahomed Khan of Bahadarkot, age
32,

Sher Mahomed Khan, Kiani, son of
Ghulam Haidar Khan of Shahpur, age
56,

Nawabzada  Abdul = Ghafur Khan,
Khattak, son of Nawab Sit Khawaja
Mahomed Khan, x.c.s.1., of Tehri, age

40,

Usman Khan, Khan Bahadur, Bangish
Mardu Khel, son of Khan Bahadar
Mahomed Amin Khan of Darsamand,
age 49,

Sharif Khan, son of Aziz Khan of Hame
zakot, age 50.

Abdul Ghafur Khan, son of Ibrahim
Khan of Zaida, age 23

Umar Khan, son of Arsala Khan of
Zaida, age 67.

Umar Khan, son of Amir Khan of 8heva,
age 32.

Akbar‘Khan, son of Mir Ghazan Khan,

of Topi, age 25,

Subadar, Border Miliiary‘ ‘

Police.

Assistant Commissioner, |

Has been suspended for
three years from ap-
pearing in Darbar,




PESHAWAR DIVISION DARBAnm i

“‘Sammrea’ Lzsl"\;oy' Dzmmnal Daréarzs of e Peshuar .Dzwsmn-—-contd

43
4

4

i

.

49
50
51

52

53

55
56
27

58

.| Name of District.

N‘lmes, residence and other particulars

of Darbaris.

REMARKS,

Peshawar
Hazara A

Peshawar .,

gl RS
Ditto A
Ditto by
Ditto W
Ditto il

W Bitto) G
Kohat oo
Ditto T
Peshawar Wik
Ditto iy
Hazara i
Ditto s
Peshawar i

Arbab Abdal Rauf Khan, son of Habib-

. ulla Khan of Taihkalbala, dge 35.

Kozi Fazal Nahi, son of Kazi Faiz Alam
of Sakandarpur, age 24.

Habib Khan, Sardar Bahadar, son of
Naubat Khan of Kundi, age 72,

bLahf Xhan, Bahadar, Ex-Rassaldar, son

of Hagzrat Khan Shah of Torangzai,
age 70,

Salim Khan, retired  Woordie Major,
son of Hazrat Khan Shah of Torangzai,
age 60,

Afridi Khan, son of Amir Kh'm of Mul-
lazai, age 65.

Mahomed Jan, son of Maulw of Kafir
Tehri, age 30,

Mohamed Ali Khan, son of Rasul Khan

of Jahangira, age 28,

Ghulam Mahomed Khan, son of Khan

Bahadar Fatteh| Khan, Khattak, of

Jahangira, age 29,

Taj Mahomed Khan, son of Khanzada
Ata Mahomed Khan of Kohat, age 28,

Mahomed Azim XKhan, Khattak, alias
Spin Khan, son of  Nawab Siv
Khawaja Mahomed Khan, K.C8.I, of
Tehri, age 32,

Kazi Amin Jan, son of Kazi Sadulla Jan
of Peshawar, age 38,

Mian Hussain Shah, Kaka Khel, son oi
Papa Mian of Walal age 45,

Dost Mahomed,
Shingri, age 52

son of Nawab Khan,
Shah Dad Khan, son of Khuda Dad
Khan, of Banda Pir Khan, age 45.

Aslam Khan, Khalil, son of Samand
Khan, of Ialhkabala, age 60,

Subadar-Major | of i
Border Military Pohce, e

the

Peshawar.

A Sub-Lieutenant in the
Army of His Highness
the leam of Haidra-
bad,

Deputy Inspector, Poiiém :




“‘Nm‘)ﬁ; of District. |

Namea, rasxdence and other pnrtzcutars
of Darbams.

‘D‘itto“

! ﬁitto

| Di’ttf)‘
i 95??"?“ ‘
-P_csh‘g‘war
; :‘anara

. Ditto

| f}ing

0 i’eshm‘v’ar
 Ditto
ritory.

’ Hazara
"P‘e:sbawnr

Ditto

| j?gshawar

| Ditto

Tndependent ter-

et

on

ey

‘(Gu!mur, son of Ahmad Sher, Mohmaud i

of Panjpao, age 38

Mtab Gul, son of Abdul Rahman M:an
ot Abmax, age 14

Doat Mahomed son of Mxr Afaal Khau
 of Garhi Daulatzan, age 35

l&maxla, age 47.

| Sharif Mian, son of Mian Mahomed Shah

Jof Isma:la, age 55.

Ah‘ Akba:* Khan, son of Kalandar
Khan of Kalabat, age 42.
Ismaila, age 60,

Kazi Mie Alam, son of Kazi Ghulam
 /Ahmad of Sakandarpur, age 62, | :

Ghulam Haidar Khan, Dharial, sen of
Atta Mahomed Khan of Agror, age 30.
Khan of Lorah age 45.

Mukaddam Ghulam Mahomed ‘son of
Mir Abmad of Kob Nuxbul]a, age 46,

Sheikh Mahomed Akbar, soti of Shexkh
Muzaffar Khan of Shekhan. )

Kazi Mahomed Jan, son af Kazi Naij
' Khan, age 60,

| Pir Dost Khan, son of Nawab Khan of |

Pmd:all, age 50.

Amir Khan, son of Muzaffar Khan of
Nundibar, age 45 )

din of Suradh- 'lehrx, age 46,

Sadul]a Khan, Mohmand, son of Arbab
Matiomed Khan ot La,uclx Yarghajo,

age 55~

Akbar Khan, son of Aladad Khan of

Umar Mian, son of Sayad Rasul of

Ata Mahomed Khan, scm of Hakim |

Mian Anwar-ud-din, son of Burhan-ud- ’




lmmd Lm’ of Dwmonal Darbaris ey" the Pes/:awar D szon—wcontd |

WAR Division DARBAI

91

92

93

| Name of District.

Namcs, residence and other particulars

of Darbarxs. RemARKS,

Peshawar

Ditto

Ditto
| bitto

| Ditto

Ditto

| Ditto

Ditfa |

. Ditto

| Ditto

Hazara

‘D_iu;b‘ :
Ditto
Ditto
Ditto
Kohat

Peshawar

 Kohat

i ‘Nasrulla Khan, son of Khushal Khan of

‘Fatteh Khan, son of Tarsum Khan of

‘Inayntulln Khan son of Sarbuland Khan| :

Abdulla Khan, son of Hastan Khan cf
. Umarzai, age 32,

Nasrulla Khan, son of Mir Aman Khan |
| of Shab Kadar, age 9.

Sayad Abdul Munnan Badshah, soﬁ of
Abdul Rahman Khan of Butgran, age 40|

Shahbaz Khan, son of Alf Khan of
Utmangzai, age 50. ) i

| Umbadchr, age 24.

Sultan Khan, son of Nasir Khan, Khalil,
of Shahibala, age 35.

Ml Munbab Blan, son of Shkbdar
Khan of Matta Mughal Khel, age 58

Khozand age 83.

Mian, Rahat Shah, Kaka Khel, son of
! M\;kaddar Shah df. Zayarta, age‘6o

Azam Khan, son of Shujah Khan of
Khozand age 4;. | | i

of Lhamhad age 70,

Al teitd, wok of Ghadi Khan of |
szdarpur, age 50.

Mahomed Khan, son of Khaxrulla Khan
of Kuthiala, age 25, Hi g

Ata Ali, son of Madad Khan of_)'ab nge
70,

Sarwar Kh‘m, son of Mahomed Khan,
of Lhanpur, age 22, o

Malik Jan, Kiani, son of Burhan Haidar
Khan, Kiani, of Shahpur, age 47.

Sharif-ulla Khan, son of Amir-ulla Khan
of Chamkani, age 35.

Sayad Ahmad Shah, Banuri, son of
Sayad Mubarik Shah Banuri, age 35.




\CHIEFS AND FAMILIES OF NOTE.

 Sanctioned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Peshawar .Dz'm'.vz'orzédﬂhtd. !

Names, residence and other particulars

of Darbaris, REMARKS.

No. | Name of District,

94 | Kohat o | Sayad Sakandar Shah, Banuri, son of

) Sayad Badshah Banuri, of Jarma,age 25.

95 { Ditto " | Nawabzada Saidal Khan, Bangash, son
of Nawab Bahadar Sher Khan, age 20

96 | Ditto Bo]and‘Khan, son of Mir Hamza Khan
of Amir, age 55.

97 | Ditto o | Sayad Masum, Jilani, son of Sayad Gul

‘ Badshah, Banuri, of Jangal, age 27.
98 | Ditto ... | 8aid Khan, son of Mahomed Amin Khan |
i of Darsamand, age 46,
99 b‘Ditto oo | Akbar| Khan, son of Mahomed Amin

Khan, of Darsamand, age 43.

100 | Peshawar o | Faizullah Khan; son of Arsala Khan of
Charpariza, age 65.

101 |  Ditto oo | Haidar Shah Mian, son of Bavar Mian
of Chargallai, age 60,
102 | Ditto oo | Mic Hassan Khan, son of Jahangir
Khan of Tangi, age 53.
103 | Ditto o l'Mir Fazal Ali Shah, son of Mir Taki
! fi Shah, age 41.
| 104 | Hazara s | Bahadar Shah, son of Fatteh Ali Shah

of Kaghan, age 56

105 | Ditto ' ..|Ahmad Ali Shah, son of Mir Gul Shiah
‘ of Kaghan, age 46.

106 | Ditto ... | Satar Shah, son of Ghulam Shah of
Palosi, age 40.

1oy | Ditto s | Fazal Shah, son of Mehtab Shah of
Palosi, age 60.

) ‘168\‘ Ditto oot Mahomed  Husgsain. Khan, son of Faiz
Talab Khan of Mansahra, age 32.

109 | Ditto | Subedar-Major Sadulla Khan, son of
Haji Khan of Sherwan, age 60,

110 | Ditto v | Ahmad Khan, son of Kaim Khan of
Panian, age 73

111 | Peshawar «, | Bahram | Khan, son of Kadar Khan of
; / Toru, age 38,




PESH i “AR mwszoN IMR;E

Sarzcizamd Lzst qf Dzvmonal Darbaris of the Peskazvar Dzms:an»—concld

| No:

Name of District,

Namc‘s, residence and other particnlars
of Darbzms.

REMARKS.

it

[
114

L
116
1y
18
:'19
120

121

122 1

123
124

125

126

Peshawar

Kohat

Hazara

Peshawar

Ditto
Ditto

Ditto

Ha?ara

Peshawar
Ditto
Ditto

Ditto

' Ditto

Ditto

Kohat

Rai Lakhpat Rai, son of Lals Ehawani
Dass of Peshawar, age 65.

Ajab Singh, Tahsildar,

Baba Nehal Singfx, Bedi, son of Baba
Charat Singh of Haripur, age 60.

Ram Das, son of Ala Mal, age 70.
Teju Singh, son of Atma Singh, age 47.

Sant Ram, son of Chela Ram, of Pesha-
war and Amritsar, age 35,

Kazi Tila Mahomed, son of Kazi Ma-
gomed Hassan Khan of Peshawar, age
5.

Ata Mahomed Khan, son of Khair Ma-
homed of Deb Dar, z‘tge 45,

Mahomed Zaman Khan, Khattak, son of
Samandar Khan of ALora, age 22.

Rai Bahadar Lorinda Mal, son of Ram_n :

Mal, age 38,

Khan Bahadar Mian Ghulam Rasul, son ‘

of ann Mahomed Azam, age 37

i Sahlbzada Sakandar Shah, son of Kalan-

dar Shah of Kiriana, age 70,

Subedar-Major = Zamin Shah, son  of
Ahmad Shah of Mardan, age 56,

Rasaldar-Major Mir Alana Khan, 15t
Punjab Cavalry, son of Mahomed Amir
Khan, of Chamkani, age 60,

Sayad Mir Asghar Khan, brother of No,
18,

Norg,~—He would ordi~
narily be the member
of the family of Tirah
Sayads invited to a
Darbar, and that in his
brother’s absence he
would occupy the posi- |
tion to which the latter
is entitled and in ‘the
case of both of them
attending a Darbar, they
would occupy their res«

pective seats, |




cor. recled up o Ist Navemém' 1891.

Samfmmd List of Dzm.vmnal Darbarzs af the Derajaf Dwmm

10

11

12

13

Name of District,

Names, residence and other particulars
of Darbaris,

REMARKS,

| Dera Ghazi Khan

Dera Ismail Khan

Ditto

Ditto
Ditto

Ditto

Ditto

st

Ditto

s

Dera Ismail Khan
Ditto

wee

Ditto i
Dera Ghazi Khan
Dera Ismail Khan

Ditto

Nawab Aladad Khan, Saddozai, son of
Nawab  Sarfrazai Khan, c.5.1., age 49.

Nawab Rab Nawaz Khan, Alizai, son of
Nawab Foujdar Khan, c.s.1, age 49.

Nawab Héfiz Abdulla Khan Alizai, son
of Nawab Sir Ghuldm Hassan Khan,
K.C.8.1., age 43 ‘

Nawab Ghulam Kasim Khan, Kuntti
Khel, son of Mahomed Akbar Khan,

l‘ank age 23,

Nawab Ata Mahomed Khan, Khag-
wani, son of Ghulam Sarvar Khan,
age 62,

Nawab Sir Iimam Bakhsh Khan, Mazari,
K.C.LE, son of Surdar Bahram Khan,
of Rojhan, age 68,

Nawab Mahomed Khan, Laghari, son of
Nawab Jamal Khan of Choti, age 49.

Mian Shah Navaz Khan, Sarai, son of
Khizar Mahomed .(han, of Hadjmur,

age 47.

Ghulam Sarwar Khan, Saddozai, son of
Hayatulla Khan, age 59,

Rab Nawaz Khan, Saddozai, son of
Nawab Sher Mahomed Khan, age 63.

Mahomed Afzal Khan, Khan Babadur,
Gandapur, son of Guldid Khan, of
Kulachi, age 4r1. ‘

Dost Mahomed Khan, Mazari, son of
Sher Muhomed Khan of Rojhan, age

13
Alawardi Khan Bahadur, son‘ of Sher

Mahomed Khan of Hazara in Bhakkar
Tahsil, age 76.

Shah Nawaz Khan, son of Hak Nawaz
Khan, age 19.

Is Extra Assistant Cdm»
missioner in the Pun-u
jab. )

Late  Inspector and As.
sistant District Super-
intendent of Police, Is
now Honorary Magxs—
trate.

Formerly Brmsh Agent
at Kabul,

Aggistant Commissioner
in the  Punjab, now
British Envoy at Kabul,




N e of District, |

Names, resxdence and other partxculars
of Darbans.

cra Qrﬂail ‘Kha‘u

‘ ,Dcx“‘a‘ Tsmail Khan

! Dera Ghazi thn

. Ditto
Ditto
| Dera Ismail Khan
Ditto

Bannu

Mahomed Nawaz Khan, Alizai, Rasal- |

dar, 15th Bengal Cavalry, son of
Nawab Foujdar Khan, cs.1, age 36.

‘Niaz Mahomed Khan, Woorde-Major
!5th Bengal Cayalry, son of Nawab

Sir| Ghulam Ha.ssan Khan, i ol

age 34 ‘

Jagan Nath son bf waan Dnulat Ram,
age 17 | |

Abdulla Khan, Khan Bahadur, Isa Khel,
son of Mahomed Khan, ageé ‘

Mnllk Yar. 'v!a.homed Khzm,
‘Malilk Muzafiar Khan Khan Baha.du:',
of Kalabagh age 55.

‘Vl‘ahomed Afml Khan, Kutti Khel

son of Nawab Shah Nawaz Khan of :

Tank age 39.

Bahadur Kh:m Khosa, son of! Ghulam
Haidar Khan of Tatil, age 20,

Mmam Khan, Drxshak, son of Bijar

Khan of Asm, age 56

Jallathan Gurcham son of Ghulam
Haxdar Khau of Harrand age 46

Ahmad Khan, Lund, sonof Ghulamf

Haxdar Khan, age 4:.

*

Faznl Khan, Kasram, son of Mxth Khan

of Kot Kasrani, age 41,

Sit BEuland Khan, Ismailzal. son of |
Samand Khan, age 60,

Mahomed  Akram Khan, Khagwani,
son of Pir Mahomed Khan, age 57.

Abdul Rahim Khan, Khan Bahadur,
Isa Khel, son of Bhah Nawaz Khan,
age 49.

Abdul Samand Khan, Isa Khel, son of
Mahomed Alam Khan, age 49.

Late Extra Asmian
Commxssioner in th
Punjab. ]

Late Rasaldar—Mq)
15th Bengal Lav

Was Rasaldar of Fro
tier Militia in Baanu,




Sanmomd' Lzsz' ()f Dwmfmdl Dczréarzs qf l7u’ Dem/m‘ Dt’mswﬂ-—*ﬁontd

‘MZT IES OF N@TE*

i
s
33

o
3

L

37

39
40
41

42
43
v 44

45

46

. | Name of District,

Names, residence and other particulars
| of Darbaris,

| Remarksy 0

Bannu

e

Ditto L

i b4 ki

Dera. Ghazi’ Khan|
' Ditto io4

Dera Ismail Khan

Ditto

yh

Ditto

.

Ditto

Bannu
Dera Ismail Khan
Ditto

by

Ditto

Ditto
Ditto
Ditto Wil

Dera Ghazi Khan

Abdul Karim Khan, Isa Khel,
“ Ayaz Khan, age 35,

‘Muaz-ud-din = Khan,

son of

Abdu] Rahman Khan, Tsa Khel, son of
. Mahomed Sarfraz Khan, age 31,
Abdul Sattar Khaa, Isa Khel, son of
Mahomed Khan, age 47.

‘Taggm Khan, Laghari, son of Nur Ah-

mad Khan of Choti, age 42,

Alla Bakhsh Khan, Saddozai, son of
Ghulam Murtaza Khan, age 49.

Dur Mahomed Khan, Khagwam, son
' of Sikandar Khan, age 50.

Hafiz Abdul Rahim Khan, son of Ghu-
lam Mahomed Khan, Khagwani, age
20.

Ghulam Sarwar Khan, Alizai, Rasaldar,
son of Ghulam Nabi Khan, age 49,

Rasaldar, 15th
Bengal Cavalry, son of Nawab Kala
Khan, age 37

Ayaz Khan, Bamozai, son of Abdul
Nabi Khan of Laki, age 56.

Mihardil Khan, Gandapur, son of

Naurang Khan of Kulachi, age 61,

Ghulam Mahomad Khan, Saddozai, son
of Sarfraz Khan, age 64.

Haknwaz Khan, Saddozai, late Rasal-
dar, 1st Punjab Cavalry, son of Wazir
Habxbulla Khban, age 506,

Allahdad Khan, son of Kaura Khan,
Khetran, of Vehowa, age 23.

Abdulla Kban, Khwajikzai, son @of
Painda Khan, age 46.

Ahm'\d Khan, son of Hafiz Samandar
Kban, age 35

Mazar Khan, Lund, son of Bakhshan
Khan of Tibbi, age 56,

Sub-Registrar, D‘e‘r‘a ‘
Ghazi Khan, !
Formerly Rasaldar of
15th Bengal Cavalry.
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“Samtz'o‘ned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Derajat Division—contd.

Names, residence and other particulars

the late Mir Alam Khan and son of
Shahnawaz Khan, age 26,

i No, | Name of District. of Dabharis. REmMARKS,
47 | Dera Ghazi Khan | Bahram Khan, Mazari, son of Nawab
Sir Imam Bakhsh Khan, k.cLE., of
Rojhan, age 40, )
48 Ditto oo | Tilla Khan, Mazari, son of Rahim Bakhsh
ik of Rojhan, age 24,
49 | Dera Ismail Kban | Shah Alam Khan, Gandabur, son  of
| ‘ Tuarrabaz Khan of Kulachi, age 61,
50 Ditto +»s | Ahmad Khan, Kupchani, son of Sikandar
Khan of Kotha, age 46,
51 Ditto «uv | Sikandar Khan, Ismailzai, son of Samand
Khan, age 46,
|52 Ditto ... | Ghulam Kadir Khan, Saddozai, son of
Hayatulla Khan, age 44.
53 Ditto s | Khuda Bakhsh, Awan, son of Ahmad
‘ Khan, age 63.
54 | Dera Ghazi Khan | Massn Khan, Natkani, son of Mahomed
| Azim Khan, age 43
55 | DeraIsmail Khan| Kbhadim Husain Khan, Khisur, son of
; Shah Nawaz Khan of Kiri Khisur,
age 21,
56 Ditto s [ Abdul Sattar Shah of Bilot, son of
_ Sarfraz Shah, age 18, wl
57 Ditto ++ | Gosain Het Nand Lal, son of Kunhaya
Lal, age 46, | |
58 | Dera Ghazi Khan | Khair Bakhsh (for Mian Sahib of T ausa),
son of Kadir Bakhsh, age 48,
39 Ditto «+s | Gosain Kunj Lal; son of Gosain Baldeoji,
age 31.
60 Ditto ws | Gosain Dharni  Dhar, son of Gosain
Ganga Dhari, age 51,
61 Ditto v | Tharia Ram, son of Diwan Sukhram | Retired Deputy Collec-
Das, age 53. tor, Canal Department,
62 Ditto ++ | Bhai Darbari Lal, son of Bhai Chiman
Lal, age 29. .
63 | Dera Ismail Khan | Rabnawaz Khban, Musazai, grandson of




CHIEFS AND FAMILIES OF NOTE.

Sanctioned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Derajal Division—contd.

No.

Name of District,

Names, residence and other particulars
of Darbaris,

REMARKS,

64
65
66
67
68
69
70
1
Wz
73
74
75
76
”
78
79
8o

81

Dera Ismail Khan

Ditto

Bannu
Ditto

aes

Ditto

sew

Ditto

Dera Ismail Khan

Bannu

Dera Ismail Khan
Ditto o
Ditto

Dera Ghézi Khan
Ditto

Ditto

Ditto

Dera Ismail Khan

Bannu

Ditto

Ramzan Khan, Ustrana, son of Abdulla
Khan of Khui Bahara, age 56.

Khoidad Khan, Ustrana, son of Fateh
Khan, of Khui Bahara, age 20.

Sardad Khan, Banuchi, son of Jafir
Khan of Ghorewala, age 62,

Abbas Khan, Begu Khel, son of Khan
Mir Alam, age 35.

Arsala Khan, Isa Khel, son of Sarwar
Khan, age 56.

Mir Abbas Khan, Banuchi, son of Lalbaz
Khan of Bazar Ahmad Khan, age 38.

Syad Akbar Shah of Kanigoram, son of
Subhan Shah, age 48.

Hafiz Misri Khan, son of Mir Ahmad
Khan, age 64.

Shadu Khan, Jaskani, son of Raza
Mahomed Khan of Basti Shadu, age 35.

Muzaffar Khan, Jaskani, son of Mahomed
Khan of Panj Pahari, age 49.

Fazal Hussain Khan,  Jaskani, son of
Naurang Khan Qf Panj Pahari, age, 45.

‘Mewa Khan, Gurchani, son of Ghulam
Haidar Khan of Herand, age 35.

Jan Mshomed Khan, son of Ahmad
Yar Khan of Hajipur, age 52

Latif Mahomd, Sarai, son of Jan

Mahomed of Hajipar, age 42,
Kalian Das, son of Chanan Lal, age 56.

Malik Mirbaz Khan, Unara, son of
Bahram Khan of Garra Barahin,
age 80.

Haknawaz Khan, Sikandar Khel, of
Marwat, son of Hakim Khan, age 35,

Sahibdad Khan, Madad Khel, son of
Nawaz Khan of Pahar Khel, age 51,

Superintendent of Ini-
gation,
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| Sanctioned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Derajat. Divisian—contd.

" No,

Names, residence and other particulars

N istrict,
ame of District il e ReMaRKs,
82 | Bannu ... | Shadi Khan, Ghazni Khel, son of Purdil
_ Khan, age 26,
83 | Ditto v | Khidar Khan, Kamal Xhel, son of
‘ Mahomed Khan of Ghazni Khel,
age 29. | f
84 | Ditto v | Mozaffar Khaa, son of Tor Khan of
¢« Wali, age 37.
85 | Dera Ghazi Khan | Khwaja Bakhsh Shah Sayad, son of
| Dinan Shall of Mirhatta, age 31.
86 Ditto .. [ Mian Akil Mahomed Tunia, = son of
Mian Panah Ali, age 39.
87 Ditto v | Nur Mahomed Kban, Bozdar, elder
brother of the late Imam Bakhsh
Khan, son of Yar Mahomed Khan
of Mehriwala, age 63.
- 88 Ditto .. | Tmam Bakhsh, Zaildar, son of Maho-
med Khan, of Sokar, age 53,
89 | DeraYsmail Khan | Haknawaz Khan, Saddozai, son of Ali | On political duty towards
Husain Khan, age 52. Biluchistan,
90 | Bannu «.. | Wali Khan, Madad Khel, son of Langar
Khan, of Bahar Khel, age 36.
91 | Dera Ismail Khan} Azim Khan, Kundi, Khan Bahadur,
son of Gul Imam Khan of Gul Imam,
age 55
92 | Banpn oo | Mian Sharaf Ali, son of Ghaus Ali of
Mianwali, age 61,
93 | Ditto v | Mani Khan, Sadum Iéhel, son of Sohan
Khan of Garhi Mani Khan, age 54.
94 | Ditto Durrana Khan, Takhti Khel, son of
Akbar Khan of Ghilzai, Tahsil Marwat,
age 41,
95 | Ditto v« | Wazir Khan, Shahbaz Khel, Marwat,
son of Zaffar Khan, age 46.
96 | Ditto ..v | Abbu Kban, Ahmadzai, Marwat, son of
Bukhmal Khan, of Bukhmal, age 36.
97 | Ditto v | Malik Amir Khan, Bhuchar, son of

Ahmadyar Khan of Wan Bhucharan,
age 26,




CHIZFS AND FAMILIES OF NOTE.

Sanctioned List of Divisional Darbaris of the Derajat Division—contd.

99
100
101
102
103

104

‘ 103

106 |

107
‘ ‘108
109

110

iz

113

.| 'Name of District.

Names, residence and other particulars
of Darbaris,

REMARKS,

Dera Ismail Khan

Bannu Vo

Ditto i

Muzaffargarh ...

Ditto Yde
Ditto Ve
Ditto

Ditto "y
Ditto Pl

Dera Ghazi Khan

Ditto o
Bannu o
Ditto v
i)itto et

Dera Ismail Khan

Bannu e

Abdul Rahim Khan, Tarin, son of
Mahomed Khan, age 61,

Khwaja Mahomed Khan, Sardari Khel,
son of Sultan Mukarrab Khan of Nar,
age 26.

Bahadur Khan, Musa Khel, son of
Ghazi Khan, age 39.

Saifulla Khan, son of Allahdad Khan of
Khangarh, age 32.

Khan Bahadur Mian Mahbub, son of
Ahmad Khan of Thatha, age 51.

Mahomed Khan, son of Fatih Khan
of Khangan, age 81,

Makhdum Shekh Iiassan, alias Makh-~
dum-i-Jahanian, son of Makhdum
Sheikh Mahmud of Sitpur, age 14,

Lal Xhan, Khowar, sdn of Ghulam
Hassan Khan, age 64.

Shahnawaz Khan, Kheowar, late Jamadar|
of Cavalry, son of Ghulam Hassan
Khan, age 70,

Ali Mahomed Khan, Pitafi, son of
Ahmad Khan of Lundi, age 54.

Kadir Bakhsh, Ahmadani, Zaildar, son of]
Dost Mahomed Khan of Mana, age 50.

Nizam, Hathi Khel, son of Azim Khan,
age 54 i

Khan Badshah, Bakka Khel, scn of
Hassan Shah, age 3i. !

Abu Samand Khan, Dharma Khel, son
of Nizam Khan, of Nizam Khan, age

53

Mahomed Hayat Khan, Gandapur, son
of Sher Mahomed Khan of Kulachi,

Atar Shah, son of Hardeo Shah of Nar,
age 43.




DERA.M Vi .DI VISION DAI:’,BA RIS

Samfzaued’ Lwt zy“ Divisional Darbaris of f}w Dera]at I)wmon —-»concld

Names, residence and other pérticulars
of Darbaris.

REMARKS.

" No. | Name of District.

114 Dera Ismail Khan | Sayad Mehar Shah of Panjgiraon, son
il of Dallan Shali of Shabpur, Tahsil
Leiah, age 69,

11y | Muzaffargarh ., Kaura Khan, Jatoi, Zamindar of Jatoi,
i son of Said Khan, age 354,

16 Ditto oo | Murid Jafir, head of Daira Dinpanah
e Shrine, son of Imam Bakhsh, Tahsil
Sanawan, age §1.

‘117 | Dera Ghazi Khan | Sayad Shah Mahomed Shah, Zaildar,
I guardian of Pir Adil Shrine, son of
. Karm Shah of Pir Adil, age 37.

’,‘_I’IS | Muzaffargarh ... | Mian Kauau, son ‘of Ghulam Nabi of
: L Shekh' Umar, Tahsil Sanawan, age 33,

e i19‘ ) Ditto ‘e Sahlbdad Khan, son of Haji  Mahomed
i L Sardar Khan of Khowar, age 34,

' 120 | Dera Ghazi Khan | Rahim Khan, son of Mir Alam Khan of
Dxlana, age 12,

far il Dikte Imam Bakhsh Khan, Khan Bahadur, |
A | Bozdar, Assistant Surveyor, son of
Ali Mahomed age 47.

izz iDera Ismail Kban | Gosain Ude Bhan, Shamdasi, son of |
; Asa Nand of Leiah, age 53, :

U ae3 Ditto .. | Mushtak Shah Singh, son of Bhagat
iy Shah Singh of Bhakkar, age 35.

1‘24‘ Ditto Sheikh Umar, son of Sayad Mahomed : gty
‘ ‘ of Musazai, age 40, : ‘ s

125 Ditto o+ | Seth Lakhmi Ohand, Divisional Treasurer,
son of Seth Kalian Das, age 37,

126 | Ditto o | Abdulla Khan, Nasir Powindah, son i
‘ of Shahzad Khan,

tay | Muzaffargarh ., | Ghulam Rasul, Jatoi, Zaildar of southern
Jatoi, son of Nusrat Khan of Jatoi,
Tahsil Alipur, age 42,

128 sor Azim Husain Khan, Hospital Assistant
sth Punjab Cavalry

129 | Muzaffargarh ., | Sheikh Mahomed Yar, son of Kadir
: Bakhsh, age 52,




| THE DEHLI DISTRICT: 159

DEHLI DISTRICT,

MIRZA SU[I\IAN q {IKOH.

Mirza Bacnu.,

|
Mirza llahi Bakhsh, d. 1878,
|

|
Mirza SuLiMAN SHIKOH, Suraya Jah, Ikbal Shah,
b. 1848, b. 1853 bi185s,

Mirza Suliman Shikoh tdkes the leading place on the
list of Viceregal Darbaris of the Dehli district : his brothers
Suraya Jah and lkbal. Shab are also Darbaris. They have
inherited position and fortune from their father, Mirza Ilahi
- Bakhsh, whose devotion to the British cause in 1857 was of
~ the highest value ; and they are connected with the Roya
' House of Dehli through Begum Umdat-ul-Zamani, daughter
of Alamgir the Second. Mirza Ilahi Bakhsh had considerable
influence in the Palace through the friendship borne him by
the Begum Zinat Mahal, favourite wife of Bahadar Shah,
last King of Dehli. A daughter of the Mirza's had been
married to the King's eldest son Fateh-ul-Mulk Mirza Fakharu,
who died shortly before the outbreak of the Mutiny. Mirza
Ilahi Bakhsh remained inside the City during the Siege, and
was able to furnish important intelligence of the movements
of the rebels, and to assist and protect our agents.  He
did his utmost to save the lives of a party of fifty Christians
who were cruelly massacred, ostensibly with the King's
knowledge, within the Palace precincts, and materially assist~
ed our military operations by cutting the bridge-of.boats
over the Jamna, opposite the Citythus stopping the entry of
supplies and rebel reinforcements from the eastern side.
Later on he brought about the peaceful surrender of the
King, and helped Hodson in effecting the capture of the
Princes. Khizar Sultan and Abul Bakar, thus dealing the
Rebellion a death-blow by depriving the disaffected of their



CHIEFS AND FAM]LIES or NOTE

hereditary leaders. The Mirza's conduct was fully enqmred
into at the close of the Rebellion and suitably rewarded.
Hereditary pensions, aggregating Rs. 22,830 per annum, with
effect from 1st May, 1857, were granted to the Mirza and hxs
family in the following proportions :—

To the Mirza personally e Ral gy550
s» his wives i WE0
,» daughters LG
., other relatives Yy 1080

. Further, in 1861, in lieu of an assignment enjoyed by y:
him jointly with others before the Mutiny from the villages
of Sampla and Asaoda in the Rohtak district, the Govern-
ment of India granted to the Mirza solely a perpetual jagir of
the value of Rs. 5,000 per -annum, and in 1866 released to
him and his family the revenues of certain villages in the
Dehli and Mirut districts, yielding Rs. 2,226 annually, He
was awarded Rs. 35,000 as compensation for loss of property
incurred during the Siege. In 1872 he was allowed to
berrow Rs. 35,000 from Government. More than one-half of
this sum was subsequently wiped out of the accounts as a
matter of favor to the Mirza. An addition of Rs. 2,250 was
made to his pension in 1877, on the occasion of the assump-
tion by Her Majesty of the title of Empress. = Mirza Ilahi
Bakhsh diedin 1878. His three sons now enjoy the hereditary
~ pension and jagir. Mirza Suliman Shikoh, the eldest, is an
Honorary Magistrate, and M. lkbal Shah is a member of the
Municipal Committee of Dehli,
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GURGAON DISTRICT

MAHOMED ‘SARA]UDIN HAIDAR KHAN QR

B ARAI{HN AGAR.
AMAN-UL-ITAK.
d. 1829,
|
i I i | Ay T
| Rasaldar Midad Mufti Mahomed  Sina-ul-Hak, Mohib-uts
. Abdul Ali Flasain Nur-ul-Hak, Zafar Al d. 1831, Hak,
R han. Khan, | Khan,
! Bakhshi Ghulam ' &, 1849, Muhib Hasain
Haidar Khan, Khan,
d, 1828, d. 1870,
G |
(Gholam Kharaiti Jiwan Al Nuradin Muazudin
‘Mahomied Ali Khan, Khan, Hasain Hasain |
Khan, Khan, Khan,
4, 1833 .
| | ] | |
Captam Taﬁual Hayat Ali Raham Ali Mazhar Ali ‘Walait Ali Wazarat Ali
‘ Hdsam, Khan, Khan, Khan, Khan, Khan,
. 1868, |
l
| I
| i |
MAHOMED SARAJUDIN  Shahabudin
HaAmpAr KHAN, Haidar.
b. 1848,
‘ J :
i o :
Mahamed Alahudin Mahomed Nasirudia, Mahomed Sgafarudin,
Haxdarbléhan, b, 1870, by 1874,

. Shahabudin Ghori, and settled at Sultanpur near the junction

‘Shekh Umar Din came from Bokhara with St‘xl_tar‘x L

~ of the Bias with the Satlaj. = His sons moved down to Dehli | S
and were appointed Muftis of the present town of Riwari.

‘This honorable office remained with the family for some
~ generations. Aman-ul-Hak, in the time of Akbar Sani of
Dehli, took service with the Raja Raghoji of Nagpur,+and
served him for many years. His grandson Hasain Khan
was given the Subadarship of Bhandara in Nagpur ; and when
the British annexed the State in 1853 on the death of the |
Third Raghoji without issue, he was appointed an Extra
Assistant Commissioner in the Central Provinces, He died
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in 1870. His eldest son Nurudin. Khan was for some years
a Rasaldar in the Nagpur Mounted Police.

Mahomed Zafar Ali Khan held the post of Subadar in
Nagpur for nine years, on a salary of Rs. 6,000 per annum.
His five sons received small pensions from the State after his
death in 1849. One of them, Hayat Ali Khan, was for
some years an Honorary Magistrate at Riwari, in the Gur-
gaon district. He is in receipt of a pension of Rs. 600
for military services. Abdul Ali Khan, son of Aman-ul-Hak,
was a Rasaldar in the 2nd Panjab Cavalry during the Mutiny.
Mabhib-ul-Hak, also a son, was for some years Judge of Nag-
pur before annexation. Ghulam Haidar Khan, grandfather
of the present head of the family, took service with the Nizam
of Hyderabad, and commanded a small contingent under
Wellington at the Battle of Assaye in 1803. He was reward-
ed with the title of Khan Bahadar, and received a mafi
grant of fourteen hundred bigas in the Riwari Tahsil. He
afterwards transferred his services to the Raja Paoji of Nag-
pur, who was poisoned by his nephew Apa Sahib in 1816.
Ghulam Haidar Khan opposed Apa Sahib’s attempt against
the English in 1817 ; and he was continued for twelve years
‘in command of the Nagpur troops after the Raja was driven
out. His three sons were also employed- in the army. The
eldest, Ghulam Mahomed Khan, succeeded him in the military
command at Nagpur. Tafazal Hasain, son of Ghulam Ma-
homed Khan, was in command of the local cavalry corps at
Nagpur when, in May 1857, the news of the Dehli Mutiny
reached that city. To his exertions was in a measure due the
failure of the attempt made by his regiment to stir up a rebel-
lion in this part of India. He was rewarded with a commis-
sion as Rasaldar in the Mounted Police, and the bestowal of
the title of Sardar Bahadar. In 1860 he was granted biswa-
dari and jagir rights in Farakhnagar and Riwari in the
Gurgaon district, yielding Rs. 6,000 annually, subject to
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THE KARNAL DISTRICT.
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 The interesting sketch which follows, of the modern
history of Karnal, is from the pen of Mr, Denzil Ibbetson,‘
late Settlement Officer :— o

Towards the end of the seventeenth century the Dehli Empire was fast

falling to decay, and the Sikhs rising to power. In 1709 Banda, some time
the chosen disciple of Guru Govmd Bairagi, raised his standard in these
parts, and collecting an army of Sikhs, occupied the whole of the country west
of the Jamna,  He  Jaid the whole neighbourhood waste, and especially the
 neighbourhood of the Kamal where he killed the Fau_]dar and massacred the"
inhabitants,

In 1738 Nadir Shah, enraged at not being recognised by the Dehli Cnurt
invaded India. On 8th _]anuary, 1739, he reached Sarhand, where he leqrn—
“ed that Mahomed Shah with an enormous army occupied a strongly fortified
camp at Karnal. He marched on to Taraori, on which he had to turn
his gung before it would open its gates to him, Here he learned from
some prisoners that the approach to Karnal from the direction of '
Taraori ‘was through dense jungle and _exceedingly difficult ; and that
Mahomed Shah had no room to move in, being encamped m a small |
plain which was hardly sufficient for his camp, and surrounded on three
sides by thick woods. « He accordingly resolved to take the enemy in flank
from the south-east. On the 1s5th January he left Taraori, and, marching
round by the banks of the Jamna to the back of the city, advanced to! a
. position close to the Dehli camp. = Meanwhile he sent Prince Nasarula Mir-
'za with a considerable force to a spot north of the canal and close to Karnal,
All this time Mahomed Shah was not even aware that Nadir Shah was in
the neighbourhood. Just at this time a detachment which had been sent to
oppose Sadat Khan, Viceroy of Oudh, who was marching from Panipat with
‘reinforcements, came to close quarters with him. Nadir Shah and Prince
. Nasarula at once marched to the support of their detachment, which was
the first intimation the Imperial army had of their presence. I' he engage-
ment which followed was not decisive, But the army of Mahomed Shah,
i which had already been encamped for three months at Karnal and had quff'er«
ed greatly from want of supplies, was now cut oft from the open country in
the rear, and food became so scarce that a seer of flour could not be bought
for four rupees. Thus Mahomed Shah was starved into submission, and on
. the 13thof February yielded to the invader, who led him in his train to DehH.
In 1748 Ahmed Shah was met at Panipat by the royal paraphernalia
and the news of the death of Mahomed Shah, and there and then formally
assumed the royal titles.

From this time to the establishment of English Rule, a time of horror
followed, whicl is still vividly remembered by the people, and was fittingly
ushered in by the greatest of all the battles of Panipat, In the rainy sea-
son of 1760, Sadasheo, the Mahrata Bhao, marched upon Kunjpura, an Afghan
town close to Karnal, which was then strongly fortified, and at which 20,000
Afghan troops were then encamped, He put the whole of them to the
sword, and pillaged the country round. Ahmad Shah, who was in the Doab,
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| swhence next morning the conqueror brought them out, distributed the women

| was unable ta cross the Jamnain txme to prevent this dlsaster but at length
. he forded the river near Bagpat and advanced against the ‘enemy, who
| retreated to Panipat, There the Mahratas strongly fortified themselves, =
 The Duranis encamped close in front of them, and for five months the two
armies, numbering more than 400,000 souls, remained engaged in fruitless
‘negotiation and constant skirmishes, ’lhe Durani army had tree access to
 their camp on all sides, while they gradually confined the Mahratas more
‘and more to their entrenchments. The latter had long ago consumed all the
 provisions obtainable at Panipat ; at length supplies wholly failed; and on
the 6th January, 1761, the Bhao adyvanced to action. The Mahratas were
utterly routed, and many of them were driven into the town of Panipat,

and children, and massacred the men in cold blood. The fugitives were
| followed all over the country, and killed wherever they were overtaken. It
| 1s said that 200,000 Mahratas were slain in this battle.

No sooner had the Mahratas temporarily disappeared than the Sikhs
appeared on the scene. In 1763 they defeated Zin Khan, the Durani Gover-
nor of Sarhand, and took possession of the whole of Sarhand as far south
as Panipat. Raja Gopal Singh on this occasion seized  Jind, Safidon,
Panipat and Karnal, though he was not yet strong - ‘enough to hold
them ; butin 1772 he was confirmed in his possessions up to within a few
miles “north of Panipat and west of. Karnal, as a tributary of the Dehli
Emperor. At the same time Raja Gurdit Smgh seized Ladwa and &»ham-
garh up to within a few miles north of Karnal,

Recalled by these events, Ahmad Shah once more appeared forithe A

. last time in Hinduastan in 1767, and, conquering the Sikhs in several battles, ,

marched as far as Panipat ; but as soon as he disappeared the Sikhs again o
resumed their hold of the country. In 1774 Rahimdad Khan, Governor of

Hansx, attacked Jind ; but was defeated with heavy loss, while Gajpat Singh |7
agam seized Karnal. In 1777 Najaf Khan, the Impenal Wazir, marched- '
in  person to restore his authority. The Sikhs invited the aid of Zabita
Khan, a Rohila Chief, who had rebelled ; -and, joining their force with him, 3
encountered the Impemal army at Pampat and fought a battle said to have Jenn
been only less terrible than that of 1761. No marked advantage remained . |
with either side ; and by a treaty then concluded between the Rajas and the -
Emperor, the Sikbs relinquished their conquests in Karnal and its neigh-
bourhood, excepting seven villages which Gajpat Singh was allowed to keep.

But the treaty was not gbserved ; and in 1779 a last attempt was made by the

Diehli Court to recover its lost texrltorv. In November of that year Prince
Farkhunda Bakht and Nawab Mapd—udaula marched out at the head of a

lavge army, 20,000 strong, and met some of the minor Sikhs at Karnal,  He

made terms Wlth these chieftains, who were jealous of the growing power of

Patiala ; and the combined forces marched upon that State, While negotia-

tions were in progress, reinforcements advanced from Lahore, the Karnal con-

tingent deserted, bribery was resorted to, and the Imperialists retired pre-

cipitately to Pampat About this time Dharm Rao held the greater part of X
_the tract on the part of the Mahratas, and was temporarily on good terms

with the petty Sikh Chiefs north of Karnal. In 1785 he marched, at the in-

vitation of the Phuikian Chiefs, against Kaithal and Ambala ; and after some

sticcesses, and after exacting the stipulated tribute, withdrew to his head-quar-

ters at Karnal. In 1789 Sindia marched from Dehli to Thanesar and thence

to Patiala, restored order more or less in the country west of the Jamna, and

brought the Patiala Diwan back with him as far as Karnal as a hostage, In
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1704 a large Mahrata force under Anta Rao crossed the Jamna. Jind and
Kaithal tendered their homage ; but the Patiala troops surprised the army in
a night attack, and Anta Rao retired to Karnal. In 1795 the Mahratas once
again marched north, and defeating Raja Bhag Singh at Karnal, finally wrest-
ed that city from him and made it over to George Thomas, who took part in
the fight, He had, however, obtained the jagir of Jhajar, and making himself
master  of Hissar, harried the neighbouring Sikh territories ; meanwhile
Raja Gurdit Singh, of Ladwa, obtained possession of Karnal. In 1798 Begum
Samru was stationed with her forces at Panipat to protect the western fron-
tier during the struggle with Jaipur. 'In 1799 Sindia sent General Perron,
to whom the pargana of Panipat had been granted, to bring the Sikhs to
order. He recruited at Karnal, where the Nawab of Kunjpura joined him ;
but matters were settled amicably,  In 180t Thomas made a foray through
Karnal and Panipat, and then retreated to Hansi, The Sikhs asked the
Mahratas for help against him ; and Sipdia, on the Sikhs promising to be-
come his subsidiaries and pay him five lakhs of rupees, sent General Perron
against him. 1In the battle that followed Thomas lost all his conquests, re-
tired to British territory, and shortly afterwards died. Safidon and Dhatrat
. were then made over again to Jind by the Mahratas,

! On the 11th September, 1803, Lord Lake defeated the Mahratas at the

battle of Dehli ; and on the goth December, Daulat Rao Sindia, by the
treaty of Sirji Anjangam, ceded his territories in the north of India to the
allies ; while the Partition Treaty of Poona, dated five months later, gave
the provinces about Dehli, from that time known as the conquered provinces,
to the English, Immediately after the battle of Dehli, Begum Samru made
her submission to General Lake ; and the Rajas of Jind and Kaithal were
hardly less prompt. Their advances were favourably received ; and in
January 1805 they joined their forces with ours. The other Sikh Chiefs,
including Ladwa and Thanesar, had actually fought against us at Dehli, and
for a whole year they constantly displayed active hostility, till they were
finally routed by Colonel Burn at the end of 1804, In March 1805, an am-
nesty was proclaimed to all the Sikhs on condition of peaceable behaviour ;
but Raja Gurdit Singh of Ladwa was expressly excluded from this amnesty,
and in April of the same year the English forces marched upon his fort
of Karnal and captured it.

Meanwhile Lord Wellesley had returned to England, and Lord Corn-
wallis had been sent out expressly to reverse his policy. The leading feature
of the new programme was the withdrawal from all the recently-acquired
territory west of the Jamna. And as that territory had to be disposed of,
it was natural that the petty chieftains who had done us service in the late
strugele even, if only by abstaining from or relinquishing opposition to us,
. should be rewarded. The whole tract was therefore parcelled out between
them and others.

The sovereign powers of the Rajas of Jind, Kaithal, Ladwa, Thanesar
and Shamgarh, and of the Nawab of Kunjpura, were confirmed ; and they
were continued in the lands held by them under treaty from the Mah-
ratas, except that Ladwa was deprived of Karnal as already mentioned.
The Jind Raja was granted the pargana of Gohana, and he and the Raja
of Kaithal had the pargana Barsat-Faridpur made over to them jointly.
Eight villages were made over to the Nawab of Kunjpura. The Mandals,
who held large jagirs in Muzafarnagar, were induced to exchange them for
so much of pargana Karnal as was left unallotted.
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. Begum Samru received considerable grants, including some villages
of the tract, in addition to her original fief of Sardhana; and considerable
grants were made to people Who had done good service, and notably to

‘Mirza Ashraf Beg and Mir Rustam Ali. :

The policy which bade us abstain from interference west of the Jamna
did not long stand the test of actual practice. In 1806 Ranjit Singh crossed
the Satlaj with his army and marched to Thanesar 3 and it soon became

_apparent that either he or we must be master in the tract, The events

and negotiations that followed, how the Sikh army marched about within

. twenty miles of our lines at Karnal, and how we were compelled to insist upon
- Ranjit Singh’s withdrawal beyond the Satlaj, are told in most interesting

detail by Sir Lepel Griffin in his LPanjab Rajas. The Treaty of Lahore,
dated 25th April, 1809, and the Proclamation of the 3rd of May following,
finally included the country to the westof the Jamna in our Indian Empire ;
and with this event ended the political history proper of the Tract.

1t will be useful to note the dates of a few events subsequent to the
treaty of 1809. About 1810 the jagir grants which had been made in 18056
were declared grants for life only, and were taken under our police supers
vision, They were gradually resumed on the death of the holders. Bhai Lal
Singh died in 1816, and Raja Bhag Singh in 1819 ; and these two, with the
Mandals, held the greater portion of the Tract, Pargana Karnal was con-
tinued to the Mandals in perpetuity on a fixed quit-rent in 1806. In 1834
part of Jind and in 1843 the whole of Kaithal, lapsed to us on the failure of
the reigning line.  In the latter year parts of Safidon and Asandh were ac-
quired from Jind by exchange. ' In 1845 we confiscated the Ladwa estates
bordering on the tract as a punishment for treason‘in the Sikh War,  And in
the same year- the Sardars of Thanesar, Kunjpura and Shamgarh were

. deprived of sovereign power, and reduced to the position of simple jegirdars,

In 1850 the whole of Thanesar lapsed on the death of the widow of Fatah
Singh, the last Chief of Thanesar,
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. The Kunjpurias are amongst the best known of the Ma-
homedan families in the existing Dehli Division. The head
of the house enjoys the title of Nawab, and their jurisdiction
as semi-independent Chiefs was only lost to them under the
operation of Lord Hardinge’s order, dated 17th November,
1846, affecting all but nine of the petty rulers in the plains
south and east of the Satlaj. They are Rohilas of Eusafzai
origin, and class themselves with other Pathans settled in
the Panipat Tahsil as Zaka Khels, though their identity with
any existing tribe on the Peshawar Frontier has long since been

lost. They marry amongst themselves, and all their social ob-
servances assimilate with those of their Pathan neighbours,
classed generally as ¢ Hindustanis. ” Yet it may be men-
tioned as tending to prove the undoubted Trans-Indus con-
nection at some remote period and as showing the desire
of the Kunjpurias to be esteemed as genuine Eusaf-
zais, that even to the present day they are visited at uncer
tain intervals by men of the clan from Attock and Peshawar,
whom they receive with honor as ‘cousins,” and who, no
doubt, find the occasional pilgrimage to Karnal one of profit
as well as of pleasure. The Kunjpurias are credited in
the earlier Government records as having come from
“ Gurgusht in the Sinde country.” By Sinde is probably
intended in this case the country of the Upper Indus,
for the large village of Gurgushti, in the Rawalpindi
district, is close to the Indus or Sinde river, in the Chach
plain north-east of Attock ; and the Pathans of Gurgushti
are especially given to claiming kinship with the Kunjpura
Chiefs. Thus, in 1886, on the death of the late Nawab
‘Mahomed Ali Khan, a Gurgushti deputation duly appeared
at Karnal to offer condolences, and to take back with
them the presents such attention was bound to secure,
But here the connection always ends, and there are no
modern instances of Kunjpurias having secured Gurgushtian
ladies as brides. The border Pathans would probably smile
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" were such a request preferred by their brethren of the ]Ower : 1 i
Panjab. e : L L
Nothing certain is known regarding the settling of the
Gurgushtis in India. They were classed as Rohila Pathans,
and received employment about the Dehli Court in the early
days of the Mahomedan conquests. But they were of small
 account until one of their number, Najabat Khan, founded
' the fortunes of the family by his own pluck and energy, He
flourished in the early part of the eighteenth century, and afs
 ter serving as a captain in the Imperial Forces, secured for
himself a considerable tract of fertile land along an arm of |
. the Jamna as it then flowed in a channel now dry, known as
the Puran, in the present Pipli Tahsil of the Ambala district,
He plundered the Bazidpur villages in the Bidauli pargana
of the Sarkar Saharanpur, and built for himself in the Jamna
 marshes a strong tower which he named Kunjpura, or the
Herot's Nest, His sons re-named it Najabat Nagar in his
honor ; but their children have ever since been known as
Kunjpurias. Najabat Khan was not allowed peaceful posses-
sion of his acquisitions. The old Bazidpur owners complain~
ed to Izat Khan, the Chakladar of Saharanpur, who advanc-
. ed against the freebooter with such forces as he had at his
command ; but Najabat held his own and slew the Imperial
| apent, This was more than even the effete Mahomedan
~ Government of that day could stand. Mulraj, Governor of
Panipat, was ordered to seize the person of the rebel and
roduce him before the Emperor at Dehli. But he was
released in a few years, after the manner of the age, upon
- promise of paying a fine, which was never redeemed.

Najabat Khan sided with Nadar Shah in his conquest of
Dehli in 1739, and was recognised by the new power as right-
ful owner of the Kunjpura lands. Kunjpura itself was regard-
edas a post of strategical importance, covering the Begi
Ferty on the road from Saharanpur to Dehli, and commanding’
the Imperial bridge over the canal between Karnal and the
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. fortified sarai at Gharaunda, in the direction of Panipat. It * |
. was the scene of many a struggle between the Imperjalists and

the Mahratas in the middle of the eighteenth century. In

one of these castles, in 1760, Najabat Khan met with his =

- death, defending the stronghold in the interests of the Abdalis
against a sudden attack made by the Mahrata General, Sada~
sheo, who put the garrison to the sword and levelled the
place with the ground, burning most of the villages in the
neighbourhood. Najabat’s eldest son Daler Khan succeeded
o ‘¢§¢aping across the® Jamna, and had his revenge in the
 following year by taking part in the battle of Panipat, when
‘ the Mahratas suffered a crushing defeat at the hands of the
. ““Du\ranis. ‘ ‘ | ' i

L . Daler Khan's assistance to the Duranis was evidently
. of considerable value; for the family possess Sanads bezlring
| the seal of Ahmad Shah, reciting his services and those of
his father to “ this god-given Government, ” and confirming
_ him in the rule and revenues of Kunjpura, Indri and Azim-
abad,  The grant extended over one hundred and fifty vil-
lages in the modern divisions of Karnal, Indri, Thanesar,
Shahabad and Badauli, The Chief was bound to render
.active assistance in times of trouble, and he was ‘t‘nade to

‘keep up a large force of horse and foot for the Imperial ser-

vices. The mahals of Karnal and Safidon were afterwards

bestowed in lieu of certain other villages resumed. Upon

‘Daler Khan personally was conferred about this period the

title of Bakhshi and Arjamand. But he lost much of his pro-
perty shortly before his death in 1773, owing to the incursibns :
of Raja Gajpat Singh of Jind and the other Sikh Chiefs,

who were now busily feeling their way towards Dehli. His

successor Gulsher Khan was unable to. resist this forward
movement, and gradually lost what remained of the family
«estates west of the Jamna., But the fortunes of the Kunj«
purias revived about the year 1787, when Sindia checked
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the growing power of Patiala and expelled the jmd Raja
Bhag Singh from Karnal. Ten years later we find Gulsher
recognised by General Perron as Nawab of Kunjpura for
help rendered in chastising George Thomas and the Jind and
Ladwa Chiefs, whose successful adventures had begun to
. awaken the fears of the Mahratas for the safety of their
north-western border. Thus, Rahmat Khan, who succeeded
his father Gulsher as Nawab in 1801, was a personage of
importance, whose alliance Lord Lake was glad to secure when
gathering strength early in the century to crush Holkar
and the combination of Sikh States headed by the Ladwa
Chief. His son Bahadar Jang was awarded a jagir on life-
tenure in seven villages of the Karnal pargana, under a Far-
man signed by Lord Lake in 1806, afterwards confirmed by
a Sanad of Lord Minto, Governor-General. We find by a
return prepared in 1809, that the Kunjpura Chief Rahmat
Khan, with his brother Ghulam Mahayudin and their uncle
Karam Sher Khan, were then possessed of one hundred and
twenty villages in the parganas of Karnal, Indri and Badauli,

yielding a revenue of nearly Rs. 90,000. Their holdings
were subject to the condition of furnishing a contingent
of twenty horse and six hundred foot. Rahmat Khan's
estates in the Indri-Thanesar tract, yielding Rs. 72,000 per
annum, were, under the Governor-General's Proclamation,
dated 22nd August, 1811, confirmed to him as an independent
and protected Chief. 'His son’s jagir was situated in the
Dehli territory, and was valued at Rs. 2,900 per annum. The
~Saharanpur lands were held on zamindari tenure. By an
Ttalanama issued in 1809, the Kunjpura Chiefs were estop-
ped from levying tolls and customs duties upon goods crossing
the Jamna in the neighbourhood of their estates. This cur-
tailment of their privileges appears to have been the subject
of a remonstrance on the part of the Nawabs, for various sums
were paid to them from year to year after 1813 by way

of compensation for loss of revenue ; and they continued to
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levy chungi upon articles consumed within-the limits of the
. estate until 1843, when it was abolished under an order of
< Sir Henry Lawrence, then Assistant to the Governor-
“ ~General’s Agent. Since 1852 the Nawabs have been allow-
ed a fixed sum of Rs. 3,210 annually in lieu of all claims to
- . tolls and -customs*dues of every description. = As already
mentioned, the Nawabs lost their independent status in 1846 i
‘and thrée years later Lord Hardinge's action was confirmed |
by Lord Dalhousie, who, under a Proclamation of June, 1849,
declared that, with ¢he exception of nine States specified, ““all
the Chiefs would cease to hold sovereign powers, would lose .
all civil, criminal and fiscal jurisdictions, and would be consi-
~dered as no more than ordinary subjects - of the British
Government in possession of certain exceptional privileges.”
Henceforth the Nawabs of Kunjpura were mere jagirdars,
occasionally exercising judicial powers specially conferred.

Much of the legitimate power and influence which this
family might reasonably have exercised had been lost by the
unhappy relations of different members who have quarrelled
with each other, and especially with-the head of the house for
their own individual objects. ‘

As far back as 1806 the differences between Rahmat =

Khan and his brother Ghulam Mahayudin, regarding the suc-
cession to the patrimony, terminated in  an open rupture,
Their armed. retainers came to blows, and antiquated pieces
of cannon were used by the combatants within hearing of the
cantonment of Karnal. The Kunjpura people were described
in an official report of those days as ¢ turbulent and
unruly beyond any other race in India, given to habits of
aggression, violence and contempt of all order and autho-
rity.” The aim of the younger brother Ghulam Mahayudin
was to dismember the inheritance on the strength of an
alleged custom, under which the sons of the Chief by
his first wife were said to have right to share the patrimony
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betwcen them emg unablc. to prove this allegation, he re- ;

_ peated his demand in another form, requiring the assignment
of a number of villages, equal almost to one-half of the estate,
for his separate maintenance. After much squabbling and
' not a little bloodshed, the parties referred their quarrel to
arbitration, and formally agreed to abide by the finding in
presence of Mr. Metcalfe, Agent, and his Assistant Mr.
W. Fraser. Hereunder, certain villages were assigned to
Ghulam Mahayudin for the purpose of providing him with
‘a proper maintenance, and not with the object of giving him

. @ separate share or splitting up his father's property. The
. grantee was in 1822 held free from liability to contribute tos
wards the support of his younger brother, whose maintenance
became a charge upon the possessions of the Nawab. In
_ reporting this decision the position of Ghulam Mahayudin was
 explained by Sir C. T. Metcalfe in the following terms :—
* « Had the question then been as to the right of Ghulam
- Mahayudin to a portion as one of several younger brothers,
 he must, I conceive, have received a smaller provision than
. he obtained. But that was not the question, nor was th‘e\
. matter settled on any ground of right. The adjustment was
snnply on agreement between the parties, both yielding to
the opinions of the arbitrators., Ghulam Mahayudin Khan
‘was more in the character of a rival than of a younger brother.
His pretensions arose out of circumstances antecedent to our
Rule. We had strictly refrained from interference in the
 affairs of the petty States on our frontier. The two brothers
were at war, and if the scene of action had not been within a
few miles, or perhaps within sight, of one of our cantonments,
they would have been left to fight it out, and would probably
‘have destroyed each other, or would have fallen under the
domination of some superior State. The arrangement con-
cluded between them was considered by me more as a treaty
of peace between contending parties than as a legal settlement
of mutual rights,”
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. Nawab Rahmat Khan died in 1822, and was followed by
is son Bahadar Jang, who held the estate for six years, On
~ his death the life-jagir in pargana Karnal lapsed to Govern-
. ment under the terms of the Sanad of 1806. He was succeed-
edin default of male issue by his next brother Ghulam Ali

g - Khan, who was duly recognised by the Governor-General ag

. “rightful successor to the principality of Kunjpura.,” Ghulam

. Ali’s younger brothers lost no time in following their uncle’s

| ﬂfexampfe, and in 1834 one of them, Shahbaz Khan, put for:

. ward a claim to ownership in one-third of the estate. Thig

~ was rejected by Sir George Clerk, Political Agent at Ambala,
. Who, in reporting the case to the Governor-General's Agent
_ at Dehli, remarked :— If the Kunjpuralands are to be regard-
ed as private property, no time should be lost in subjecting

this inheritance to the rules of sZara. ' But if it be deemed
 expedient to maintain the Chief in respectability and authority,
| the provision of guzara for his brother should be ‘left in

. ameasure to the Nawab's discretion.” Sir Charles Metcalfe
. in reply (dated rz2th December, 1836), laid down on the
‘ authority of the Lieutenant-Governor, North-Western Pro-

~ vinces, that “ Kunjpura must be regarded as a principality,

and the younger branches must depend upon the older for
_ support ; the amount of this provision being regulated by
‘the custom of the family.” ‘ | ;

~ On the death of Ghulam Mahayudin in 18471, his assigned
villages reverted to the Nawab Ghulam Ali Khan, with the
_ exception of the one village of Biana and the Jands of seven
wells in Kunjpura, which were apportioned for the maintenance
of Mahomed Yar Khan, son of the deceased. il

In 1843 the Nawab had an opportunity of proving his
loyalty by furnishing a party of fifty sowars to assist in Sup~
pressing the disturbances at Kaithal, described in another
chapter, brought about by the decision of Government to
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treat the estate as an escheat on the death without issue af
Bhai Ude Singh. The men remained at the disposition of
Sir Henry Lawrence for two months, ‘and their services were
* duly acknowledged in a letter of thanks to the Nawab. He-
was again forward in assisting during the I“u'sp Sikh War
Wlth carriage and supphes '

Nawab Ghulam Alg ‘Khan died in 1849. and was succeed- i)
ed by his only son Mahomed Ali. His latter years had been
embittered by violent family quarrels, instigated by Ghulam
. Mahayudin’s son Mahomed Yar Khan of Biana. These un-
fortunate dissensions, adverse to the best interests of the
family, brought the estate to the verge of ruin, and paralyzed
all attempts at vigorous action during the crisis of 1849, when
a display of active loyalty would have for ever secured the
Kunjpuras a high place in the esteem of the Paramount
- Power. Nawab Mahomed Ali Khan was only twenty years
of age when his father died. He was beset with troubles
from the commencement, due to the active opposition and
underband intrigues of his uncles Shahbaz Khan and Janbaz,
who were leagued with their cousin Mahomed Yar Khan of
Biana to bring the head of the house to ruin, and thus secure
a partition of the property amongst all the cousins, They
accused the Nawab, through his step-mother, of having poi-
soned his elder brother in order to secure his own succession.
But the charge was declared after investigation to be un-
founded. His next trouble was concerning the succession to
the estate of his cousin Tafazal Hasain, who died in 1851,
‘and whose father Karam Sher Khan had been assigned lands
for his maintenance in Ghir and portions of Kunjpura Proper.
These duly passed to Tafazal Hasain, and his widow now set
up Barkat Ali, the son of a slave-girl, as his rightful successor.
The decision of Government was in favour of direct heirs of
Karam Sher Khan, excluding illegitimate offspring. With
regard to the Nawab, it was held that his rights were only
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. reversionary on the failure of all Karam Sher's immediate
heirs. : ;

- Meanwhile the Biana branch had not been idle. Mahomed
Yar Khan continued to press his suit, reducing the demand
to one-fourth of the whole estate ; but this was finally rejected,
in 1851, by the Commissioner of Ambala. A fight next took
place over the Nawab's reversionary rights in Mahomed Yar's
Biana holdings, which dragged through the courts for many
years. The Financial Commissioner ruled, in 1857, that
Mahomed Yar was merely a life-tenant, as his father Ghulam
Mahayudin had never been acknowledged owner of a separate

estate. j

‘ In 1857 Nawab Mahomed Ali Khan responded to the
call of the Commissioner and placed the whole of his horse
and footmen at the disposal of Government. They were
stationed at Thanesar, and assisted in preserving order and
in supporting the executive authority. The Nawab's service
commutation payment was remitted for one year, and the
demand was permanently reduced by one-half. The family

_quarrels, which had been allowed to pend during the Mutiny,

~ broke out afresh in 1859. -Amongst other enormities, the

Nawab was charged with attempting to assassinate one of his
kinsmen. This accusation of course fell tothe ground. He
was next reported as being in league with the Wahabis of
Satana. The matter was enquired into, and the result was

communicated to the Nawab in a letter from Government to

the Commissioner, in which the following paragraph is deserv-.
ing of record :—** The Lieutenant-Governor requests you will

inform the Nawab that in the opinion of the Government, sofar

from the accusations made by informers having brought any
discredit on him, the enquiries made have resulted highly to
his honor as tending to show that, although efforts were
made to implicate him by sending the messenger of the



~ from him, these efforts proved whoIly unsuccessful.”
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‘fanatxcs to himon the osten51b1e plea of obmmmg chzmtys .

e

‘Nawab Mahomed Ali Khan's life was spent to the Iast
in defending himself against a series of wholly ground]ess
_attacks made by his numerous relatives. It will serve no
purpose to describe them here, and a mere list of the disputes
would be of no value to those who have access to the fuller
records of the public offices. But in the course of these
diSputeq, settled either judicially or by interference of the
execunve, certain matters were decided which deserve a shoxt
notice. The sons of Sher Ali Khan, granduncle of the
Ndeb were, in 1875, awarded a joint maintenance of Rs. 666
per annum by the Nawab, voluntarily at the sutrgec;tlo'
of the Commissioner of Dehli. Next, Faiz Mahomed K
son of the Nawab’s granduncle Ghulam Rasul, who dlédm‘:
1876, claimed to retain three wells in Kunjpura and an 'mnuxty‘
of Rs. 167 as his hereditary right, The case drc\gged on until
1884, when Sir Charles Aitchison consented to act as arbi-
trator. His Honor found that as Faiz Mahomed refused
compliance with the conditions as to service and obedience
to the Nawab, which are usual in the family on the part of
those who receive maintenance, he was not entitled to the
same amount as had been granted to others in the same
degree of relationship, and that Rs. 293-7 a year was a proper
sum for his maintenance.

A third dispute arose after the death of Mahomed Yar
Khan in 1882, on the application of his son Ahmad Hasan
t0 be recorded as jagirdar of Biana and owner of sundry
plots in that estate and in Kunjpura, He gained his suit in
so far as he was permitted to retain possession of the so-
called fort in Biana with a few acres of land in the neighbour-
hood, but the assigned revenue was declared to have revert-
ed to the Nawab. In addition, the Nawab’s estate has been
charged with a life-provision of Rs. 1,200 per annum. for,
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‘*‘“the‘qupport of his cousin Ahmad Hasan. I’mal]y, Nazar

‘ “‘Mahomed son of the Nawab's uncle Janbaz Khan, put in a
«claim for continuance to him of his deceased father's main-

Vt‘é‘nénce ‘allowance of Rs. 1,200 per annum. The de-
~ cision of the Lieutenant-Governor was communicated in ‘a
letter to the Commissioner of Dehli, dated the 2nd July,

1888, in which His Honor recorded his opinion that,

aCcording to precedents, “the allowance granted to the

~son of a Nawab of Kunjpura is reducible when he dies,

unless there is some special agreement or order of
Govemment or of the Courts to the contrary in any par-
ticular case.” The claimant was | ‘accordingly awarded a

life-a llowance of Rs. goo per annum, subject to deduction

‘of commutation and income tax, and to acquiescence in
. certain conditions which may be summarized as follows +—
That the grantee bring no suit against the Nawab, nor
‘a‘ttemp‘t to alienate or pledge his allowances, and that he
arknowledge the grant as strictly limited for the period
~ of his own life-time, his heirs having no claim whatever upon
, lahe estate.

Nawab Mahomed Ah Khm died in x886 His name

~* stood third on the list of Impendl Darbaris in the Dehli

Division. He had exerc:sed powers as a Magistrate and
 Civil Judge since 1860 within the limits of his estate. The
present Nawab Ibrahim Ali Khan, eldest surviving son

of Mahomed Ali Khan, is a minor, and his property has

come under the management of the District Court of Wards.

He is studying at the Aitchison College, The late Nawab

had arranged for the maintenance of his younger sons by
assigning them certain lands acquired for this purpose some-
time before his death. These boys are being educated
at Karnal.

The Kunjpura estate consists of jagir and revenue-pay-
ing lands in the Indri pargana of Karnal and'in the districts
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of Muzafarnagar and Saharanpur, as well as of numerous
houses in Karnal, Kunjpura, Indri and Taraori. At the last-
named place the Naweb is owner of the ancient Imperial
Sarai, a building of considerable,architectural‘ interf@gt ‘The
land-revenue assignments, after deducting one-sixteenth as
service commutation, are assessed at Rs. 27,673 per annum,
derived from thirty-eight villages, mainly in the Khadar
portion of the Indri pargana. In some of these villages the
revenue is shared with Sikh jagirdars., In Taraori, for instance,
the Sardar of Shamgarh takes two-fifths of the demand. The
proprietary holdings comprise twelve entire villages and por-
tions of forty-six villages. These yield a rental of Rs. 23,130
annuglly, while about Rs. 14,000 are received in the form
of House-rent, garden income and miscellaneous revenue. ‘

Further mention may be made of the Ghir Branch, now
represented by Ahmad Hasan Khan, grandnephew of Ghu-
lam Nabi. A portion of the Ghir lands had been held by
Jamiat Singh of Thanesar. The remainder was so badly
managed by Ghulam Nabi Khan that in 1837, on the com-,
plaint of the cultivators, his judicial powers were cancelled,
and in 1860, in lieu of jagir rights, his nephews were award-
ed a eash allowance of Rs. 4,000 per annum. This is still
paid from the district treasury, although the representatives
of GRulam Nabi persist in styling themselves jagirdars. The
existing arrangement is distinctly to their benefit, inasmuch
as the assessment of their old holding under the recent set-
tlement is considerably less than the pension they are per-
“mitted to en‘jc;y. Ahmad Khan’s name is on the Prdvin-
cial Darbar List.

The family branches of the Kunjpura Nawabs are so nu-
merous and their numbers so scattered that it becomes a
matter of .difficulty to trace up every individual. Many of
Najabat Khan's descendants have disappeared for years past
from the parent home, and have permanently severed their

r




‘ THE KARNAL DISTRICE. | Bl

‘connectmn wtth the head of the house. Ghulam Mahomed

Khan son of Game Khan, quarrelled with the Chief, after
‘the manner of his kinsmen, and settled at Panipat. His
children have married there and acquired lands. The line
of Ikhtiar Khan claims a distinguished representative in
Ghulam Ahmad Khan of Gwalior, Member of the Council of
Regency, and author of many Urdu works of great literary
merit.  His sons have received education at the Aligarh
College.

Two of Sher Ali Khans sons, nephews of Nawab Rah-‘
 mat Ali, have served Government. Ali Ahmad retired on
a Tahsildar's pension in 1889, and his brother Asghar Ali
still holds the post of Tahsildar in the Ambala district. No
other member of the family appears to have distinguished
himself in a public capacity. The system of splitting up the
allowances into even shares has extinguished in the holders
all natural desire to rise above the level of petty pensioners.
They are content to live in semi-poverty, preferring sloth
and personal ease to the honest ambition which secures to per-
sons less favoured by birth the larger share of the loaves and
fishes of this life.



CHIEFS ANDMMIL ES OF NOTE.

'BI-TAI JASMIR SINGH OF ARNAULI.

P A A A A A A

DiAL SiNGH.

‘ [
Gurbakhsh Singh,

d. 1766,
‘ 1 s |
ﬂucl’ha . Dhalna. (}ur(]hs Desu éingh Takhat IS' h S]kha |
: ] ! I ! Qukha |
Singh. Singh. Singh, Wi s / | i siungii. ‘
: ' I Dal Singh. l ‘
Kar Chasai Bhal . A
Karam barat a Lal Gurdit Basawa
/Singh, Singh, Singh, Bingh. Singh. S?;‘Zh,
l d. 1823,
T I |
Partab Ude Singh, i
e Singh. d, 1843
. b 1824,

| b il | v
Bahadar Panjab LT Gulab Kahan Sangat Singh,

| Singhe Smgh - Singh, Singh, d. 1849.
i L d. 1845,
v Anokh Singh,

“ it i ‘ ‘ b 1834.‘

A I
Buai Jasmir SIiNGH, Nao Nahal Smgh.

~ The Bhais of Kaithal are an important family, whose past
history is much interwoven with that of Patiala and the net-
work of minor chiefships which were spread out between the
Jamna and the Satlaj when Lord Lake first established him-
self at Dehli. They are of the same original stock as the
Phulkians, going back to the celebrated Rajput Jasal, whose
appearance is a matter almost of obligation in the pedigree table
of a respectable Malwai Jat. Dhar, son of Sidhu, was. the
_immediate ancestor of the Kaithal family, as well as of the
houses of Sadhwal, Jhumba and Arnauli. He settled at Ba-
tinda about the middle of the fourteenth century ; and his son
Manak Chand founded the existing village of Bhuler and
acquired many others around Batinda. Manak’s grandson
Bhagtu was a disciple of Guru Arjan, and was called Bias,
a title still used by the family, which has had a semi-religious
status ever since the days of Bhagtu. The next man of note
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was Gurbakhsh ‘-Imgh who flourished in the time of the
Patiala Raja Ala Singh and was his fast friend. He wasa
fine soldier, with very little of the saintly Bkaé about him.
He and Ala Singh joined forces and went on many expedi-
tions together, annexing villages on all sides and sharing the
spoils. On the death of Gurbakhsh Singh in 1760, his pos-
sessions passed to his six sons, of whom Budha Singh, the eld-

est, became a greater warrior, seizing the districts of T hanesar L

and Pihoa, and building himself a strong fort at Kahod,
which he made his head-quarters. His brother, Bhai Desu ‘
Singh, captured Kaithal from the Afghan owners Bikh
Balkhsh and Niamat Khan, and he stripped the Sayads of’
their Pondri lands. The brothers were afterwards attacked
by the celebrated Thanesar Sardar Bhanga Singh, the fierc-
est and most feared of all the Cis-Satlaj Chiefs of his time.
Bhanga Singh made a sudden descent upon Thanesar, in
which were two forts, held respectively by Budha Singh and by
a Rajput Chief named Nathae Khan. The latter surrendered
after a weak attempt at resistance; but the Bhais held out, and
their stronghold was only won by a stratagem some years
later. The Sadhwal Sardars were finally driven out of the
Thanesar district in the time of Desu Singh’s son Lal Singh.
This latter Chief had been for some years on bad terms with
his father, who had placed him in confinement, being anxious
that the estates should pass to the younger brother Bahal
Singh. But Lal Singh managed to get free, and after kill-
ing Bahal Singh secured the whole patrimony for himself.
He proved the greatest of all the Sadhwal Chiefs, and was re-
garded as the most powerful of the Cis-Satlaj Sardars, after
the Raja of Patiala, at the time of the British advance north-
wards in 180g. FHe is described as having been a very able
man, though utterly untrustworthy, and so violent and un-
scrupulous that the English authorities had the great-

est difficulty in' persuading him to preserve order in

his territories. He acquired immense tracts of country by
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plundermg his ne1ghbours on all sides ; and he succeeded m.
regaining possession of much-coveted Thanesar after he had
been kept out of possession for many years by his old enemy
Bhanga Singh. He waited upon General Ochterlony, and
having offered his assistance in the Gurkha War, was liberally
treated, and was allowed to retain the Ilakas of Chausatha and
Gohana, under condition of furnishing five hundred sowars,
for whose support eight additional villages were set apart. He
joined the British in the pursuit of Jaswant Rao Holkar up

to the Satlaj border, and received a Sanad acknowledging his

services in connection with the treaty made on that occasion
with Maharaja Ranjit Singh. In 1819, he was allowed to suc-

_ceed to the share of the family estate held by a childless widow

of his cousin Karam Singh, which under the rules was justly
an escheat to the Government. Hehad beena firm ally all his
life of the Raja Bhag Singh of Jind, and on more than one .
occasion had come to his assistance in repelling the attacks
of George Thomas, the celebrated Hansi adventurer.

Sardar Lal Singh’s son, Ude Singh, was of very differ-
ent calibre. He was a weak-minded youth, without ambition,
and without the energy to keep what his father had acquired.
During his Chiefship the disorder and affrays on the Kajthal
frontier became so serious, stopping all trade and disturbing
the peace of the whole country, that a strong remonstrance

. was addressed to him and the neighbouring Sardars, .who

were in a measure jointly responsible for the good govern-
ment of the district. Things were in this state when Bhai Ude
Singh died childless in 1843. The Chiefship, with territory
yielding one lakh of rupees, representing the acquisitions of
Gurbaksh Singh, the original founder of the family, was con®
ferred upon Bhais Gulab Singh and Sangat Singh of Arnauli,
collaterals of the deceased in the third generation. The re-
mainder of the estate, including Kaithal, which had been ac-

‘quired by Lal Singh and other members of the family fol-

lowing Bhai Gurbakhsh, valued at four lakhs per annum, fell
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~ asan escheat to the British. Government. » This lapse was
‘ highly distasteful to the Phulkian Chiefs, who, as relatives of
the deceased, were naturally desirous of retaining’ the. possess
sions in the family. They were also fearful that the -prece-
dent might at some future day be used against themselves;
for at that time their dominions had not been gqaranteed 1o
them by Sanads, in the event of failure of heirs. The Rajas
of Patiala, Jind and Nabha accordingly sent special agents to
Kaithal for the purpose of protesting before Mr. Greathead,
specially deputed to carry out the Government orders, against
the alleged act of spoliation. They were, however, ultimately
re-called, and nothing was left to the Kaithal Council but
to submit to the Paramount Power. But knowin g that they
had with them the sympathies of the Sikh Chiefs, and instigat-
ed probably by secret intrigue, the people of ' Kaithal broke
out into insurrection while the matter of taking possession
was still pending, and the town and fort had to be captured at

the point of the bayonet. :
‘ The present representatives are Bhai Jasmir Singh, son
of Gulab Singh, and Bhai Andkh Singh, son of Sangat Singh.
They behaved loyally in both the Sikh Wars and again in
_ the Rebellion of 1857. 'Bhai Anokh Singh in this latter
crisis placed himself at the head of a body of horse and foot
of his own raising, and helped to patrol the road between
Ambala and Dehli. Jasmir Singh’s services were also
valuable. They were rewarded with the remission of one
year’s commutation charge, Rs. 3,577, on their estates : and
the demand was reduced by one-half during the lifetime of
the Sardars. |

Bhai Jasmir Singh lives at Arnauli, and Bhai Anokh
Singh at Sadhowal., They exercise civil and criminal judi-
cial powers within the limits of their estates, and they take
the lead on the list of Viceregal Darbaris of the Karnal dis-
trict. Jasmir Singh’s jagir income is Rs. 14,600 annually,
and that of Anokh Singh, Rs. 20,200, ‘
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Azmat Ali Khan, titular Nawab of Kamal is the head of

' ‘that section of the Mandals which was found by Lord Lake
in 1804, established on the eastern bank of the Jamna in

‘gertain tracts included in the modern districts of Mirut and
Muzafarnagar.

The Mandals of the Jamna Doab are descnbed in the
early British records as Pathans, and are usually so classed
in official documents to the present day; but Mr. Ibbetson,
a high authority, considers that they are of Jat origin. They
came, it is said, from the ancient town of Samana in Patiala,
where several branches of the clan are still living; and the
leading members still hold considerable grants from the
Patiala Chiefs, under whom they have freely taken service.
Samana was a place of importance in the fifteenth century,
and its rulers appear for a time to have asserted their inde-'
pendence of the Lodi Kings, and even to have held the
southern country up to the walls of Panipat.

The traditions of the Kaithal border suggest that in the
confusion which marked the close of the seventeenth century
the Mandals, pressed by the Sikhs under Banda, their Bairagi

leader, moved from Samana to the neighbourhood of Piho-
wa, on the Saraswati stream. The remains of one of their
forts are still to be seen at Murtazapur, between Pihowa and
Thanesar. From the Thanesar tract they appear to have
been dislodged by the Sikh misals, and in 1805 we find them
settled in the Saharanpur district, having for neighbour Raja
Bhanga Singh of Thanesar. In 1804 the confederacy head-
ed by the Rajas of Ladwa and Thanesar, which had con-
tinued to oppose the British forces in the field, was finally
broken ; and in March 1805 a conditional amnesty was pro-
claimed for all but the Ladwa Chief, followed by steps for
transplanting to the right or western bank of the Jamna those
troublesome bands whose presence in the Dehli provinces was
deemed undesirable on political grounds. The Mandals
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were included in the list for deportation on the recommenda-@‘f

| tion of Lord Lake, who, in April 1806, reported that they:
‘had agreed to give up their 7a¢dad lands in the Jamna Doab

in exchange for the pargana of Karnal, which would be held
by the present heads of the family in jagir, and by their
descendants on istamrari tenure, The jazdad or military fief
referred to was claimed under a grant which Sherudin thm,l
Mandal, obtained in 1779, from Farkhunda Bakht of Dehli, i

‘when that Prince vainly attempted to arouse the patriotism of

the Mahomedan Chiefs of the Jamna provinces in opposing

| the advancing Mahrata hordes. The Sanad under which they |

hold is said to bear the seal of the Imperial Minister Nawab
Majidudaula Abdul Abad ; but the title was regarded at the
time as of doubtful value, and from Sir David Ochterlony’s
correspondence there appears to have been a desire to iénore
it and hand over the Karnal pargana, on the expulsion of the
Ladwa force, to Raja Bhag Singh of Jind. The Mandals
were, however, finally recognised as owners of the parganas
of Muzafarnagar, Shoran and Chitrawal, which on the death
of Sherudin, the original grantee, were given to his brother
Mahomed Khan by Daulat Rao Sindia, on condition of main-
taining a body of two hundred horsemen for military service.
When the transfer was arranged by Lord Lake, the Mandals
in possession were Mahomed Khan, his nephew Mahomed
Ishak, and his cousin Ghairat Ali. The sixty-three villages
thus assigned them in the Karnal pargana were estimated
to yield Rs. 48,000 per annum ; and in order to induce them
to accept the exchange the more readily, they were allowed
to hold such portions of the pargana ‘as had not already
been given to other settlers, Mahomed Khan was further
allowed to retain a small jagir in Muzafarnagar, which had
been assigned to him personally for services rendered. It
was on the express application of ‘the Mandals that Govern-
ment accorded the additional privilege, by order dated gth
April, 1806, of allowing the heirs of the three Chiefs to

¥
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] 5‘;t:oﬁt‘iﬁué to hold on ‘an istamrari tenure, subject ‘“to pay~
ment of an annual rent of Rs. 15,000 of the current coin.’

Violent quarrels broke out amongst the three assignees
. shortly after they had been put in possession of the grant ;
and this led in 1807 to a partition of the villages, under a
deed attested by the Resident of Dehli, according to the
following estimated annual value :—

_ Rs.
Mahomed Khan . .. i S daoloto
Ghairat Ali i e Ju 12000
Ishak Khan L G i iri000

The city of Karnal and one or two other estates were
still held joint,

The Karnal fort was taken from the Mandals in 1809
‘under Lord Lake's orders; a compensation payment of
Rs. 4,000 having been made for disturbance of possession, It
- was used for military purposes until the Cantonment was
abandohed, and it then passed under the civil control, and
was assigned to the department of Education for the accom-
modation of a school. In 1886 it again changed hands, and
is now occupied as a Tahsil.

In 1844 the Lieutenant-Governor of the North-Western
Provinces marched through what was then known as the
Mandal pargana, and was so impressed with the state of dis-
order, arising out of the perpetual struggles between the own-
ers and the cultivators, that he deputed Mr. Gubbins to effect
a settlement, which was completed in 1847, and sanctioned
for a period of five years. At the end of this term heavy
arrears had accumulated, and Mr. J. G. Ross was appointed
to revise the assessments. His final proposals were ready
in 1856, but the events of the following year prevented the

- passing of orders, and soon afterwards the pargana became
a portion of the Panjab. Mr. Ross's assessment was thus
not sanctioned until 1860, The Government of the Panjab
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in acceptmg his settlement took occasion to record that the

Mandals were merely assignees of the revenue ; and their

rights did not extend to the management of the land, except
in those estates, twenty-four in number, in which they had
acquired entire ownership. o

The following note by Mr. Ibbetson, late Settlement
Officer, shows how the fortunes of the Mandals have fallen
since their removal to Karnal in furtherance of the policy
of Lord Cornwallis, which had for its object the delegation
of our rights beyond the Jamna to a number of petty Chiefs
who were to be entrusted with the keeping of the qu‘th-W-‘estw‘
border. However advantageous such a policy may have
proved ‘to the Paramount Power, it has' evidently in no
way bettered the position of Sherudin's successors :—* The
constant and bitter disputes which have been rife amdng
the Mandals ever since their first settlement in Karnal,
have had the eftect which might have been expected upon
their position as a family. Other causes, too, have contri-
buted to their decay. As each generation increased the num-
ber of the family, the sons, all sharing in the inheritance of
the father, not only were relieved from the necessity of earn-
i1 g their livelihood, but also felt it incumbent upon them to
keep as far as possible the style which was traditional in the
family on a reduced income which was quite insufficient for
the purpose. Being almost without exception unqducated
they fell wholly into the hands of unscrupulous band of rapa-
cious stewards, who found their interest in introducing them
to money-lenders as unscrupulous as themselves.” The deca-
dence of the famlly began early. In 1817 Sir Charles
Metcalfe wrote :—

“ They have suffered much since they were established
in Karnal ; and the period of their transfer from the Doab
was the commencement of the decline of their prosperity.
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. Their respectability, in all external appearances, has been
‘dwindling away before my eyes in the course of the last ten
years. It may be said with justice that their decline is in
| some measure owing to their owr mismanagement as
they received an extensive district capable of great improve-
ment, - It must, however, be admitted that something
unfavorable in the change must also have operated ; other-
wise why did not their mismanagement ruin them in the
Doab, where I remember meeting them in 1805, equip-
ped in a style of considerable pomp and splendour. Their
present appearance is very different ; and their tone to me,
since 1806, has mvanably been that of complaint.”

- Of course the position of a jagirdar was, as pointed out
by Mr. Fraser, very different under Native and British rule ;
and this difference would have been felt even if the Mandals
had remained in the Doab. Inpoint of mere income, they
have considerably benefited, the present revenue of the par-
gana being Rs. 65,265, as against Rs. 25,000 (after deduct-
mg nazarana), when the estates were made over to the family
in 1806,

The late head of the Mandal house, Nawab Ahmad Ali
Khan, rendered loyal services in 1857, and these were duly
acknowledged in a letter from Lord Canning to the Chief
Commissioner of the Panjab in the following terms :—‘‘ His
Lordshipris of opinion that the liberality of Government in
the acknowledgment of the Nawab’s services should be as
- upstinted as his support and assistance have been unhesitat-
ing. The Nawab’s services have been most valuable, as
testified by all officers, both Civil and Military, who have had
‘an opportunity of forming a judgment on the subject. From
the first, the Nawab openly and fearlessly espoused the cause
of the British Government, and his acts have been through-
out in accordance with his professions. He neither spared

.
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: personal exertions nor withheld material aid, but free]y‘ placed
‘all his establishments and all his resources at our disposal.

Conduct such as this calls for marked recognition. The
Governor-General, theréfore, is pleased to direct that the
quit-rent of Rs. 5,000 now paid by him be remitted to
the Nawab and heirs, male, of his body lawfully begotten
in perpetuity, and that a khilat of Rs. 10,000 be conferred
upon him in as public and honorable a manner as possible.
His Lordship also requests that you will deliver to the Nawab
the accompanying Sanad, acknowledging the conspicuous
loyalty of his conduct and the value of the service performed
by him in placing his resources at the disposal of the British
Government.” In 1860 Nawab Ahmad Ali Khan was appoint-
ed an Honorary Assistant Commissioner in the Karnal district,
and he exercised revenue and magisterial powers up to the
time of his decease. He died in 1867, and was succeeded
by his son Nawab Azmat Ali Khan, the present head of the
family. Besides the present Nawab, there are two sons,
Rustam Ali Khan and Umar Daraz Ali Khan, by a lady
known as Lali Begum, who, in 1872, claimed a share for her
children and herself in the property and emoluments of the
Jate Nawab. It was then held in the Chief Court that there
existed a custom excluding widows from inheritance, but that
there was none excluding younger sons from inheritance, or
reducing their share below that of their elder brothers. It was
further held that sons of concubines legitimatised by acknow-
ledgment, although the marriage of their mothers might not

. be proved, were entitled to inherit under the grants of 1806

and of 1858. Under orders of the Chief Court, a manager
was appointed for receiving the share decreed to the half-
brothers in the person of Kazi. Ahmad Shah, a Sayad of:
Taraori, in the Karnal district, since deceased. The younger
brothers have been fairly educated, and they are now manag-
ing their own estates.
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“‘"I‘he Jagtr and pmvate property of the Nawab in the

~ Karnal district were divided by a quasi-official proceeding W

_in_.1884. The same partition dealt with the property h@ld 0 |
1by him in proprietary right in the districts of Muzafarga-

. gar and Mirut, as well as sundry rights in lands and houses
in Dehli. The income of the three brothers is understood to‘ A

dtand at date as follows :— .
Nawab Azmat Ali Khan—

Jagir in Karnal b M 6,110 per annum.
Jagir in the North-Western Provinces  ,, 3,087 o

- Propriétary rights in land Lh e gy i
Rent from houses i A 4,371 i

Rustam Ali Khan and Umar Daraz Ali—

Jdglr in Karnal e JIRs, 12,128 per annum,
Jagir in the North-Western Provmces e 6,174 i
Proprietary rights in land T G B b
Rent from houses iy S 8,629 a0

Nawab Azmat Ali Khan is a Viceregal Darbcm, ranking
‘smth on the Dehli Divisional List.

The representative of Mahomed Ishak is Shamsher Ali
Kban, born in 1839. His jagir holdings under the recent
assessments yield Rs. 6,307 per annum, and are spread over

thirteen villages of the Karnal Tahsil. He is also owner of |

two entire villages and of portions of eight others. He was

elected Chairman of the Local Board of Karnal in 1885 ; and o

was nominated President of the Municipal Committee in 1884.
To the latter office he was re-elected in 1889. He has on
different occasions received official acknowledgment of ser-
vices rendered in matters of local improvement, such as
vaccination and education, and he was recently invested with
a khilat in general recognition of his services at a Darbar held
by His Honor the Licutenant-Governor of the Panjab at
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Dehli in 1888. His name is on the list of Provincial Dar-
baries. Fatah Mahomed Khan, son of Mahar Ilahi Khan,
also is a Provincial Darbari. Hisjagir share in twelve villages
is valued at Rs. 2,385 annually, and he has ownership rights
in two villages of the Karnal Tahsil. He is understood to be
gradually clearing the estate of the heavy load of debt with
 which his father burdened it. His uncle Karm Ilahi Khan is
also a Provincial Darbari. He holds a jagir of value equiva-
lent to that of Fatah Mahomed Khan, and, like him, is
weighted with heavy debts.

Azam Ali Khan succeeded his father Ghulam Rasul in
1880, and enjoys a jagir of Rs. 9,106 spread over seventeen
villages. He is reported to have no proprietary holdings.
The deceased Ghulam Rasul left heavy encumbrances
on his estate, the bulk of which were notoriously based on
very inadequate consideration. Azam Ali Khan contested his
liability for these debts, and after litigation which has lasted
since 1881, a decision was given by the Chief Court of
the Panjab in the plaintiff's favour. His son Zafar Hasan
Khan is now studying in the Aitchison College, Lahore.

_ The Chief Court decision in the case brought by Azam
Ali to contest his liability for his father's debts is one of the
deepest importance for the whole Mandal family; and it has
now been definitely settled :— :

I.—That the Mandal grantis essentially a jagir, and that
the term istamrar refers only to certain special
incidents, notably the continuing character of the
assignment and the condition of a fixed amount,
by way of fee or quit-rent, payable to the State
by the assignee.

1].-~That each descendant of the original grantees on
succeeding to a share takes a fresh estate through,
but not from, the preceding holder ; in other
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words, that each fresh sharer takes from the
Crown and not from his immediate predecessor

in the jagir.

IIT.—That the power of sharers to deal with their
holdings beyond the term of their proper lives
depends strictly on the terms of the Sanads of
1806, and not on those of any regulations which
may have been in force in the Karnal pargana
in the year in question.

IV.—That a sharer in the jagir is not competent to
create a valid charge thereon so as to encumber
the income beyond the period of his individual
life-time. ‘ ;

Sadat Ali Khan, son of Kutabudin Khan and great-
grandson of Ghairat Ali Khan, is at the head of the third
or youngest branch of the family. His jagir income is
Rs. 5,485 per annum. He holds seven entire villages and
shares in three others, all in the Karnal Tahsil, subject to
a commutation payment of Rs. 1,250 per annum. He also

. owns portions of the villages of Goli and Waisri in Panipat.

~ The proprietary rights of his father in seven villages were
attached and sold some years back in execution proceedings’;;
with the sanction of the Chief Court. These were acquired
partly by a certain banker of the town of Karnal and in part
by the late Nawab Mahomed Ali Khan of Kunjpura,

Sadat Ali’'s branch of the family also holds a feudal
grant from the Patiala State, in the original Samana tract,
valued at Rs. 6,000 per annum. A suit in regard to this
property was brought in the Patiala Courts in 1864 by
Najabat Ali against the late Kutabudin. He sued to have
the defendant restrained from mortgaging his share on the
ground of injury to his, plaintiff's, co-parcenary interests,
The decision was adverse to Najabat Ali Khan,




Durmg 1857 Kutabudm Khan was prompt in bomplymg{j,

‘ ,‘ w:th the requisitions of the Civil authorities at Karnal and =

Pampat for supplies and carriage, and he furnished sowars
for patrolling duty on the Trunk Road near Larsauli, and in
other ways proved actively loyal. Ten of his sowars were

_ employed under Government until April 1858.

In 1868 Sadat Ali Khan accepted the post of‘Excié'e.‘
mobharir of the Larsauli Tahsil. He also served as a judi-
cial moharir, but he resigned in 1870, and was subsequéntlyu »
accepted as a candidate for the post of Naib- Tahsﬂdar. He

[ was recommended later on for a Tahsildarship, but he ap-

- pears to have failed to pass the prescribed examination, and
. he has not therefore re-entered the public service up to the

. present. He has made hxs abode at Dehli, and rarely v151ts‘ i

' his home in Karnal, Sadat Ali’s name is on the Dehli D1v1 ‘

' sional List of Vlceregal Darbaris.

The remaining grandsons of Ghairat Al Khan are
Najabat Ali Khan, Kamarudin Khan, and Akbar Khan, all

resident at Karnal, and all Provincial Darbaris. They are

- reported to be hopelessly involved in debt, and to have sunk
. into comparative obscurity. Their shares in the family j Jagxr
are Rs. 4,815, Rs. 3,233 and Rs. 3,898 respectively.
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HAZURY SINGH.
Dharam Singh,
Sardar Sabib Singh,
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Sardar Natha Singh,  Lakha Singh, Rai Singh,
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Sardar Amar Singh,
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|
Atar Singh,
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. Dhaja Singh Gafindat Sthgh

aja Sing il ajindar oing
4 1885 : b 1887

Sardar Ujal Singh is at the head of th& Dhanaura famdy
in succession to his father Dava Singh, whose two younger
brothers, Chabil Singh and Ranjit Singh, are joint sharers

_ with Ujal Singh in the family estates. Their ancestor Hazuri |
Smgh, an Upal Khatri of the Karora Singhia Misal, lived
“at Panjgarhin Amritsar, and was one of the first of the Manjha
people to adopt Sikhism. His son Sada Singh came south
and took military service under Raja Amar Singh of Patiala ‘
in 1770, receiving as his reward a quarter share in forty-eight
villages in the neighbourhood of Dhanaura, He afterwards
conquered seven villages on his own account, and established
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his head-quarters at Dhanaura. He was succeeded by his
nephew Sahib Singh. On his death in 1846 there was a dis-
pute amongst his three sons regarding the succession ; and
the estate was divided equally under Government orders
passed in 1848. The family behaved loyally in the Sikh
wars and agaip in the Mutiny. Sardars Natha Singh and
Amar Singh placed themselves, in 1857, under the orders of
the Deputy Commissioner, with a body of horse of their own
raising, and in reward one-half of their commutation charge
was remitted for ever. ‘ ‘

Shortly after Sardar Dava Singh's death, in 1878, his
brothers Chabil Singh and Ranjit Singh applied for a partition
of the shares of the estate. This was opposed by Sardar Ujal
Singh, who claimed the whole for himself, based upon an
alleged custom in the family, under which youtnger brothers
were only entitled to maintenance. The matter was fought
out in all the Courts, and a decision was ultimately pro-
nounced in favour of the younger brothers,

Ujal Singh holds the title of Sardar in hereditary right
as a conquest jagirdar. His name is on the Viceregal Darbar
List, and he has the privilege of being exempted from personal
attendance in our Civil Courts. He has recently been accept-
ed as a candidate for a Naib-Tahsildarship. His son Atar
Singh holds a scholarship at the Aitchison College. The
family are in very straitened circumstances. '

His cousin the late Sardar Amar Singh, Chief of the- -
Labkari family, died in 1887, leaving his affairs in an embar-
rassed condition. Amar Singh’s eldest son Sundar Singh died
in the year following, leaving an infant son, Man Singh, whose
estate has been taken under the management of the District
Court of Wards, Sodhi Gajindar Singh of Anandpur, a rela-
tive on the female side, has been appointed guardian of the
minor Sardar, who is a Viceregal Darbari. The Dhanaura
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p operty is shared amongst the relatlves as follows .———Sard‘hr‘ ;

|  Ujal Siagh and his two brothers, one-third ; Chabil Singh

- and Ranjit Singh, each one-third. The joint family estate
| ‘ﬁonsxsts of five entire villages and two- thirds of Dhanaura.
- The remaining one-third of Dhanaura, with Labkari and two
other villages, belong to the children of Sardar Amar Smgh
the value of whose j jagir under the recent assessment is Rs.
2,985 per annum, For services rendered in 1857 the Sardar
~ and his uncle Natha Singh were awarded the remission of
 their commutation tax at Rs. 925 for one year, and the charge
,was permanently reduced by one-half.
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SARDAR RAM SINGH OF SHAMGARH.

. Karrar SINGH, d. 1830,
| |

i el i
Daya Singh, Jai Singh. Fatah Singh,
d 1849, | | o i
| Sham Singh,
| i il d. 1884,
Kahan Singh, SARDAR RAM SINGH, I
d. IIS%“ ! o 1834. : Sampuran Singh.
W [ ] J 1 Jasa Singh,
Rirpa Singh, Bhug Singh, Gurbakhsh Singh, Gurdit Singh, b, 18844
e T L o T 4. 1869, b,1857, . 4
j | ‘
, | i G
Gurbakhsh Singh, Gursaran Singh,
b, 1877, 6, 1882,

The ancestor of the family, Sardar Karpal Singh, came
from the neighbourhood of Batinda in 1770, and received the
village of Shamgarh from Sahib Singh, Sardar of Ladwa,
who had married his sister. He joined Sahib Singh in most
of his expeditions, and received a share of whatever plunder
was taken. His daughter Bhag Bhari married Kanwar Partab
' Singh of Jind, who gave her the village of Asand Talwan in
dowry. Karpal Singh was on the occasion presented with
five villages in the Jind dlstnct of Safidon ; but these were
_ afterwards resumed by Raja Sarup Singh. He died in 1830,
leaving two sons, Dava Singh and Fatah Singh.

His daughter married Shahzada Shibdeo Smgh son of
the late Maharaja Sher Singh of Lahore, residing in Bareily.
The latter received the villages of Saga, Kurak and Jatpura ;
_and his descendant Sampuran Singh is the present jagirdar of
Saga, The rest of the Shamgarh estate passed to Sardar
Ram Singh, only surviving son of Dava Singh, and now at the
head of the Shamgarh family. His estates consist of six
entire villages and two-fifths of mauza Taraori, yielding an
income of Rs. 3,450, subject to a commutation charge of
Rs. 426 in lieu of service. He is a Viceregal Darbari. He
and his brother Kahan Singh did good service in the Mutiny,




d were allowed 4 remxssxon of the commutatmn for one year,*
Surdit Singh, son of Sardar Ram Singh, is a candxd'tte for
‘employment as a Naib-Tahsildar. The Shamgarh Sardar
is connected by marriage with the Raja of Nabha, the
| f}Sardar of Lidhran, and the jagirdars of Mustafabad in the
- Ambala district.  Although the present means of the family
are not large, the Sardar enjoys considerable Iocal mﬂuence.f“_
*He is a member of the District Board, and takes an 1nterest
L all ‘matters of local improvement. The village of Bhamt L
| ‘Khurd is held by Sardar Kahan Singh's widow, a lady of h)gh,‘
repute in Sikh circles as an enthu51ast1c supporter of the tradl-'";f |

thI’lS of the Khalsa,

W el




NAWAB FAZAL AHMAD KHAN OF PANIPA‘ ‘
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share, ' ‘ i
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Nasir Ahmad . Fakir Ahmad Shakar Ahmad
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‘The Nawab Fazal Ahmad Khan of Pampat succeeded‘
hls father Amanula Khan in r889 This latter gentleman,
‘ who died at the age of cighty-one years, was one of the
*,leadmg Mahomedans in the Karnal district, and was widely
known and respected, He had acted for many years as an
- Honorary Magistrate and member of the local Municipal
Committee. He was forward on all occasions in offers of
assistance to the district authorities, and during the Mutiny he
was actlvely loyal, helpmg to the best of his ability in pre-
_serving order in his native town and in furmshmg supplies
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for the ‘troops before Dehli. He was the recognized head of
‘the Panipat Ansaris, or Helpers of the Prophet, who trace

their descent from Khwaja Abdula Pir of Hirat, one of whose =

children, Khwaja Malak Alj, in the reign of Sultan Alaudin
Musud, grandson of Shamshudin Altamash, migrated to Dehli,
_andfinally fixed his abode at Panipat. Thefamilyis undoubtedly
of great respectability, being one of the very few in the Pro-
vince able to prove beyond dispute that the highest offices in
the old Mahomedan Empire were held by their ancestors for
several generations, Khwaja Nasir, son of Malak Ali, ob-
tained the hand of Faradausa, only daughter of Jalaludin, head ‘
of the locally celebrated family of Makhdumzadas, with whom
the Ansaris still intermarry ; and with her he secured a
portion of the Panipat lands ever since owned by the family.

Twelve generations after Khwaja Nasir we find Abdul Razak = |

holding a high military command under Shah Alamgir. One
of his sons, Muayanudaula Dalerdil Khan, was for some years
Viceroy of the Kabul Provinces ; another son, Zakaria, was

Governor of Lahore at the time of Nadar Shah’s invasion ; f o
and a third, Lutfula, held at different times the offices of tutor =

to Azim Shah, Warder of the Fort of Dehli, and Diwan to
three successive Emperors. Mahomed Shah appointed him
a Shash Hazari with the title of Shamsudaula, and he be-
came Subadar of Multan, eventually succeeding his brother as
Governor in Kabul. He spent considerable sums in the
embellishment of his native town of Panipat, building the
Lahore Gate and several mosques which are still in existence.

* Shakarula, fourth son of Abdul Razak, was Governot of
Malwa during the reign of Bahadar Shah, with the rank of
Shash Hazard and a salary of two and half lakhs per annum.
Inayat Khan, son of Lutfula, was a Bakhshi and Naib Khan-
saman under Mahomed Shah. He enjoyed the title of
Rasikhul Itikad, and with it a salary of Rs. 84,000 per
annum, His son lzat Khan drew the same pay as in
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charge of the elephant estabhshments and ulumately retlred ‘
from public life in order to look after his jagir estates in
Shahjahanabad and Banares. These were seized later on by
Alawardi Khan who, however, afterwards released one
hundred villages in his favour in the Bahar Province. Izat
Khan died at Patna in 1802, thirty-seven _Years after the
authority had passed into the hands of the Enghsh Company,
and was succeeded by his third son Nawab Bakar Ali Khan,
who returned to the parent home at Panipat and distinguished
himself by loyally assisting the British when Dehli and the
surrounding territory was first brought under our Rule. He
was followed in 1837 by the late Nawab Amanula Khan, of
whom mention has already been made,

The present incumbent, Fazal Ahmad Khan, has been
favourably known to the authorities for many years past,
having acted for his father who, by reason of chronic illness,
was personally unable to occupy the position his rank and
reputation had secured him, The Nawab is President of
the Panipat Municipal Committee and member of the Local
and District Boards. He also actively interests himself in
several local charities, including the Islamia Free School,
- with which he is unofficially associated. He owns alarge
zamindari property at Mor Manorat, and he enjoys estates,
revenue-free, in Mor Gobardhan and Bakhtiarpur, all in the
Patna district. He has also istamrari rights in lands in
~ the Panipat and Sonepat Tahsils,

There are numerous branches of the Ansari Shekhs
settled at Panipat in the present day. Many of the family
are in service, especially in the States of Central and Southern
India. But the minute sub-division of their holdings under
tbe Mahomedan law of inheritance and the disputes
 constantly arising in connection with the rights of the purdah
ladies, have brought most of the members down to a common
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|
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. Sardar Tilok Singlh’s ancestor Bhag Singh, Sukarchak1a, ‘
left his home in Bhara, Amritsar, to join the standard of
Dhara Rao, a Mahrata adventurer, who towards the close of
. the last century had gathered around him some of the best
' blood of the Manjha, and dominated the country between
" Dehli and Patiala. Tt was this Dhara Rao who @ sold
‘his services to the celebrated Diwan Nanu Mal of Patiala,
“and who, in concert with Raja Gajpat Singh of Jind, was the
means of restoring the exiled Diwan, and with him his
young master, the Raja Sahib Singh, to power in Patiala,
Dhara Rao rewarded Bhag Singh’s services with the grant of
V‘the Sikri Ilaka, consisting of six villages, taken from Sardar
‘Bhanga Singh of Thanesar. Bhag Singh afterwards acted
_as agent for the Cis-Satlaj Chiefs at Agra. He rendered
/ ‘hims‘e]f useful to the British officials in the early days, and the
revenues of three villages in the Dehli pargana were assign-
ed him on a life-tenure in acknowledgment of his services.
On his death, in 1807, a life-pension of Rs. 1,800 per annum
was sanctioned for this son Mahtab Singh. Sardar Lahna
Singh was at the head of the family during the Mutiny. He
behaved loyally, and his services were recognized at the time.
The present Sardar Tilok Singh is heavily in debt, and the
matter of placmg his estates in the hands of the District Court
of Wards is under consideration. His jagir income, under
the new assessment, is worth Rs. 3,022 per annum.



. SARDAR INDAR SINGH OF BARTHAL.
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| ‘ Nirbhan Singh. b
Ishex Singh,
i : Chatar Singh, j Gt
! ! i d. 1884 i i

|
INDAR SINGH,
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The ancestors of the Barthal Sardar were Sekhon ]ats,f
‘who came independently with the Dalawalias from the Panjab 0
~ towards the end of the eighteenth century and fell shortly'
,‘afterwards under the supremacy of the Ladwa Chiefs. |

 Sardar Chatar Smgh was the ﬁrst of the famﬂy to whom :

was accorded the honor of a seat in provincial Darbars. He

died in 1884, leaving his affairs in dn embarrassed condition.
His only son Indar Singh has been taken under the protec-
. tion of the Court of Wards, and an economical scheme of
. management has been sanctioned with the Ob_]eCt of freemg |
‘ the estate from encumbrances. : .

; The Sardar holds th<, entire vﬂlages of Barthal Dheru,
‘Mazra and Nilo Khen, yielding Rs. 1,750 per annum, reve-
nue-free.  To this may be added an estimated annual income:
of Rs. 200 from rents of land held in proprietary title. The
house property is of little value, consisting chiefly of a decayed

fort and keep in the village of Barthal.
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EHE AMBATA DISTRICT.

o

N

Mr. A. Kensington, late Settlement Officer, has pre“-‘
pared the note which follows, sketching the present posp‘ ‘
tion of the leading families in Ambala :— .

The first esantial feature to be grasped is that by its geographical
posmon the present Ambala district was long destined to feel the eftects of
every important campaign in Northern Indla Hemmed in on one side by
the hills and on the other by the great jungle tracts bordering on the Raj
putana desert, Ambala was the central spot through or near which every
horde of mvaders was bound to pass on the way to the battle-ground of
India at Panipat, with Dehli as its ultimate goal, This main fact is still re-
flected in the character of the village population. Placed in the direct track =
of successive mvaslons, they appear to have been ground down till they lost
all power of resistance to difficulty, and the inherited attitude of submission
to the inevitable has left eftects which can be still traced even under the al-
tered conditions of British rule, It is necessary to realise this to understand
how the district fell, almost without a blow, into the hands of the Cis-Satlaj

Sikhs in 1763.

The first direct experience of the Sikhs was in the time of Guru Tegh
Bahadar, who roamed the country from Hansi to the Satlaj, and subsisted by
plunder from 1664 to 1673. Under his successor Guru Gobind Singh a
chain of forts was established at Anandpur in the Hushiarpur district, a few
miles north of the Satlaj, at Chamkor in the Rupar Tahsil, and at Nahan in
the hills, commanding the whole eastern portion of Ambala For the first
half of the eighteenth century there was no recognised leader of the Sikhs, who
were, however, engaged in frequent struggles with the Dehli Empire, and were
rapidly forming into great confederacies or misls. The storm burst at last in
1763. The Sikhs of the Manjha country of Lahore, Amritsar and Firozpur
combined, their forces at Sarhand, routed and killed the Afghan Governor
Zain Khan, and pouring acrogs the Satlaj, occupied the whole country to the
Jamna without further opposition.  Tradition still describes how the Sikhs
dispersed as soon as the battle was won, and how, riding day and night,
each horseman would throw his belt and scabbard, his articles of dress and
accoutrement, until he was almost naked, into successive villages, to mark
them as his."* 1t is unnecessary to enterinto a detail of the partition of the
Doab among the different confederacies. It is enough to say that, with few
exceptions, the leading families of to-day are the direct descendants of the
conquerors of 1763, an aristocracy with-no tradition but that of plunder, with
no claims to respect as the scions of an ancient line, aliens and foreigners
still, and with no sympathy for the people whose revenues are now
guaranteed to them in perpetuity, !

The history of the next forty years is made up of the endless petty
warfare of these independent Sikh Chiefs among themselves, except when a

* Cunningham's History of the Sikhs,
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mmon danger banded them to resist the encroachments of themore power-
ful States of Patiala and Manimajra on the north, and Ladwa, Kaithal and
 (Phanesar on the south, Each separvate family, and each group of feuda-
'tdries strong enough to stand alone, built itself a strong fort as a centre from
awhich it could harry the whole neighbourhood. Many of these are still in
existenice and | a marked feature of the district, recalling the extraordinary
lawlessness of a period when literally every man’s hand was turned against
| his brother. No attention was paid to the country by the British Govern-
ment which had fixed the Jamna as the furthest limit for political enterprise,
and it is believed that the profoundest ignorance prevailed both as to the
| gonstitution, the rights and the political strength of the supposed rulers.
i From 1806 to 1808 the positionrapidly changed. On the one hand, the Cis-
Satlaj Chiefs themselves were panic-struck at the sudden danger threatened
to them by the rise of Ranjit Singh’s power from beyond the Satlaj. In the

three successive years 1800 to 1811 raids were made by Ranjit Singh in per- e

son to Ludhiana, to Naraingarh and to Ambala. It was openly announced
by him that he intended swallowing up the whole country to the Jamna, and
it was realised that one Power and one only could prevent his immediate,
success.  On the other hand, the British Government feared a new | dangex
from the north by a combined invasion of the Freuch, the Turks and  the
Persians, and it was hastily decided to give up the Jamna as the bountlary,
and to trust to the new principle of alliance with a strong buffer” State .at
. Lahore. At the same time it was recognised that Ranjit Singh was himself
a source of danger not to be despised, and, with the Government in this
mood in 1808, an impulse was easily given to the policy of active inter-
ference by the arrival at Dehli of a deputation represented by Jind, Patiala
and Kaithal, toinvoke assistance for the Cis-Satlaj States, Some help had
been given to the British by Jind, Kaithal and Thanesar in the struggle
with the Mahratas five years before. 1t was apparently assumed that the
whole territory to the Satlaj was parcelled out among a few leading States of
the same character through whom the country could be strongly governed,
and the effarts of the authorities were aimed at the two-fold object of, on the
one hand, securing an effective alliance with Ranjit Singh, and on the other,
extending British protection to these lesser States ranging from the Jamna to
the Satlaj. | ; i
The overtures were eventually successful, and a definite treaty was
made with Ranjit Singh on the z5th April, 1809, by which he surrendered
his new acquisitions south of the Satlaj, and bound himself to abstain from
further encroachments on the left bank of that river, The treaty was follow-
ed upin May, 1809, by the celebrated proclamation of Colonel Qchterlony,
on behalf of the British Government, to the Cis-Satlaj Chiefs, This procla-
mation, beginhing with the quaint wording that it was ‘‘ clearer than the sun
and better proved than the existence of yesterday ! that the British action was
prompted by the Chiefs themselves, is given in full in Cunningham’s History.
It may be referred to by any one interested in studying the main charter by
which the leading families of Ambala still hold their rights. It includes seven
short articles only, of which Nos, 1 to § are important; Nos. xr to 3 limit
Ranjit Singh’s power and declare the Cis-Satlaj Chiefs sole owners of their
possessions free of money tribute to the British ; while Nos. 4 and 5 require
them in return on their side to furnish supplies for the army, and to assist the
British by arms against enemies from any quarter as occasion might here-
after arise. The whole document is, however, so short and so full of interest
as the foundation of future difficulties that it will well repay perusal by
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any one wishing to understand what, read in the light of subsequent events;
appears to have been almost unaccountable blindness in the agents of the
LGovernment of the day, , ‘ e

' Itisindeed impossible to read the history of these transactions with-
out seeing that the Government were in reality taking 2 most important
step almost in the dark.  Instead of finding the Ambala territory under the
control of a few central States, they soon realised that they had given. it over
for ever 'to hordes of adventurers with no powers of cohesion, who aimed
only at mutual aggression, and whose sole idea of Government was to grind
down the people of the country to the utmost limit of oppression, The first

point was easily settled by a sharp reminder given in a supplementary

proclamation of 1811, that every man would have to be content with wk} t
he held in 1800, and that the British Government would tolerate no fighting
among themselves, The golden opportunity for securing the welfare of the

district was, however, gone, and the pledges hastily givenin 18og were soon

found fo be a constant source of difficulty and misrule, which have continued,
with more or less gravity, almost to the present day. It was found that as

a fact the so-called Cis-Satlaj Sovereign States were represented, as far as

Ambala was concerned, by some thirty petty rulers with estates ranging from

twenty to over one hundred villages, and by a host of small fraternities com-

prising many hutidreds of the rank and file among the followers of the original

conquerors, who had been quartered over the country with separate villages

for their maintenance, and who were all alike now vested with authority as

independent rulers by the vague terms of the proclamation of ¥809. Publish-

ed works have nowhere very clearly recognised how sorely the Government

repented of its mistake ; but there seems no doubt as to the facts; and it is

not to be wondered at' that Sir David Ochterlony should have privately ad-

mitted to the Governor-General in 1818 that the proclamation of 1809 had

been based on an erroneous idea*

From 1800 to 1847, persistent efforts were made to enforce good
government through the Political Agency at Ambala among the endless semi-
independent States.  The records of the time bear witness to the hopeless
mnature of the undertaking, They teem with references to the difficult ens
quiries necessitated by the frequent disputes among the principalities, by
their preposterous attempts to evade control, and by acts of extortion and
wiolent crime in their dealings with the villages. Year by year Government
avas driven in self-defence to tighten the reins, and every opportunity was
taken to strengthen its hold on the country by enforcing its claims to lapse
by escheat on the death without lineal heirs of the possessors of 1809 or
their descendants. It was thus that the British district of Ambala gradually
grew up, each successive lapse being made the occasion for regular settle-
ments of the village revenues and the introduction of direct British rule.

Up to 1843 the Government had done its bestto carry out strictly the
‘unfortunate engagements of 1800, and till then little necessity had arisen for
testing the gratitude of the States, and seeing how far they were prepared
on their part to carry out their promises to furnish supplies for troops and
military assistance when called on. 1In 1844 and 1845, the conditions again
changed with the disastrous campaign in Afghanistan and the increasing
signs of restlessness among the Sikhs of the Panjab. In'the words of Sir
Lepel Griffin ¢ The Cis-Satlaj Chiefs had abundant leisure to observe the

btmasre 1

M Cunninghany page 152 and note,
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signs of the times. * # * Seeing that their resources in money
_ and supplies were required for the English armies, they began to think
that they were necessary to the existence of the British power, not that
it was essential to theirown, All fear of the Lahore monarchy was now over ;-
there was no longer a strong and sagacious ruler like Ranjit Singh, who
made British protection sound pleasantly in the ears of neighbouring Princes ;
and this protection now seemed little more than a restraint, without which
each Chief fancied that he himself might play the part which, under similar
circumstances, the Raja of Lahore had played with so much brilliancy and
suceess.” *  The result was, that when called on to help in the First Sikh War
the States were for the most part passively obstructive, even where they did
ot venture to show open hostility. . ‘‘ Their prosperity had been so great,
the benefits which British protection had conferred on them were so undeni-
able, and ingratitude for benefits conferred is so certain, that it is no matter
for surprise when at the first opportunity certain Chiefs turned against the
power which had befriended them, and openly or secretly joined the ranks of
its enemies.”  The more serious offenders were visited with signal punish-
ment, Their possessions were confiscated to Government, and in some cases
they were themselves removed as prisoners from the Province. One hundred
and seventeen villages were in this way added to the British district in Pipli
by confiscation from the Kaja of Ladwa; one hundred and six in Rupar and
Kharar from the Sardar of Rupar; seventy-two in the same Tahsils from the
Sodhis of Anandpur; and eighty-nine in Naraingarh from the Raja of Kapur-
thala. Asregards minor Chiefs, less severe measures were considered suffi-
cient, though the majority ¢ had not shown their loyalty in 1845 in any more
conspicuous way than in not joining the enemy, Gratitude they did not un-
derstand, and to show them any special consideration at the close of the cam-
paign was unnecessary, Several most important measures were then adopted
by the Government. The first was the abolition of all police jurisdiction in
most of the States ; for the existing system was so favorable to crime that, in
the midst of half a hundred conflicting authorities, the capture of a criminal
was well nigh impossible, The second measure was the abolition of transit
and custom duties, which were as injurious to trade as the police system was
fatal to justice; and the last was to accept a commutation for the personal
. service of the Chief and his contingent,”

. These changes were not made before they were forced upon the
Government by open disaffection or neglect on the part of the Chiefs to obey
orders which they were lawfully bound to fulfil. It was, however, soon found
impossible to go so far without still further important steps.  Hitherto the
Khiefs had levied revenue from their allotted villages in kind ; an arrange-
ment which left them free to rack-rent the land without any sort of restriction
other than that imposed by the necessity for keeping the villagers from ac-
tually flying the country., The regular settlement of the British portions of
the district began in 1847 ; and it was soon strongly urged by the district
off_icia]s that the opportunity should be .taken of once for all removing the
grievances of the villagers by extending the benefits of a fixed money demand
to the villages still subject to the remaining States. The proposal was yehe-
mently resisted by the Chiefs themselves, and for some years they managed
to delay the decisive step ; but eventually they were brought to sce that their
own interests were concerned as well as those of the people, for the very

e
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_ significant reason that they found themselves unable to collect their revenug
when once their. police jurisdiction was gone. Partly for this reason but

still more because the existing dual system of cash revenues in British vil

| lages, side by side with collections in kind under the Chiefs, was rapidly provs

| ing itself intolerable,  The Government at last, in 1852, consented to! finally
break the power of the Chiefs by enforeing the revenue settlement throughs |

out the district, and reducing the so-called Chiefs to the position of jagirdars,
“ With this decision of the British Government fell, for ever, the power of
the petty Cis-Satlaj Chiefs, who had too long been permitted to play at in.
dependence, which for them had no nobler significance than the right  to do
_ evil without restraint, and to oppress the people who were so unfortunate ag
to be their subjects.” * |

This practically ends the history of the leading families. Their
position as jagirdars has been defined and recorded with the greatest care,
Pedigrees have been drawn out both for the leading Sardars and for the
minor fraternitics, whose descendants were even then cotnted by the thou»
sand, tracing the descent in each case from the common ancestor of the
year 1809, or subsequent year of status fixed as the basis for collateral sucs
cession under the varying conditions of difterent jagirs. The year 1809 has |
Been recognised as the status for each of the leading Sardars, and even when

| the line becones extinct, the jagir does not lapse in their case without a spe-
cial enquiry and the orders of Government. There have been two im-
portant escheats in the last thirty years. The Sialba family of Tahsil Kharar
 died outin 1866, and fifty-nine villages, with a revenue of Rs. 26,000, passed 10
' the Government ;andin 1875 in the same Tahsil a like fate befell the Manimajra
Jagir, the largest in the district, covering sixty-nine villages, with a revenue of
Rs. 39,100, Reference to the pedigree tables given for the various families will
show that many of the leading hounses are represented by not more than one
or two members, and itis not unlikely that further lapses will oceur in the
near future, Nor is this to be altogether regretted, even with every sympa-
. thy for the representatives of former power,  With the exception of the
Mir of Kotaha, the Baidwan Sardars of Sohana and Manimajra, the Rajputs
. of Ramgarh and Raipur, and the minor Pathan family of Kotla Nihang in
Rupar, the whole of the existing larger jagirdars, and an immense majority
. of the lesser shareholders known as the patidari jagirdars, are still foreigners
in the land as much as in the days of their ancestors, the invaders of 1763,
. They have not in any way identified themselves with the people of the dis-
trict. | They still look back on the Manjha as their real home, and if they
notice the Ambala peuple at all, it is usually to recall the days when they
had full license to oppress them, and to show too plaicly what line they
would take if those days should ever return, The one privilege they have
hitherto retained as the symbol of their former independence is the right of
collecting their revenue direct from the villages of their jagirs, and even this
they have frequently abused so grossly that it is not certain whether it will
be possible to retain the right for many Yyears to come.

The general picture presented by this short sketch isnot a pleasant one ;
but it is better to state the facts than to give the leading families a fictitious
importance by dwelling on their large revenues, and the proud position
which they are commonly said to hold, The condition of things is almost
unique in the Panjab. Iu addition to the thirty-three leading families with

¥ Banjab Rajas, page 199,
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 jagir reveriues alone of some Rs. 2,60,000, there are over five thousand lesser

patidari jagirdarsdividing over three lakhs a year. It is hardly too much to

. say that these men have no aims beyond living on their jagir where it is large

enough, and starving on it where inecreasing numbers in the family have

. reduced each share to a miserable pittance. As a rule, they own no land and

look down on a life of agriculture. The best of them are those who have

returned to their native land and taken toregular employment,  Those who

remain for the most part eithercannot or will not enter the service of Governs<
mient, and their greatest pleasure lies in stirving up useless dissensions among
the zamindars, A few of the heads of the larger houses have been made
Honorary Magistrates ; but with some honorable exceptions, the powers are
chiefly valued as a means of gratifying private enmities, One man, and it is
believed one only, among the chief Sardars, has had the enterprise to send
his son into the army—this notable exception being in the case of S, Partab

 Hingh of Mainpur—whose son Shamsher Singh holds a commission as Jamar

dar in the sth Bombay Cavalry. ' It it difficult to imagine any more striking
illustration of the useless lives led by these men as a class, notwithstanding

. that Government has done all that can be done to strengthen them in the

position they are meant to hold as the heads of the people. Service in the
army is, above all others, the profession for which they should be qualified,
alike by their traditions in the past and their ample revenues in the present ;
and yet it is only possible to indicate one solitary instancein which advantage

. bas been taken of this ready opening for the families of leading men, For

the rest perhaps the less said the better. The really influential men can be
counted almost on the fingers of one hand, and family after family is chiefly
noticeable for the frequency with which drink and debauchery have brought
their victims to an early grave. 1In nota few cases it is an open secret that
vicious lives have led to a failure of lawfully begotten heirs, and that extine-

tion of the house, with the consequent lapse of the jagir to Government, have

only been avoided through the extreme difficulty attending any investigation
into the private affairs of the family-—a difficulty which makes it almost impos-
sible to ascertain the truth even where the facts obtain an apen notoriety. It
is, however, not altogether fair_to trace the degeneration of character among
these Cis-Satlaj Sikhs to defects in the men themselves, The position secured
to them, almost without effort on their part, has left them in the possession of
abundant means without the necessity for exertion to sustain their place as
rulers in the land, and they have naturally sunk under the strong temptations
of a life of idleness and comparative luxury. The lesson to be learnt from
their history appears to be that no good result can follow from the creation
of an artificial aristocracy, and the state of things in the Ambala district
makes it casy to understand the bitterness of the discussion when a similar
question affecting the true Panjab came for decision before the Board of
Administration in the early days of annexation. It may perhaps be
added that, viewed in the experience of Ambala, there is much cause
for congratulation that the sterner policy of John Lawrence caused that
question to be finally decided in the Panjab on lines which effectually pre-
vented the repetition of Ambala difficulties elsewhere.

It only remains to add that the question of commutation for milis
tary service has remained settled on the lines of the orders of 1846. The
general rule is that two anaas are paid to Government for each rupee of jagir
revenue, This was the rule governing all the leading families and the great
majority of the patidari jagirdars, including all those who were recognised as
entitled to the superior status of 1809, A comparatively small number of the

e
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SARDAR JIWAN SINGH OF BURIA,

Nanu SINGH,

d. 1764,
|
Sardar Bhag Singh,
d. 17864
|
Sardar Sher Singh,
. 1805,
L Ll
Jaimal Singh, Sardar Gulab Singh,
@, 1861, &\ 1844.
SARDAR JIWAN SINGH,
0. 1844.
e .
|
2 : b
Gajandar Singh, Madan Singh,
b, 1869 0. 1888,

The founders of the Buria Chiefship were Nanu Singh,
a Jat of Jhawal Mandan, near Amritsar, and the brothers Bhag

Singh and Rai Singh, all Bhangi Sikhs, who, in 1764, seized

the fort of Buria from some Narwaria Sikhs who had en-

tered into possession a year previously. Nanu Singh was

shortly afterwards treacherously murdered by the Afghans
of Aurangabad, who enticed him inside their fort under pre-
tence of showing him hospitality. His death was revenged
by Rai Singh, the adopted son of Nanu, who, with Bhag
Singh, defeated the Aurangabadis, levelling their fort, and
possessing himself of about two hundred villages in the neigh-

bourhood. These were divided between the brothers, Rai

Singh receiving eighty-four villages in the districts of Jagadhri
and Dayalgarh, while Bhag Singh became sole owner of the
Buria estates, consisting of one hundred and twenty vxlldges.
On the death of Bhag Singh, in 1786, his son Sher Singh
held the Chiefship. He was killed in an engagement with thé
English at Saharunpur in 1804.. Then arose a long dispute
between his widows and sons affecting the succession, which
ended in the estate being held in equal shares by Jaimal Singh
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and Gulab Singh, the widows taking certain villages in life- 0
tenure by way of maintenance. Gulab Singh ultimately suc-
ceeded to the whole estates on the death, without sons, of his |
brother Jaimal in 1816.  He himself died in 1844, leaving
an only son Jiwan Singh, the present Sardar, not then a
year old. Buria was disfranchised with the other minor
Cis-Satlaj Chiefships in June 1849, when, immediately after
the Second Sikh War, their criminal, civil and fiscal juris-
diction was annulled, and their lands came under the apera.
tion of the law as administered in the Panjab generally.
During both the Satlaj campaigns Sardar Jiwan Singh’s
relatives behaved with conspicuous loyalty. In the war
of 1849, he furnished levies and advanced Rs. 50,000 on
loan to the military treasury. During the Mutiny the
young Sardar himself commanded a body of twenty horse-
men and eighty-six footmen locally raised and maintained
at his own charges, and held the town of Jagadhri for some
weeks. He on this occasion also lent a considerable sum of
money to assist the authorities in meeting the current ex-
penses of the war. His services were rewarded by a remis-
sion for one year of his commutation payment of Rs. 4,138,
and by a permanent reduction of the demand to one-half,

. Sardar Jiwan Singh is an Honorary Magistrate and
Sub-Registrar within the limits of his estates. He is one
of the most enlightened of the Sikh Chiefs of the Ambala
district. He was honored in 1887 by being the recipient of
the Order of the Indian Empire, conferred in recognition
of his loyal public services. His jagirs and mafis yield an
income of Rs. 5,500 ; and his rents from proprietary holdings
amount to Rs. 41,500 per annum,

The Sardar is connected by marriage with the ruling
family of Patiala, his sister having married Maharaja Narin-
dar Singh, grandfather of the present Chief. ‘ '



| SARDAR SHEO NARAIN OF SHAHABAD.

HiMAT SINGH,

|
Sardar Karam Singh,
A xson i

v ‘ b i I
© Ranjit ISingh‘ | Sher ’Singh. Kharak ngh Kahan Smgh,

4, 1831, . 18306,
Kesra Singh, il !
‘ d, 1863. ‘ Parfab Smgh,

e o i ‘ : j d. 1878,

; ‘Dhanm Smgh, Kishan Singh, gl ‘ : '
‘ dir 79 I d. :880. j ‘ Ram Narain
| Singh,
Sxmo NARAIN‘ Bachatar %mgh, S &, 1870,
| SINGH, b1 69. ‘ ‘ ‘ ‘
L 1877 ‘ ;

. The Shahabctd Sardars are a branch of the Nxshanwala
L stal Their ancestor was Lal Smgh, a successful adven-
il ‘turer from the Manja. His cousin Himat Singh pushed on
| b conquests in 1763 so as to embrace the whole of the
f ‘Shahabad district, a large portion of which he shared with
his followers Bhagwan Singh and Diwan Singh. He died

whom he had adopted He was friendly with the Moghal

‘~Sh1karpur Taluka and the title of Sardar for services
T‘.““:“rendered Most of his lands were, however, wrested from
' :hxs sons shortly after his death. L

; In 1864 the joint holdings of the cousins of Partab]ﬁ

” ‘vah Kishan Singh and Dharam Singh, in the Ambala‘:
” dmtrxct were assessed at Rs. 5,800 per annum, subject to
a service commutation charge of Rs. 613. The family be- .
haved well in both the Satlaj campaigns and in the rebel-

in 1775, and was succeeded by his nephew Karam Smgh L

Governors, and received from Ahmad Shah a jagir in the“\:‘?*

lion of 1857. The present representatives are Sardars Sheo &

- Narain, Bachatar Singh and Ram Narain, all V1cerega1‘ ‘
Darbarxs L
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SARDAR KISHAN SINGH OF TANGAUR.

| GURBARHSH SINGH,
|

Daya .Singh.
| | ‘ |
Chuhar Singh, o al ! Singhy Jawahar Singh,
d. 1823, 0. 1817, | d. 1858,
AT l |
i bl L | | Bk
‘Atar Singh. Chatar =~ Harnam Kahar Singh, Mahar SARDAR Sardar
' Singh, Singh, d. 1871, Singh, KISHAN Jasmer
d, 1847, | d. 1844, @ 1873, SINGH, i Singhy
b. 1849, BRI 8 1 g
Harnam Singh :
(infant).
|
: L '
Ram Narain Sheo Narain Har Narain
il Singh, Singh,

b, 1870, ‘ b, 1875: b. 1889.

Sirdar Kishan Singh and his brother Jasmer Singh are
the principal men of the Tangaur branch of the Shahid Con-
federacy. The Shahid Sikhs were so called by reason of the
. crushing defeat their fathers suffered at the hands of the Gov-

‘ érnqr of Jalandhar, Adina Beg, in 1743, when led by their Chief
Dip Singh, whom they believed to be invincible. . Dip Singh
was the mahant in charge of the Damdama Sakhib or Tem-
ple near T alwandi, in the Sirsa district, where, in the time of
the Emperor Aurangzeb, Guru Gobind once took refuge from
the fury of the Mahomedans with whom he was constantly
at feud. Dip Singh is said to have had his head severed
from his body early in the fight; but he nevertheless re-
mained on his horse, and for several hours after rushed mad-
ly over the battle-field, cutting and hacking at the foe, and
dealing out death at every stroke. Yet, in spite of this
supernatural help, his followers were slain almost to a man;
and the few who survived to tell the tale, as well as the
children of those who fell, have ever since been known as
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Shahids or martyrs. Sirdar ' Jiwan Singh, Shahzadpuna,
whose history has been already given, is the leading
Shahid Sikh of to-day.

The Tangaur branch is included among the thirty-four
leading houses of the Cis-Satlaj districts. Sardars Kishan
Singh and Jasmer Singh are at the head. Their ancestor
Gurbakhsh Singh came from Gangobuha, a village in the
Taran Taran Tahsil of Amritsar, where many members of
the family still live. He was a worshipper at the Damdama
Temple, and became a recognized leader of the Shahid Con-
. federacy with Dharam Singh and Karam Singh, ancestors of

‘the Shahzadpuria Sardar. They started on a career of con-
‘quest on this side of the Satlaj, and of the spoils Gurbakhsh
Singh received many rich villages in the e/ tracts of the
Markanda river. On the death of Daya Singh, son of
Gurbakhsh Singh, the estate was divided amongst his two
sons and one grandson Chatar Singh. Lal Singh, one of the
sons, was dispossessed in 1839 for the murder of his brother’s
wife. Two of his villages were made over to his nephew
Chatar Singh, and the remainder were allowed to pass.to his
son Harnam Singh, on whose death, in 1844, Lal Singh
was reinstated. The two villages which Chatar Singh had
received as blood-money were resumed by Government on
his death in 1847, and his other possessions fell to his uncle
Jawahar Singh. These are now held, together with their
father’s own share, by Sardars Kishan Singh and Jasmer
Singh, and they will ultimately succeed to Lal Singh’s jagir,
as he only holds on a life-interest. This latter yields
Rs. 2,108 per annum. Their own jagir, which they jointly
hold, is valued at Rs. 7,707, after deducting the usual com-
mutation charge of two annas per rupee of the assessed reve-
nue. The family behaved well in the Sikh wars ; and during
the rebellion of 1857 they were forward in the supply of
carriage and provision for the troops at Dehli. Their
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| SARDAR JAWALA SINGH OF JARAULL

| SarpAR CHUHAR SINGH,

Karam Singh, Sardar Mahar Singh,

d, 1808, d. 1845,
e il : i .
Lt | A ;
Jawahar Singh, i 0 Sardar Jit Singh, ‘ Ugar Singh,
d, 1857, b ;53152. ! a 1|851.‘ :
Santokh Singh. o fi e ‘ i Har Bhagat
RO SARDAR JAWALA Bishan Singlh,
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~ Sardar Jawala Singh’s best known ancestor was Chuhar
. Singh of Chang, near Kasur. He was a near relative of

. Sardar Rai Singh Bhangi, the conqueror of Jagadhri and ‘,
Dayalgarh, and a prominent member of the Shahid Misal.
He received the Jarauli Ilaka as his share of the spoils after
the sack of Sarhand in 1763. He retgainéd ten of these vil-
Iéges for himself, giving the others to his lieutenants, and
returned to Amritsar, where he held charge of the Shahid
Bunga for many years. He acquired much land on either
side of the Ravi, and was accounted one of the most powef-
ful Sardar of his day. He placed his younger son Mahar
Singh in charge of the Jarauli villages, while Karam Singh,
the elder, subsequently succeeded to the family estates north
of the Satlaj. These were appropriated by Maharaja Ranjit
Singh on Karam Singh’s death, sonless, in 1808. In the

meanwhile Mahar Singh was faring almost as badly at

Jarauli; for Sardar Bhanga Singh of Thanesar took advantage
of his being a minor to wrest most of his patrimony from
him, leaving him only with Jarauli, Fatehgarh Atri and
Ajrana, yielding about Rs. 10,000 revenue. Mahar Singh
gladly acquiesced in the arrangements which brought
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hzs property ‘under the protectxon of the Br1t1sh Gov~ ‘
/ ernment in \1809 Since then his family have: enjuyed a
Iy comparatlvely peaceful existence. Just before his death,
. in 1845, Sardar Mahar Singh made a will, giving three out
. of ten shares of his estate to each of his three sons, and one-
¥+ tenth in addition to the second, Jit Singh, whom he desired to
. appoint as*his successor in the Chiefship. Sardar Jit Singh
~ died in 1852, and was succeeded by his son Jawala Singh,
- who is now at the head of the family. His brother Bxshan
Singh died sonless in his father’s life-time,

The family has on all occasions proved loyal to the Brx-
tish Government. Sardar Jawala Singh holds the village
_ of Fatehgarh Atri in his sole possession as head of the house.
0 The remaining villages of Jarauliand Ajrana are shared equal-
. ly by the three branches of Mahar Singh’s family. The
. other two branches are represented by Sardars Kishan Smgh‘
. and Gajindar Singh. Their separate jagir income is Rs. 789.

. Gajindar Singh is being educated at the Ambala Govern-
‘ment School. He is married to a daughter of Sardar Naram
Singh, Jagirdar of Khamanun.
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When the Sikh invasion took place in 1763, Desu Singh,
Dalawala, Jat of Lalpur, near Taran Taran, took possession
of Mustafabad and some neighbouring villages now in the
Jagadhri Tahsil and of Dera and Tandwala in Ambala. He
was killed at the battle of Chandausi in 1775, and was suc-
ceeded by his nephew Mahtab Singh, who obtained posses-
'sion of the whole estate. His eldest son Jodh Singh, who
followed him, was slain in 1796 at Biana, fighting against
the Mahratas. One of Mahtab Singh’s widows, Masamat
Gauran, then managed to secure possession. After a time
her claim was disputed by Jodh Singh’s younger brother
Ratan Singh, who wrested Dera and Tandwala from her,
He appears to have surrendered these villages as the price of
protection to Sardar Bhanga Singh, the powerful Chief of
Thanesar, who gave him Talheri in exchange. On the death
of Masamat Gauran, in 1833, the whole estate was made over
to Ratan Singh, whose grandson Tilok Singh and great-
grandson Naina Singh are now in possession. Naina Singh
is a minor under the Court of Wards. Tilok Singh was
formerly a member of the District Committee. During the







 SARDAR SAHIB SINGH OF LEDA.

Nopu SiNGH,
. 1812

|
Jit Singh,
a(. 1848.

| I
Fatah ngh Dava Singh, Amir Singh,
L 1?47. U ‘ ) x184z.

‘ l [ | ik b
Sangal Singh.  Teja  Hira Singh, Makhan SaHIr SINGH, PartabSSingb, !
40,

| Singh, 6. 1848, Singh, b, 1830, b1
Gurdit Singh, 4. 1836, b. 1849. i ;
b, 1863. |
I ) | Vi
i I n s
| Lomwar ‘Smgh Abha Singh, Balwant Singh, Bhagwant Smgh,
b 1868. W 6. 1875. bl 1871 1880

Sadar Sahib Smgh’s ancestors belonged to the Karora
Smghxa Jat Misal, of which the Ambala Kalsias are a branch.
Nodh Singh, the great-grandfather of Sahib Singh, came
from Kalsia in the Manjha, with Sardar Gurbakhsh Singh of
Kalsia, and Karam Singh of Bilaspur, whose family is now
extinct. When the Kalsias divided their conquests the Leda
Chief and his followers were awarded villages in the eastern
part of Ambala equivalent to the services of two hundred

horsemen maintained by them; the Sardar of Kalsia taking

only a five-sixteenth share of the whole, consisting of lands
in the neighbourhood of Chachrauli, near Jagadhri, where his
descendants still reside. The Leda jagirs are at present
composed of two entire villages and shares in five others, all

in the Jagadhri Tahsil, as well as shares in six villages of L

Tahsil Naraingarh, valued at Rs. 2,531. The jagirdars are
six in number and divide on ancestral shares, the value of
Sahib Singh’s share being' Rs. 582. The family maintained
some police levies during the Mutiny, and as a reward receiv-
ed a remission of the commutation service charge for one
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their company was the celebrated Nanu Singh, also. awarrmr
‘.bold Their adventure proved successful, and in a few years ”

: uthey found themselves masters of the Jagadhri country, and
built themselves a fort near Buria, which they named Dayal-
garh, and made their head- -quarters. Ultimately the b‘rothers‘- '
divided their property, Nanu Singh having been slain; the
Dayalgarh and Jagadhri estates, containing eighty-four vil-
lages, falling to the share of Sardar Rai Singh. He died
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in 1805, leaving the C hxefsh1p to his nephew Bhagwan Smgh

- who himself died seven years after without surviving issue.
 He was the last Sardar of Jagadhri, His widows fought
over the property, and it was divided equally between them
by the British Political Agent. To Mai Daya Kaur fell the
Jagadhri estates, and they Iapsed to Government on her
death in 1828.

‘ Mai Sukhan took over the Dayalgarh villages and held
them until 1852. She was a daughter of Sardar Kishan
 Singh of Khanpura, After her death her blood relations
were allowed to succeed her in a portion of the jagir in de-
fault of next of kin of her deceased husband. These were
her nephews Harnam Singh and Hardit Singh, and her three
brothers, as shown in the pedigree table. They took over
the villages of Khajuri (Jagadhri) and Jatlanaon (Pipli) on
a life-tenure. Hardit Singh is still in the enjoyment of his
share, which is valued at Rs. 1,100 per annum. The other
shares have lapsed by reason of the death of the grantees.
Sardar Hardit Singh lives at Dayalgarh, where he owns some
land. Heis a man of little education and has never come
prominently forward. He is a Viceregal Darbari. His son
Sobha Singh is reported to bea young man of promise,
having been educated in a Government school. The Dayal-
garh Sardars behaved loyally in the rebellion of 1857, and
received a handsome khilat in recognition of their services.

Of the sons of Sardar Karpal Singh, the elder, Didar
Singh, is a Thanadar of Police in the North-Western Provin-
ces, and Kartar Singh is the manager of the estate of the
minor Guru Nao Nahal Singh of Kartarpur. Mai Gayan
Kaur, widow of Sardar Lal Singh, receives a compassionate
allowance of Rs. 300 annually.
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The Shahzadpur family first rose to importance in the
time of Guru Gobind Singh, by whom Dip Singh, grand-
father of Karam Singh, was installed as first Mahant of
- a newly-established Gurdwara, known as Damdama Salib,
a place of some celebrity in the Patiala State. His succes-
sors engaged in a series of struggles with the Mahomedan
. Governors of the Eastern Panjab, and acquired the title of
Shahid (martyr), by which the familyis still known in honor
of the legendary exploits of its head. Under Karm Singh
a strong footing was obtained in the neighbourhood of Sirsa,
and advantage was taken of the general melée of 1763, to
join the invasion of the Cis-Satlaj country by Sikhs from
the Manjha. Karm Singh forced his way up from the south
through the present Ambala Tahsil, where he acquired
several villages, and finally settled down at Shahzadpur,
in the present Naraingarh Tahsil. The estates were
then divided for a time, Karm Singh retaining possession
of the Kasri tract in Ambala, and making over the Shahzad-
pur villages to his brother Dharm Singh. The latter died
childless, and Karm Singh thereon became sole possessor
of the numerous scattered blocks of villages still held by his
descendants in jagir. These were administered by the family
as independent territory until 1847, when general orders were
passed, resuming the sovereign powers of all the separate
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. The above pedigree includes the leading branches of the
great Singhpuria family. Sardar Autar Singh of Manauli
s the titular head of the family, which holds large jagirs, ag-
gregating Rs. 80,000, in the Kharar and Rupar Tahsils. The
remaining branches hold separate estates known as Bhareli,
Bunga, Ghanauli, Bharatgarh and Kandaula ; but as, with the
exception of the Bhareli Sardar, all are descendants of Budh
Singh, the possessor of 180g, they have common rights of
succession in favor of the survivors on failure of heirs to any
separate Sardar. IFrom 1809 to 1847 the family ranked as
independent protected Chiefs, losing their status in the latter
year, and being reduced to the position of ordinary perpetuity
jagirdars, under the general proclamation issued on the close
of the First Sikh War. During the last half century the
family has been unfortunately more distinguished for its vices
than its virtues. None of its representatives have been men
of mark. Few have even lived lives of ordinary respectability,
and again and again drink and debauchery have brought their
victims to an early grave. There is no better typical instance
of the rapid degeneration of character among the leaders of
the Cis-Satlaj Sikhs, where British protection has secured
them in the enjoyment of large revenues, and left them with-
out the necessity to work for their position, and without
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‘family name. : |
The Manauli jagir is made up as follows :—

; LR,
In Tahsil Kharar, 24 villages with a revenue of ..’ 13,700
” " Rupar 57 ” " » v 20,400
Total Sl 34,10«:‘:

From this must be deducted commutation for mxhtary‘
service at two annas per rupee in about half the jagir, and one
anna in the remaining half, representing the Manauli share,
for services rendered in 1857 by Sardar Jai Singh.

Sardar Autar Singh is still a minor and unmarried, and
a pupil in the Aitchison College, Lahore. The estate has
been now for two generations almost continuously under the
Court of Wards, and is very rich owing to the careful nursmg
of British authorities. The Sardar owns over a thousand
acres of cultivated landsin Kharar and Rupar, besides numer-
ous forts and houses, and there is also a large sum invested
In his name in Government Securities. He unfortunately in-
herits a weak constitution, and although the greatest pains
have been taken with his education, it is doubtful whether
he will acquire the strength of body and mind to enable him
to do justice to the fine property to which he will succeed on
release from guardianship.
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Ludhiana is the home of the chlldren of Shah Qhujah u1 ‘
Mulk of Kabul. The circumstances under which that une
fortunate Ruler twice gained and lost a throne, are matters
 of géneral Indian history, and need only be touched upon
here. It will be remembered that Shah Zaman returned to
his capital after his second wunsuccessful invasion of the
Panjab in 1799, merely to be supplanted by his brother
Mahmud, who took the precaution of incapacitating ‘him
from future Kingship by putting out his eyes. But the blind
monarch was speedily avenged by another brother Shujah-
ul-Mulk, who, in 1803, deposed Mahmud, and installed him-
self as Ruler of Afghanistan. Seven years later, Shah
Shujah was, in his turn, driven out by Mahmud, and forced to
seek assistance from Maharaja Ranjit Singh. This he did
not receive, although the Sikh Chief used the King’s name
in attempting to seize Multan, which he intended keeping for
himself. The expedition was a failure. After holding Pesh-
awar for some months, and trying in vain to establish
his sovereignty over Multan, Shah Shujah one day found him-
self a prisoner in the hands of Jahan Dad Khan, Afghan
Governor of Attock, who deported him to Kashmir, and had
him kept there for over a year. He was released by Wazir
Fatah Khan, who had crossed the Indus to re-assert Afghan
dominion over Kashmir. In 1813 he visted Lahore, still
in search of some one who would help him to re-conquer
his kingdom. There Ranjit Singh exchanged turbans with
him as a token of the sincerest friendship, and after a little
manceuvring, induced him to give up the Kok-i-Nur dia-
mond, which the Maharaja had longed to possess. Shah
- Shujah was now made to perceive that his presence was only
desirable in so far as it enabled the Maharaja to take action
against Kashmir in his name. He managed to remove the
ladies of his family to Ludhiana without Ranjit Singh’s
knowlcdge and himself fled shortly after to the Kishtwar
Valley, whence, aided by the local Chief, he made an abortive
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‘tdeS‘cenfa on Kashmir, Beaten back, he foIlowéd the moun-

 tains through Kuly, and crossing the Satlaj high up, came

round to Ludhiana in Septeniber, 1816, having kept well out |

_ of the Maharaja’s reach throughout the journey. He was:
~ granted an allowance of Rs. 50,000 per annum by the British.

Government, and was treated with the respect due to
his rank. But Shah Shujah’s nature was too restless

 to allow him to sit long inactive at Ludhiana. In 1818 he

again started on his travels towards Kabul, and receiv-
ing assistance from the Nawab of Bahawalpur, seized Dera
Ghazi Khan, while his son Timur marched further south
-and took possession of Shikarpur. He proceeded along the
Indus to Peshawar, where he was successfully opposed by
Mahomed Azim Khan, Wazir of Ayub Khan, and obliged
to take refuge in the Khaibar. Thence he was driven, step
by step, back to Shikarpur, and finally found himself once
more a refugee at Ludhiana after wandering for months
through Rajputana and the Eastern Panjab. Here he met
his blind brother, Shah Zaman, who, after nearly similar ad-
ventures, had also become a guest of the British Govern.
ment. This was in 1821. Twelve years later the Shah
again set out for the recovery of his patrimo.ny, now in the
hands of the Amir Dost Mahomed Khan. His English
hosts had told him that they had no objection to his making
the attempt, though they could not promise a continuance

~ of hospitality were he again, through stress of circumstances,
- obliged to knock at their door. He had with him about three

thousand armed followers and two lakhsof rapees. . The
Bahawalpur Nawab gave him a gun and some camels. He
defeated the Sindians at Shikarpur, and levied from the
towns-people a contribution of five lakhs. Thus enriched, he
proceeded towards Kandahar, but remained in that neigh-
bourhood only until Dost Mahomed had time to march down
from Kabul and administer to him a crushing defeat. Once
more he was forced to turn towards Hindustan for safety ;




. and once more the Enghsh gave hzm shelter at Ludhian

damaged than ever. Next came the triple alliance for thej
subversion of the power of the Barakzais, broken by the
- death of the Maharaja in 1839, and followed by the return
‘to Kabul of Shah Shujah and the re-establishment of his
dominion with the aid of British troops and British money.
The unfortunate Shah Shujah was assassinated 1mmedx-“ .
ately after the disaster to our Kabul Garrison in 1842
. and his family, no longer able to hold head against Dost
- Mahomed's faction, returned to their asylum at Ludhiana,
‘whxch has been their head-quarters ever since. ‘

Shahzada N ddar, ounrrest son of Shah Shujah, is now
at the head of the fannly. His elder brother Shahzada Shah-
pur, who had been in receipt of an allowance of Rs. 4,800
per annum from Government, died in 1884. Shahzada
. Nadar is President of the Municipal Committee, I—Iono1ary
- Magistrate, and Sub-Registrar of Ludhiana. He and his
“deceased brother received a grant in 1877 of four thousand L
acres of land in the Montgomery district. His offersof
| service in the Mutiny were duly acknowledged by Govern-
ment. He enjoys a pension of Rs. 3,600 per annum, and
takesa high seat in Viceregal Darbars. He was created a
Companion of the Indian Empire in 1888. Shahzada Shah-
pur’s son Alamgir is an Extra Assistant Commissioner.‘ :

Shahzada Safdar Jang, also a son of Shah Shujah-ul-
Mulk, receives an allowance of Rs. 3,000 per annum.
One of his sons, Sardar Haidar Jang, is an Extra Assistant
Commissioner ; another, Bahadar Jang, is a Tahsildar i in thlS
Province.

Timur Shah’s son, Sultan Jalaludin, was instrumen-
tal in saving the lives of some members of the American
Christian Mission at Ludhlana in 1857, for which service he

In money he was half a lakh richer; but in prestige more
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Sardar Atar Singh’s ancestor, Duna, was brother of
Ala Singh, first Raja of Patiala. Bhadaur was the ‘original
 home of the Phulkian family, and Duna continued to live




:‘there af'ter Ala Singh set out to seek his fortune in 1718, and
founded a- dwellmg -place for himself at Barnala, whence he
“f‘-rem,oved to Patiala after the destruction of Sarhand, and

~ made it is his capital.

Duna held the office of Chaudhri, and he had to collect
the Imperial revenues of his district, and account for them to
the Mahomedan Governor. Having failed in this duty on one
“occasion, he and one of his sons were seized and thrown into
prison at Lahore. They there suffered such hardships that the
son succumbed, while Duna died shortly after his release.
This was in 1726. His grandson Chuhar Singh was the most
. celebrated of all the Bhadauris. He lived in the time of the
weak-minded Sa\h‘ib‘Sin ¢h of Patiala, and took advantage of
the confusion into which affairs had fallen to seize ninety
villages, including the district of Barnala; but he had to
surrender most of his acquisitions later on. He also freely
helped himself to the lands of Maler Kotla, and was in a fair
way to become one of the leading Sikh Chiefs, when treachery
put an end to his career. Chuhar Singh’s sons Bir
Singh and Dip Singh were alive when the British Power felt
its way up to the south bank of the Satlaj. They at first
admitted Patiala to be their head, and 1dent1hed themselves
‘with the interests of that State; but percewmg the advan-
tages attaching to independence, they afterwards claimed the
privilege of dealing direct with our Government. This was
objected to by Patiala, upon grounds which need not here be
detailed. The matter was under dispute for many years, and
was not finally set at rest until 1858, when the Maharaja s
supremacy was recognised as an act of grace and as a reward
for loyal services rendered in the years of the Mutiny. All
the rights of the Paramount Power were then yielded to
Patiala, including reversion in lapsed estates, and the annual
commutation tax of Rs. 5,265 hitherto taken by the British
- Government. The decision was naturally distasteful to the
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Bhadaur family, and they have not yet gracefully acknow-

ledged their position as feudatories. They probably feel that N

the reward to Patiala might have taken a form less hurtful to
the minor Chief, who had himself not proved backward in
loyalty during the Mutiny. But the concession would no
doubt not have been made to Patiala had not her claim been
just and allowable in itself ; and it is perhaps incorrect to

affirm that she received Bhadaur because of special service

rendered. *

Sardar Atar Singh, the present head of the famil‘y‘,‘,‘
served under the District Officers of Ludhiana and Firozpur,
in 1857, in command of a body of fifty horsemen, whom he

raised and equippedat his own charges ; and as a reward, was

exempted from payment of his commutation tax fora period of

six months. He succeeded his father in 1858. He was
educated at Banares, and there acquired a taste for learning,

His library at Bhadaur is well stocked with valuable manus-
cripts in Sanscrit, Gurmakhi and Persian; and he is always
foremost in matters connected with the education and intel-

. lectual improvement of the people. He is, moreover, an ac-

complished author, having written many poems and short
works in Persian and Gurmakhi. He was nominated a mem-
ber of the Senate of the Panjab University College in 1870;
and he was granted the title of Malaz-il-ulma Val Fusala in
acknowledgment of his eminent and liberal patronage of
learning. In 1880 he was created a Companion of the Order
of the Indian Empire, and in 1888 he was admitted to I{night~
hood in the same distinguished Order. In 1887, on the
occasion of Her Majesty’s Jubilee celebration, the newly-
instituted title of Makamalhopadhyaya was conferred on him
in recognition of his loyal conduct and eminent services in
the promotion of Oriental learning.

* ¢ The supremacy fox which the Maharaja had struggled with so ‘much pextinacity‘;
but Whlf}h he was unable to establish as a right, was granted asan act of grace and as
3 few.aza for loyal service to the British Government in the year 1858,7 Griffins Kajas of the

anjab, i ! ‘
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' The history of the Malod family is given in Griffin’s
Kajas of the Panjab. Sardar Utam Singh, Malod, goes back
1in six generations to the celebrated Phul, from whom are
descended the present Rulers of Patiala, Jind and N abha, as
well as the Chiefs of Bhadaur, Malod and Badrakhan, and the
minor Sardars of Jiundan, Laudgarh, Dialpur, Rampur and
Kot Dina. The family claims for itself a Rajput ancestor in
Jasalji, founder of the city of Jasalmir. Jasalji was driven from
his State towards the end of the twelfth century and settled
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near Hissar. His son Hahmal was appointed Governor of
the Sirsa and Batinda countries. Hahmal's great-great-
grandson Khiwa took a Jatni as his second wife, who bore
him his son Sidhu, from whom has sprung one of the most
important Sikh tribes in the Panjab. It is unnecessary to
o into details of the earlier history of the Malod Sardars,
as it has received full notice in Sir Lepel Griffin’s work
already alluded to. Their immediate ancestor was Bakhat
Mal, brother of Ala Singh, from whom the Patiala branch

has sprung.

 The district of Malod was taken from the Maler Kotla
Afghans in 1754 by Sardar Man Singh, son of Bakhat Mal.
On his death, in 1878, the estate was divided amongst his
two sons ; the elder, Dalel Singh, taking two-thirds, including
the Malod and Shaina villages. To these he added Khiali
and Sahur, wresting them from the Rais of Raikot in 1807.
He gave assistance to the British authorities in 1815 during
the Ghurka War, and in other ways showed a desire to be on
good terms with the new Power then beginning to make itself
folt. Sardar Dalel Singh died in 1824. His eldest son
Fatah Singh took two-thirds of the patrimony in accordance
with the established custom of the family. In his share were
included the villages of Ramgarh and Shaina. To Sardar
Mit Singh came Malod and Dhapali. Both brothers were
present with the British troops at Mudki and Firozshahr,
and helped in the matter of carriage and supplies. Sardar
Fatah Singh’s services were again utilized in establishing a
civil government in the Sikh Cis-Satlaj districts annexed in
1846. He died in 1850. His son Utam Singh, a minor,
inherited the whole property on the death of his brother Hazara
Singh, in 1854. He behaved with conspicuous loyalty during
the Mutiny, helping with money and men. His services were
suitably acknowledged bya permanent remission of one six-
teenth of the revenue demand in his villages, and he was made
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a ]aglrdar Magxstmte in 1861, shortly after attammg hIS major-

ity. He was forward in offering his services during the late Af-
ghan War, but they were not required. Heis a Viceregal
Darbari, and takes seniority over the other three Darbaris of
his family. His jagir income is valued at Rs. 43,136 per
annum. He Iives at Ramgarh, in the Ludhiana district.

Sardar Hakikat Singh succeeded his father Bhag ‘%mgh
. in 1819. To him fell the villages of Chima and Bar, in the
 latter of which his branch of the family still reside. He per-
 formed good service in the Mutiny, and encouraged educa-
tion by founding and endowing a school at Bir, which still
exists. Balwant Singh, his son, was a minor when Hakikat
Singh died in 1875, and was educated at the Ambala Wards
 School. He is an Honorary Magistrate and a Civil Judge
in his Ilaka. One of his first acts on attaining his majority
was to provide funds to found a hospital for the Aitchison
College. He has ajagir yielding Rs. 19,050 per annum, and
his lands in the villages of Rohli, Sohian, Chima, Bawar-
pur and Bir (Ludhiana) yield an annual income of over
‘ s1xteen hundred rupees exclusive of the Government demand.

Sardar Mit Singh, nephew of Bhag Singh, and uncle

of Utam Singh, was -as forward as his other relatives in
assisting the Government both at annexation and in 18 57 ;
and his services were also suitably acknowledged. He divided
his estate between his two sons, giving a two-thirds share,
in accordance with the usage of the family, to the elder,

Badan Singh. Mit Singh died in 1878. Sardar Badan
Singh behaved well during the Kuka disturbances, defend-

ing his fort, which was attacked with the object of procuring
weapons, and killing and capturing about a dozen of the
fanatics. He is known as a thoroughly loyal subject of the
Queen-Empress. His services have been recognized on many
occasions. He exercises criminal and civil powers within
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BHAI AR]AN SINGH BA(:RIAN

g

, Bha1 Arjan Smgh’s father Narain ‘?;mgh 5ubm1tted 4
‘ pechgree table of his ancestors, going back thirty generatmnb L
~ which perhaps need not be reproduced here, Centuries ago,
according to him, his people were Rajput Princes in the
Marwara country. One of them, by name Bhadan, being

“ childless, was advised by a fakir to take unto himself a wife 4
of another caste. He allied himself with the daughter ofa

carpenter against the consent of her father, who is said to
have ‘cdmplained to “ the Emperor of Dehli.”” This poten-
tate, to avenge the wrongs of the carpenter, led an army
against the Rajput King, who was duly slain; but not
before his Consort had presented him with a son and heir,
whom they called Puran. Puran found himself coldly re-
ceived by his father’s relatives, who refused to regard him as
a proper Rajput; and when the time came for him to marry,
none of the pure blooded would give him a daughter. So
 he was obliged to turn towards the carpenters, as his father
. did before him ; and thus it came about that Bhai Narain .
Singh’s immediate ancestors lost the higher caste status and
became simple village farkhans. The Emperor of Dehli (his
name is not stated) was greatly incensed when he heard the
son of his old enemy Bhadan was grown up : so he despatch-
edan army against him and drove him out of the Marwara

land into the Panjab. Puran settled ina village called Mania

Kal Jharani, near Batinda, and maintained himself by hus-
bandry and carpentry. Sudhu, sixth in descent from him,
settled at Tanglani in Nabha, and married a lady of Sikh
parentage, against her will, evidently, for it is said she left
him on the night of her marriage, and sought comfort and
consolation from a neighbouring Guru, who told her to be
of good cheer as her husband would certainly adopt the Sikh
faith ; and this actually happened. Sudhu tracked her up,
and so overpowered was he by the Guru’s eloquence that
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. He there and then went through the necessary formalities
and became a Sikh. His son Rup Chand, so named by
reason of his extraordinary Dbeauty, was taken as a boy to
Amritsar and there given the pakal. Many tales are s‘till““
told of his devotion to the new faith. On one occasion, when
Guru Hargobind was at their village, Rup Chand and his
father fainted from thirst while ploughing in the field, rather
than put their lips to a vessel of cold water which they desired
to offer to the Guru in the evening as a special delicacy.
So pleased was the Guru with this exhibition of self-denial
that, after bringing them round, he directed them to follow
~him as his disciples. He gave his cloak and sword to Rup
Chand, who carried them on his head, regarding them as
things too sacred and too precious to be worn in the ordinary
fashion. The Guru, pleased at this fresh act of reverence,
settled the father and son in a village, which he re-named
Bhai Rupa, near Sangalani, in Nabha. This was in 1630.
In the following year the Guru Sahib again passed that way,
and was royally entertained, with three thousand of his fol-
lowers, by the devoted Rup Chand, to whom he gave the
title of Bhai, and put him in spiritual charge of the Cis-Satlaj
‘country, promising that his children should one day come to
be venerated as Sodhis. Bhai Rup Chand lived to a great
age, and acquired large influence, doing much for the spread
‘of Sikhism in the neighbouring Jat villages. Amongst those
who listened to his teaching were Tilokha and Rama, sons
of Phul, to whom the present Rulers of Patiala, Jind and

. Nabha owe their origin.

The descendants of Maha Nand, eldest son of Rup Chand,
are still to be found in the villages of Bhai Rupa (Nabha),
Sheraj (Firozpur), Kotha Guru (Patiala), and Bawal Heri
and Lakhneri, in the Ambala district. The children of his
remainihg six sons have also spread themselves about the
Malwa country. From Rup Chand’s seventh son, Dharam
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' Singh, comes Narain Singh, best known of the living Bhais.
‘His son Dayal Singh founded the village of Dayalpur, now
. belonging to the Nabha State, the revenues of which (Rs.
| 4,620) go to the support of the langar at Bagrian. Dharam-
pura, in the Firozpur district, was also founded by Dayal
. Singh, and the proprietary dues are still levied by the family.
. Of Dayal Singh’s sons, Godar Singh is particularly remem-
bered for his piety and holy living. It is related of Gajpat
Singh, first Raja of Jind, that, having no children, he came
to confide his troubles to his friend Godar Singh. After
thinking it over, the Bhai pronounced in the matter as fol-
. lows :— This is indeed a misfortune ; for you of all men
 should have offspring. In my fate it is written that I
shall have children, asit is in your's that you shall have
‘none ; but I will gladly transfer to you this portion of my
good fortune if my wife will give consent.” His wife, the
good Mai Baji, willingly agreed, whereupon Godar Singh
performed certain rites over the Raja, who returned home
with the Bhai’s ‘‘luck,”’ and in due time became the father
of several sons and daughters. One of the latter, Raj Kaur,
~ was eventually the wife of the celebrated Sardar Mahan Singh,
Sukarchakia, and the mother of the still more celebrated
Maharaja Ranjit Singh.* ! ‘
 Later on, in 1754, it fell to Godar Singh’s lot to have to
entertain Dina Beg and Sadik Beg, Governors of the Dehli
Emperor, and so well pleased were they with his hospitality
that they procured for him the jagir rights of the Bagrian vil- |
lage in which Bhai Narain Singh now lives. He soon after
founded the villages of Diwala and Kalahar in ILudhiana,
Gungrali and Vahra, in Faridkot, and Vandran and Talwadi,
in Firozpur.. In 1763 his old friend, Raja Gajpat Singh of
.\ *In connection with Raj Kaur's birth there is a tradition that the Raja, enraged when
the expected child proved to be a daughter, ordered her to be buxied alive, a not uncommon
habit amongst disappointed Jats even in  the present day. And it was only on the faith of

S
Godar Sing%’s assurance that she would certainly be the mother of a great Ruler, that the
Raja was induced to allow her to live. ;




~ pat districts, which he had just overrun ; but he had to su

fjmd presented hlm w1th six vdlatgesm the Karnal and P ni

render them again shortly after, as the Raja was rap1d1y‘ .
. beaten back within the proper limits of his State. Howevel‘
in those daysland had not the value it now has, and to receive

a present of a deserted village, with all the conditions attached
of revenue payments, was often regarded by the donee more
' as a misfortune than a blessing. The next member of the
. family to acquire property was Bhai Mohar Singh, who early
_in the present century was given two villa ges by the Jind
‘Raja, one by Sardar Hari Singh Khana, and one by the Sardar
of Ladhwa. 1In 1807 Maharaja Ranjit Singh honoured hlm ‘

 with a visit at Bagrian, on the occasion of his second 1 mvasmn
 of the Cis-Satlaj districts. Mohar Singh acted up to the
family reputation for hospltdhty, and received the V1Hages of

o - Sadhowala and Sujana in jagir from the Sikh Chiefas a grant-

 in-aid towards the expenses of the langar. The Maharajd also
presented him with five hundred maunds of salt, promising
that this article should be in future supplied to the kitchen,

~ without charge, from the stores of the Royal FPalace. Raja

‘ "JPatah Singh, Ahluwalia, of Kapurthala, who was with Ranjit
- Singh on this expedition, also presented Mohar Singh thh a
village named (xangrah. i |

. Mohar Singh dzed in 1820, leaving the property to his
nephew Bahadar Singh, a minor, whom he adopted. The
family affairs were looked after by his widow Mai Gohran,
. who was fortunately a clever woman ; for the growing power
of the Bhais had begun to excite the envy of Raja Karm Singh
~of Patiala, who, by way of exercising authority as Suzerain,

established a Tahsil and Thanna at Bagrian. For this un-

justifiable trespass he was at once reported by the widow to
Captain Murray, Political Agent, who requested the Raja to
‘withdraw his posts. This order was duly complied with, but
Karm Singh sat uneasy under the rebuke, and soon after he
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found means of setting Bahadar Singh against his mother
from whom he demanded the surrender of his patrimony.
- But the widow appealed, again successfully, to Captain Murray,
" and she was allowed to hold the estates in life-tenure, it being
. considered certain that Bahadar Singh, if his own master,
' would fall an easy prey to his Patiala neighbours. When,
. however, Mai Gohran died in 1838, and the property was
 taken over by Bahadar Singh, it was found he was perfectly
able to look after his own interests, as he fully proved in more
than one victorious tussle with Maharaja Karm Singh. On
one occasion, in 1840, under coverof active loyalty towards
the British Government, the Maharaja sent one of his Colo-
nels, Mansa Singh, to seize all the camels he could find in
Bagrian for use in connection with the Afghan Campaign.
The Colonel had not driven the camels very far before he was-
overtaken by Bahadar Singh, captured, and led back in
triumph to Bagrian. Karm Singh, enraged at this act of
insolent insubordination on the part of one whom he desired
to treat as a vassal, sent a portion of his troops, including
a solitary gun, to effect the Colonel’s release, and level
Bagrian village with the ground. But the ever watchful Chiefs
of Jind and Nabha and Maler Kotla, who had no desire to
see Patiala grow larger on a frivolous pretext, sent * armies
of observation’ to that neighbourhood, and Karm Singh
withdrew his forces, 7enon effecta. Bahadar Singh had next
to assert himself against the Raja of Faridkot, who, in 1840,
seized the village of Talwandi, founded by Bhai Godar Singh,
holding it with his horsemen, and building a mud wall around
$0 as to convert itinto a fort. But this time Bahadar Singh
used the weapons of diplomacy, and complained to Sir George
Clerk, who had just relieved Colonel Wade in charge of the
British relations with the Panjab. The Raja was made to
retire after pulling down the walls he had so hastily put up in
token of possession. ‘
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Bha1 Bahadar Smah was the first of h1s house Wh“
had the honour of receiving a seat in the Governor«General’
Darbar. On his death, in 1847, seven of the j jagir vxllages
‘were resumed, and his son Sapuran Singh was confirmed
_in possession of one-fourth of Mauza Vandu (Firozpur), hali
- of Mahalan Kalahar and Ismailpur, and the whole of Sha- i
_jahanpur, Umarpura, Thriki, Gangrali, Paharwal, Talwandi |
“and Bagrian ; also in two-thirds of Ronta, Diwala and Ki-

. shangarh. During the Mutiny, Sapuran Singh behaved

1oya11y, remaining under the orders of the Deputy Commls«:~7
sioner of Ludhiana with a small body of horse and foot, main-
 tained at his personal cost. For this service a year’s revenue
was remitted to him, and the commutation charge in lieu of
service was reduced to one anna per rupee. In 1860 he was
made an Honorary Magistrate and Civil Judge in the ]haga i
Ilaka. He died two years later, and was succeeded in the
estates by his son Bhai Narain Singh, born in 1848. He
has an income of about Rs. 1,700 per annum. He is inves-
ted with the powers of a Magistrate and Civil Judge in
 Bagrian, His influence extends all over the Malwa country,
‘and most of the Phulkians take the patal at his hands. Sir
Henry Davies, late Lieutenant-Governor of the Panjab, styled
‘him some years back an excellent example to the rising
generation of the Sikh aristocracy; and a Deputy Commis-
sioner, who had ample opportunity of judging, put him
down as one of the most loyal and enlightened AKaises of the
- Ludhiana district. He is a Viceregal Darbari. *

* Bhai Narain Singh died after the above accouut was written,  He has been succeeded
by his adopted son Axjan Singh. ! ‘

B
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. Sardar Jai Slngh was a Dh'trm ]at S1kh of the Mamha
jhvmg near Atari, in the Amritsar district. He Jomed the
thanWala Confederacy, twelve thousand strong, in thei
‘ i:nvasmn of the Cis-Satlaj tracts in 1763, when the battle of
Sarhand was fought, and assisted at the seizure of Ambala,
‘Shahabad, Lidhran, Amloh and Sarai Lashkar Khan. His
o ‘share of the spoil was thirty-four villages around Ltdhran‘ '
and Kharar, roughly estimated to be worth Rs. 60,000 per
annum. Jai Singh with his fellow Sikhs suffered defeat
shortly afterwards at the hands of Ahmad Shah Durani, and l

~ had to abandon his holdings and take refuge in the hilly
country north .of Ambala. The Raja Amar Singh of
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Patiala took the opportunity of annexing the Kharar villages,
and this led to a serious quarrel as soon as Jai Singh found
himself strong enough to return and claim what he con-
 sidered his own. The matter was subsequently compromised
by the rendition by Patiala of four of the villages. Jai Singh
was a man of consequence, and the Raja Jaswant Singh of
Nabha felt honoured by receiving his daughter in marriage.
But, like many others of the minor Sardars, he and his son
Charat Singh, after him, lived in constant fear of being
swallowed up by the powerful Ruler of Patiala. Charat
Singh was glad to accept British protection when it was
offered in 1809. He accompanied General Ochterlony’s -
force into the Simla Hill country in the campaign against the
Nipal General, Amar Singh Thapa, in 1814, and gave good
help in the matter of carriage and supplies. On his death
. his lands were divided into three equal portions, represent-
ing the numbers of his wives—the sons of each wife taking
a third share. This splitting-up of the property had the
effect of weakening the position of the family, and they
were obliged in the same year to place themselves under the
protection of the Nabha Chief, agreeing to supply him with
 fifty horsemen, and to come to him in full strength whenever
he required their services. But they still strove to maintain
their independence in all respects, save the obligation to
assist against a common foe, while the Raja Jaswant Singh
was more than ever anxious to hasten on the day when the
Lidhran family must merge as common vassals with his other
 subjects. A struggle thus went on for some years, the Raja
doing all in his power to bring his weaker neighbours under
subjection ; the brothers steadily resisting the attempts of the
Raja to deprive them of the position their grandfather and
father had won and maintained. The question was taken up in
1827 by Sir Charles Metcalfe, Agent to the Governor-General
in Dehli, on the joint representation of the Lidhran and
Sonti Sardars, and referred by him to Captain Murray,
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‘who considered that although the Chiefs should continue to
furnish contingents for service to the Raja, they must
be protected from his oppression, and their disputes heard
and decided by the British Agent at Ambala. But the
Resident held the Sardars to be dependants of Nabha,
‘and that any interference on the part of the British
Government would injuriously affect the position of the
Raja. The case was again taken up by Sir George Clerk
in 1836, when this view was somewhat modified. The Chiefs
had for some years, it was admitted, rendered suit and ser-
 vice to the Raja, and their obligation to do so had been main-
tained on many occasions by the British Government. The
: Government of India did not, therefore, deem it expedient to
‘declare the Sikhs of Sonti and Lidhran altogether indepen-
dent of Nabha. The complaints which they had made of
harassing and perpetual demands for service were neverthe-
less regarded, and the Raja was directed to dispense
with their services altogether, except on the occasion of the
birth of a son, the marriage of one of his sons or daughters,
the death of the reigning Prince, or in time of actual war.*
This decision satisfied neither party. The ill-feeling continued,
and exists in a measure to this day. In 1851 Government
admitted the claim of the Raja to feudal supremacy, and
withdrew its own criminal jurisdiction : but this was rescind-
ed later on, and in 1860, when a Sanad was granted by
Lord Canning to the Raja Bharpur Singh, the Lidhran Sar-
“dars were excluded in the Schedule from the list of Feuda-
tories and Tributaries of the Nabha State.

The Lidhran Sardars have always loyally assisted the
Government when occasion has required their services. They
supplied horses, grain and carriage to the army of the Satlaj
in 1845, and again in 1848 in connection with the suppression
of Multan rebellion. During the Mutiny the family rallied

® Vide Griffin's Kajas of the Pangab.
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'5"‘mund fhe DCputy Commmsmner of Ludhlana Sardars Budh
| Singh, Kahan Singh, Sahib Singh and Albel Singh took up
 duty as a personal escort to Mr, Ricketts, while Sardars
. Chaman Singh and Ram Smgjh helped to hold Jagraon W1th :

' a body of their own ‘horsemen. o

_ . Sardar Budh Singh died in 1877. His chair in ch,e-‘;"i“?
‘f,regal Darbars, as senior member of the family,
occup1ed by his son Mahtab Singh. The other Darbans‘

. and Sham Singh. The three former are the sons of Sardar |
. ‘Utam Singh, who was present with our army in Kabul 0 ;
' during the first campaign. Sardars Hari Singh and Albety
”“Smgh are the most dlstmgulshed of the brothers. Hari
i Smgh was present as a boy in Major Broadfoot’s camp When .
. the battles of Firozshahr and Mudki were fought. Shortly
 after the Mutiny broke out he acted on orders received from‘ :
Sir John Lawrence and raised and equipped a full troop, which
' became a portion of the 12th Bengal Cavalry. He received
the rank of Rasaldar, and fought well all through the
campaign. He has also done good service in Abyssinia
| dnd Afghanistan, He retired in 1885 on a pensxon of
Rs. 1,080 per annum, after holding a Rasaldar’s commission
o for twenty-three years, during which period he earned
. and maintained the highest regard and respect of every
. officer with whom he served. He enjoys the title of Sardar
. Bahadar. v
Still more distinguished is Sardar Albel Singh. After
| hélpxrxg the Deputy Commissioner at Ludhiana in the earlier
stages of the Mutiny, he elected for active service and joined
Watson’s Horse, now the 13th Bengal Lancers, bringing with
him one hundred sowars and receiving the rank of Rasaldar.
He fought splendidly in many battles beside his gallant
Commander General John Watson, V. C., who in 1876 wrote
to his old comrade as follows:—*If any one should ask

. are Sardars Harnam Singh, Hari Singh, Albel Smghj“‘




. anything concerning you, show him this letter, and he will |
. read that for seventeen years I have known you a valuable ser-

_vant of the State and never ceased to regard you as a personal
. friend, and to esteem you for your many good qualities of
. head and heart.”” Sirdar Albel Singh was entrusted for

“““years with the enlistment and management of the Sikhs of ‘
 his regiment, and his tact and intelligence secured him the
love and esteem of all the men, who regarded him in the light

. ofafather. He possesses handsome testimonials from many

~ distinguished officers who knew him well, including Sir Hugh
. Gough, General R. C. Low, and Colonel Macnaghten,

. He took part in the Afghan War of 1879, and was in Egypt
with the Expedition in 1882. Lord Northbrook conferred

upon him the title of Rai Bahadar in 187 5. He was for a

~ short time an Aide-de-Camp to His Excellency Lord Napier
~ of Magdala, and he was attached as Orderly Officer to his
~ Royal Highness the Prince of Wales in 1876. At the close
of the Egyptian Campaign he visited England and received

- his War Medal from the hand of Her Majesty the Queen-

Empress ; obtaining at the same time the rank of Rasaldar-
Major in his old regiment. He is now a pensioner, receiv-
ing Rs. 1,560 per annum. He has been given three thou-

- sand acres of land in the Shahpur district, which he is rapidly “

bringing under cultivation. The assessment, Rs. 562, has
been remitted in acknowledgment of his gallant services.

Sardar Singh’s son Chatar Singh is a Rasaldar in his
father’s regiment. Many of his relatives have taken military
service.

The Lidhran family cannot be said to be in flourishing
circumstances in the present day, and were it not for remit-
 tances of savings made by those who are in military
employment, many of its members would be in a state of
comparative poverty. The jagir comprises the revenues of
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| SARDAR GANDA SINGH OF DHIRU MAZRA.

Rar f?mcrr.
Chet Singh,
 Utam 'Singh.

l [ |
Daya Singh, Sher Singh. Le¢hna Singh.

‘ | |
GANDA SINGH, Bishan Singh. . Fatah Singh.

The Jhabu and Dhiru Mazra jagirdars of the Samrala

Tahsil, Ludhiana, are now only of small importance. Mr.

Gordon Walker, Settlement Officer, says of them :—* There is
little to distinguish these men from the Jats around them,

. except their extravagance; and not one of them is in service.”’
~ The founder, Rai Singh, a Kang Jat from Amritsar, entered
~ the Malwa country about 1763, and secured sixteen villages
to the south-west of Khana. After a long struggle for
\independent existence, the holders found themselves swal-
' lowed up by the Raja of Patiala, who annexed the villages to

his own State. An appeal made to Mr. Fraser, Resident at
Dehli, resulted in the restoration of eight of them to the
Mazra Sardars, who thenceforward came under British pro-
tection, furnishing three sowars for duty at the Samrala
Tahsil in token of feudal service. Sardar Utam Singh about
this time took up his abode at Dhiru Mazra, dividing off the

villages with his nephew Gurbakhsh Singh, who thencefor-

ward became the head of the Jhabu Mazra branch. The

family was of assistance to Government during the Sikh War,

furnishing supplies and helping with carriage.

Sardar (Ganga Singh is a Zaildar, a member of the Dis-

‘trict Board, and a Viceregal Darbari. He has lately received

the acknowledgments of Government for having built a school
in his village. His jagir share yields Rs. 1,903 per annum. '
He is owner of eleven hundred bigas of land in the Samrala
Tahsil, and of forty-five bigas in Mauza Ghamapur, Amritsar,
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FAIZ TALAB KHAN OF RAIKOT.

RAl IMAM Barusy KHAN,

d, 1886,
|
| | ; I
Farz TavLar KHAN, Amir Khan, Fatah Khan,
b, 1848, {16y 1854 b. 1857,
|
Xnayat Khan, Bahawal Khan,

& ;877. ! by 1882, ;
The late Rai Imam Bakhsh Khan was the nephew of

Rani Bhag Bhari, who nominated him as her successor.

The last of the male issue was Rai Alyas, who died in 1802.

He was succeeded by his mother the Rani Nur-ul-Nisan,

~after whom followed the Rani Bhag Bhari. The family is

of Hindu Rajput origin, tracing itself back to the Chandar
Bansi dynasty. The present representative is Faiz Talab
Khan, a Viceregal Darbari, living at Raikot, in the Ludhiana
district.

Mention is frequently made of the Chiefs of Raikot in
Griffin’'s Rayas of the FPanjab. Their ancestor Tulsi Ram,
a Hindu Rajput, left Jasalmir early in the fourteenth century
and settled at Chakar, in the Jagraon district, adopting the
Mahomedan faith. He took the name of Shekh Chaku. His
grandson, Rai Chaku, occupied a high post under Sultan
Alaudin Ghori, who made over to him the revenues of
thirteen hundred villages south of the Satlaj, subject to an
annual payment of five lakhs of rupees. The family con-
tinued to prosper, and for many generations ruled the country
between Ludhiana and Ambala. One of them, Rai Ahmad,
founded the existing town of Raikot in 1648. Jagraon was
built by his nephew Rai Kamaludin, whose son Rai Kulha
was the first of the family called upon to protect the patrimony
from the incursions of the Manjha Sikhs.  This he effectively
did with the aid of Shah Ali Khan, Nazim of Sarhand. But
they took advantage of his death and of the minority of his
successor, Rai Alyas, to try their fortunes once more in the
Malwa country. The celebrated Bedi Sahib Singh of Una,
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‘who four yeérs ‘ea;‘lier had devastated Maler Kotla with sword |
‘and fire, swept down upon Raikot in 1798 at the head of

 numerous rabble, announcing his determination to exterminate

~ the kine-killing race whose presence polluted the land:
Jagraon, Raikot and Ludhiana were speedily overrun, and a
fierce battle was fought at Jodh, where the Raikotia made a

~ gallant stand under Roshan Khan ; but their leader was killed
towards the end of the day, and victory remained with the
Sikhs. The Bedi was, however, obliged ultimately to retire
upon Ludhiana, pressure having been put upon him by the
Phulkian Chiefs whose aid the Raikotias had sought. The
Sikhs of Ludhiana opened the gates of the city to the Bedi,

 but the fort held out, defended by Hasan Khan. Itwas re-
gularly invested, and would no doubt have fallen had not Rai
Alyas in his last extremity sent for the celebrated George

- Thomas of Hissar, who was only too happy to fight when loot
was to be the reward. George Thomas was not, however,
destined ' to draw his sword on this occasion, for the Bedi
hastily raised the siege on hearin g of his approach, and betook
himself to his home beyond the Satlaj.

But Raikot only escaped the ravages of the Bedi to be
ruined by a more terrible foe. The Phulkian Chiefs were at
this period fighting amongst themselves. The weak-mind-
ed Raja Sahib Singh of Patiala was completely in the hands
of his violent-tempered, semi-masculine wife, the Rani Aus
Kaur. This lady had involved her husband in a quarrel with
the Rajas of Nabha and Jind, in which much blood was shed
on both sides. Ultimately, the Jind Raja Bhag Singh,
whose sister, Bibi Raj Kaur, was the mother of Maharaja
Ranjit Singh, applied to his nephew for aid against the Rani
Aus Kaur. This was most readily granted by the Maharaja,
who was only too pleased to have an opportunity of interfer-
ing in Cis-Satlaj politics. He did little to restore friendship
between the contending parties, but he took the opportunity
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L ‘of breakmg up the Raipur Chlefsh1p on the plea of avenglng' i

. Bedi Sahib Singh’s defeat, prompted, probably, by the feel-

ing of fanatical hatred borne towards Mahomedans general-

_ly by the majority of his followers. * The Chief representa-

tives (at Raikot) were at the time,”” writes Griffin, “two | i

‘women, Nur-ul-Nisa, widow of Rai Alyas Khan, and Lachmi;
but Ranjit Singh had no generosity, and preferred despoil-

ing a widow to attacking a Chief who was better able W

resist. From the plunder of this family, Raja Bhag Singh
received the districts of Ludhiana, Jhandala, Kot, Jagraon
~ and Basia, including fifty-four villages, of an annual rent
of Rs. 23,260 ; Sirdar Gurdit Singh of Ladwa, the districts
of Badowal, with portions of Jagraon, thirty-two villages
worth Rs. 23,540; Raja Jaswant Singh of Nabha, portions

| of Kot Basia, Talwandi and Jagraon, thirty-one villages

worth Rs. 26,560; Sirdar Fatah Singh, Ahluwalia, portions
. of Dhaka Kot, Basia, Jagraon and Talwandi, one hundred
and six villages worth Rs. 40,505; Diwan Mohkam Chand,
portions of Ghila, Kot, Jagraon and Talwandi, seventy-one
villages worth Rs. 33,045; Sardar Basawa Singh, ten vil-
lages, in Kot and Jagraon, worth Rs. 5,714; and Sardar
Bhanga Singh, one village in Talwandi, worth Rs. 400.”

The Rani Nur-ul-Nisan thus found herself left with
only Raikot and portions of Malha, Jhajewal, Hiran and Tal-
wandi out of all the fertile country bequeathed her by Rai
Alyas Khan. Nur-ul-Nisan was succeeded by Alyas Khan's
widow, the Rani Bhag Bhari. She represented the interests
of the family when the British forces fought the campaign
on the Satlaj, and helped them to the best of her power with
carriage and supplies. On her death in 1854 the property
passed to her nephew and adopted son Rai Imam Baksh
Khan. In lieu of jagir rights he was awarded a pens1on of
Rs. 2,400, with a mafi grant of one hundred acres in Raikot.
He behaved loyally in the Mutiny. His three sons are in
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SARDAR HARNAM SINGH OF BHERL

e

Rai SNGH,
d. 1810, ;
Ratan 'Smgh
d. 1846,
I |
|
Sarmakh Singh, Gurmakh Singh.
d. 1861, R
|
| i Lal Singh,
Bishan Singh, Bhagwant Singh. d. 1887,
d. 1877, A
I i |
Harnam Singh, : : Harnam glNGH; Naurang Singh,
b. 1844, | b, 1856, b. 1842,

| i

v il | L
 Jagdish Singh, ~ Bakhshish Singh, Fardeo Singh,  Baldeo Gursaran = Gurdayal
. 1880, 4, 1883, . 1880, Singh, &mgb Smgg:
&, 1883, 1883, 5. 1885,

The Kotla Badla family, Tahsil Samrala, Ludhiana, is
another of the many petty Chiefships, owing their origin and
prosperity to the adventurous spirit of a Manjha ancestor who,
when the Mahomedan power was weak, crossed the Satlaj
and helped himself to as much as he was able to hold of the
good lands in the Malwa. It is scarcely necessary to give
an account of the fights which resulted in acquisitions, or of
the struggles that were of every-day occurrence for their
retention. Many of the stories now submitted for the manu-
facture of history are manifestly exaggerated, and few of
them are of interest to any one outside the family circle.

Rai Singh’s father Mahtab Singh was taken and killed
for the murder of Masa Khan, Mahomedan Governor of Am-
ritsar, in the time of Nadar Shah, about the middle of the
last century. Rai Singh, then an infant, was saved from his
father’s fate by a sweeper who sheltered him while the search
was being prosecuted, and ultimately left him in a jungle.
Here he was found by a Kambo woman, and taken to her
husband’s home. But he never lost his identity, and when
he grew up, Sardar Sham Singh, founder of the Karora
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‘Smghw, Confederacy, gave h1m his daughter in marriage.
He accompanied his father-in-law on most of his plundering
“_exp‘editions,.feceiving his reward in villages, many of which
are still held by the family. At Miran Kot he built a mud
fort, and here he lived until his death in 1809. ' Of his four
sons, the descendants of Gurbakhsh Singh and Kanwar Singh
now reside at Kotla Badla, Ludhiana, while Ratan Singh’s
children have their head-quarters at Bheri, in the Samrala
Tahsil. Ratan Singh was a man of culture. He was a good
Persian scholar, and at the request of Captain Murray, Agent
to the Governor-General, wrote a history called the ZPanth
Larkash, of the various families then celebrated in the Pan-
jab. He, moreover, rendered assistance in carriage and sup-
plies during the Afghan War, and again when the troops
were assembling for the campaign on the Satlaj; his son,
Gurmakh Singh, accompanying the army with four armed re-
tainers. For these services, and others rendered in 1857,
half the commutation payments were remitted by Govern-
~ment. Gurmakh Singh’s best act, perhaps, was to found a
school in his village, for which he duly received a khilat
and Sanad.

The present Sardar, Harnam Singh, is the son of Bishan
Singh. The whole family jagir is worth Rs. #,611 per
annum, and of this Harnam Singh’s share amounts to
Rs. 1,600. He owns a village in Nabha and collects his
dues in kind. He is on the list of Viceregal Darbaris.
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MAULVI bAYAD SHARIF HASAIN OF JAGRAON‘ ‘.

SULTAN IMAHOMED
Sayad Ali Bakhsh,
Maulvi Sayad Rajab Ali,
o, 1869,

| ‘ |
Suarir Hasain, Sharif Hasain,

40 1831, b, 1838,
| | : | I
: | LG AR
Ah Akbar, Abas IIaS'un, Mahomed = Mustafa Hasain, Murtza ’Hasaiu,
b 1874, 0. 1868 Molisan, b, 1869, b, 1878.
b, 1884+
i [
Ahqu Sharif Ali,
b, 1884, " . 1886,

Sayad Sharif Hasain is the son of Maulvi Rajab All,"

one of the most worthy of the many excellent men who
served Government in the days of the Board of Administra-
tion at Lahore. The family is beyond doubt an old one, and

of the highest respectability. Their ancestry dates back to |
Sayad Mahmud, a celebrated theologian, who, in 1502, left |
his home in Multan, and attached himself to Sakandar Lodi 4
of Dehli. Fifty years later, in Akbar’s time, the Sayad was
given a jagir of five hundred bigas near Batala, in the
Gurdaspur district. The Emperor Jahangir increased the
holding, and the family resided at Panjgrain, near Batala,
for several generations. During the reign of Mahomed Shah,
 Sayad Mahomed Jafar was granted sstamrari rights in
twelve villages in the Ludhiana district, one of which,
Talwandi, is still held by the family. They continued to
flourish until the beginning of the present century, when

 Diwan Mul Chand, representative at Jalandhar of Maharaja

Ranjit Singh, .aGlZ(id the jagir and reduced its holders to
poverty. v

To Maulvi Rajab Ali was given the privilege of res-
toring the fortunes of the family, We find him, in 1826, at
the age of eighteen years, obtaining the Persian Essay Prize
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_ at the Dehh College, then the best educatlonal institution in
. Upper India. He was not long in obtaining a small post:
_ in the office of the Political Agent at Ambala. He soon
~ became Head Reader, and was sent forward in this capacity

to Ludhiana, under Mr. Robinson, in 1839. Later on he
. accompanied the Lawrences to Lahore, and rapidly gained
the confidence of the Panjab Chiefs and gentlemen with
. whom his work brought him in contact. The late Sir Herbert:
Edwardes held him in the highest esteem. In 1848 he re~
corded of him as follows :—*“I believe his judgment on
 questions of policy to be valuable, and that he has always
proved to Sir Henry Lawrence a trustworthy depository of the
- most secret information. Ihope also to be able to testify that
the Maulvi, though a Sa/ib-i-kalam, is by no means afraid of
the gleam of a shamsher. He behaved with very great
_ coolness and bravery in the Cow Riot in Lahore in 1846.%
 This opinion was endorsed by Messts. F. Currie, George
Clerk, Melvill, Barnes, Montgomeryand Temple, all of whom'
knew him well, and had ample opportunities of studymg‘
Rajab Ali’s character. Sir Henry Lawrence, in recommend-'
 ing him in 1853 as having earned the continuance in per-.
petuity of his ancestral jagir holding in mauza Aligarh,
wrote :—* During the Lahore troubles I hardly know what
we should have done without Rajab Ali ; and he has ever
_ since been of the greatest use to me in all pohtlcal arrange~
ments and negotiations.”’

The reward which Sir Henry Lawrence strove to obtain
for him in 1853 was finally conferred by Lord Lawrence,
Viceroy, in 1868. He received jagir assignments valued at
Rs. 2,696 per annum in Aligarh and both Talwandis, Tahsil
Jagraon, Ludhiana, ‘‘in consideration of most valuable
services rendered to the State, at the time of the negotiations
with the Ruler of the Panjab to obtain permission for the
Rritish Borces to cross the Sikh Frontler and proceed to
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‘ ::Afghanmtan in the campaigns which led to the annexatlon ;
. of the Panjab, and during the Siege of Dehli in 1857.”7
. During the Mutiny the Maulvi’s services were placed at
~ the disposal of the Quartermaster-General before Dehli for
the purpose of assisting Hodson in organizing and working
‘the Intelligence Department, and he was thoroughly success-
ful in the discharge of these important duties. He received
cash rewards of Rs. 10,000 in recognition of his services
| during the Siege. ‘
; The Maulvi was given the title of Khan Bahadar in
1846 ; that of Arastu Fah (the Aristotle of the age) in 1858,

| He died in 1869, beloved and regretted by all who ha
] known him.

Half the j jagir of Rs. 2,696 has been continued to Rajab
Ali’s two sons. The elder, Maulvi Sayad Sharif Hasain,
at the head of the family, is a Viceregal Darbari, a Zaildar,
and a Member of the Municipal Committee of Jagraon,
. where he resides. He shares with his brother the income of
about eleven hundred bigas of land in the Jagraon Tabhsil,
_ yielding Rs. 2,500 per annum. The brothers used to re-
‘ceive each an allowance of Rs. 100 per mensem from the
Maharaja of Patiala in consideration -of his friendship for
their father. But this bounty has recently been stopped.
Sharif Hasain was, during his father’s lifetime, for a few
years in the service of Government as Nazir at Lahore, and
as Naib-Mir Munshi in the Rajputana Agency.
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. NAWAB NAZAMUDIN KHAN OF MAMDOT.*

- T o A

SULTAN KHAN.
|

! ]
Manjudin Khan, Mahomed Khan.
; |
‘ ] o
Nazamudin Khan. Kutbudin Khan.
* b T i
Fatahdin Khan, Kali Khan, Jamaludin Khan, Jalaludin Khan,
i d. 1863, d. 1873,
]
NAZAMUDIN KHAN,
T 4 1800,
| A ‘
Khan Bahadar Khan, Mahomed Khan,
6. 1l838. 4. 1872,
A : | il
Shah Nawaz Khan, Akbar Khan, Fatahdin Khan,
b, 1883, 0. 1886, b, 188,

- The ancient city of Kasur, situated some twenty miles
to the south of Lahore, was, in 1570, by permission of the Em-
peror Akbar, settled by a colony of Pathans, numbering about
three thousand five hundred souls. Among these came from
Kandahar the ancestorsof the Mamdot Chiefs of the Hasanzai
tribe, and till the fall of the Mogal Empire, they lived at Kasur,
sometimes traders, sometimes soldiers, as suited their inclina-
tion or their means. When the Sikhs rose to power, they ex«
perienced great opposition from the Pathan colony ; but in the
end the Bhangi Confederacy overran and subdued the whole
of the Kasur territory, under Sardar Gulab Singh; and
the two brothers, Nazamudin Khan and Kutbudin Khan,
entered the service of the Conqueror. These young men,

* From Griffin’s Pawjab Chiefs,
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however, were energetic and brave, and in 1794, with théj o
_ aid of their Afghan countrymen, expelled the Sikhs entirely
from Kasur,-and established a Chiefship of their own. They
were not left unmolested. Sardar Gulab Singh made frequent |
attempts to recover his lost territory, and later, the young Ran-
jit Singh attacked the brothers several times without success:

Nazamudin Khan joined vigorously in the cabal agamot
*Ranjit Singh in 1800, when that Chief obtained possession
of Lahore, and the next year Kasur was more vigorously
attacked, but Nazamudin held out, though he agreed to pay
tribute to Ranjit Singh. In 1802, Nazamudin Khan was
assassinated by his three brothers-in-law Wasil Khan, Haji
Khan and Najib Khan, whom he had ousted from their jagirs.
Kutbudin Khan has generally been accused of having been
privy to the murder ; but he appears to have been absent from
Kasur at the time, and on his return he stormed and took
the fort of Azam Khan, whither the murderers had retired,
and put Wasil Khan and Najib Khan to death Ha_]l Khan
escaping to the Deccan,
~ Ranjit Singh at the close of the year again mvaded
Kasur, but was not able to make much impression, and till
1807, Kutbudin held his own, when the Maharaja again ap-
peared with a strong army, and after a month’s fighting,
Kutbudin gave in, and agreed to retire to his territory of
‘Mamdot, on the other side of the Satlaj, holding it in jagir,
subject to the service of one hundred horsemen. Kutbudin and
his brother had conquered Mamdot from the Rai of Raikot, in
the year 1800, with the assistance of the Dogars, a turbulent
Mahomedan tribe inhabiting the district. Ranjit Singh gave
to Fatahdin Khan a jagir at Marup, in the Gugaira district,
subject to the supply of the same number of horsemen as
Mamdot. But Fatahdin Khan was not satisfied, and was
always appealing to the Maharaja for the grant of Mamdot,
which he considered his right.
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At last, with the connivance of the Maharaja, in 183 il
. he crossed the river when his uncle’s contingent was absent on
 service, and attacked him, The Dogars, ready for any change,
joined him, and Kutbudin was defeated, severely wounded
~and driven out of the country, and he died soon after at Am-
ritsar. Ranjit Singh now thought fit to interfere on the other
side. He recalled Fatahdin, and confirmed Jamaludin Khan
in his father's possessions. Once again Fatahdin tried his
fortune, but the British Agent interfered, and the Maharaja
ordered him back to Lahore. ~

The Mamdot Chiefs were at no time invested with
sovereign power, but were merely jagirdars ; feudatories of the
Lahore Government. Lahore was the high court of appeal ;
and there are many instances on record of fines imposed
upon these Chiefs, In 1824, Kutbudin Khan was fined
Rs. 12,567 for conniving at, and sharing in, the plunder
of cattle from the Lahore territories, In 1844 Jamaludin
Khan was fined Rs. 11,100 for the murder of Suba Rai,
the Lahore news-writer at his court, who had rendered
himself obnoxious to the Chief by giving mformatnon of the
disorders committed in the district,

In 1845, before the Satlaj Campaign, Jamaludin Khan
was told that if he stood on our side his possessions would be
confirmed to him ; yet at Mudki and Firozshahr he fought
against us, and in the latter battle his cousin Fatahdin
Khan was killed. Only towards the end of the campaign,
when he perceived where the victory would eventually be, did
he turn round and render some trifling assistance to Sir John
Littler, when that General was threatened by the Sikh army
at Firozpur, which induced the Government to grant him
Sovercngn powers and to confirm him in his possessions. In

1848 his contingent, under his brother Jalaludin, behaved
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well at Multan, and Jamaludin was granted the title of Nawab
and the contingent of one hundred horsemen was reduced to
smty in time of peace and seventy in war, ]

Jamaludin Khan was an example of the danger of entrust-
ing irresponsible power to a wicked and sensual man. Durmg
the Sikh times his tyranny had been notorious, but, under the
British Rule, his power was increased, and his tyranny grew
in the same proportion.  His revenue system was but robbery,
extortion and violence. The Dogars were the especial objects
of his hatred, for by their aid his father had been driven from
 the country; but all classes, Hindus and Mahomedans, felt his
. heavy hand. Robbery flourished under his protection, and even

the property of British subjects was not secure from his gangs
of thieves, who shared the booty with their master. At
length all men of consideration or wealth left Mamdot. It
had once been fertile and populous, with many wells and
irrigation canals, but these were all falling to ruin; the
‘towns were deserted, and the corn-fields were again becommg
jungle.

Retribution at length came. The British Government
bad, with its known policy, long refused to interfere with
the internal arrangement of this State; but affairs at
‘length came to such a pass, and the voice of the people was
so unanimous against their oppressor, that an investigation
was, in 1855, made into the charges against the Nawab, and
_on their truth being established, he was deprived of his powers,
and his territory was annexed to the Firozpur district, The
Nawab was pensioned, and, till 1861, resided at Lahore. He
then settled at Machiwara, in the Firozpur district, where
he died, in March 1863, of apoplexy.

Then came the question of succession as between the
sons of Jamaludin Khan and his brother Jalaludin. The latter



